# THE ROLE OF PHYSIOLOGICAL ELEVATIONS OF GLUCAGON-LIKE PEPTIDE-ONE IN GLUCOSE REGULATION IN THE DOG IN VIVO

By

Kathryn Mercedes Stettler Johnson

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Molecular Physiology and Biophysics

May, 2008

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Professor David H. Wasserman

Assistant Professor Kevin D. Niswender

Assistant Professor Masakazu Shiota

Assistant Professor Alyssa H. Hasty

Research Associate Professor Mary C. Moore

To my family, Mom, Dad, Koller, & Marie For guiding me to be who I am today, And for my husband, Matthew, For being my partner along the journey.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Alan D. Cherrington. Along with being a brilliant scientist, he is also a wonderful human being. Always supportive of me during my scientific quest, I know that Alan also cares for me as a person. He has pushed me to become the thinker and scientist I am today. I know that the skills I have gained while in his laboratory will prepare me for life well beyond graduate school. For all of his loyalty and dedication, I thank him.

Next, I would like to thank my committee, Drs. David Wasserman, Kevin Niswender, Alyssa Hasty, Masa Shiota, and Genie Moore, for providing a positive and challenging environment for me to grow as a scientist. I would not have wanted it any other way. Thank you for having your doors open to share my joys and listen to my concerns.

I would like to give my deepest heart felt thanks again to Genie and to Dr. Dale Edgerton, both of whom have been extremely supportive. They give so much to the lab, and they have been an intricate part of my development as scientist and as a person. Thank you for being there during the smiles and the tears.

During my time in the Cherrington Lab, I have had the pleasure to be surrounded by many good hearted people that have made my life not only easier, but a lot of fun. Tiffany Rodewald has always been there for me, whether it was help in a study or listening to my rants. Noelia Rivera has put up with me during our time sharing desk space. Ben Farmer, Doss Neal, Marta Smith, Maggie Lautz, Melanie Scott, and Jon Hastings have always been ready to pitch-in. Dom Dardevet, Catherine DiCostanzo,

iii

Carrie Everett-Grueter, Chris Ramnanan, Jason Winnick, Zhibo An, and Katie Colbert have been great for talking both science and life. Patsy Raymer and Angie Pernell are fantastic women, who are always ready to help. Wanda Snead, Susan Hajizadeh, and Pat Donahue, in the Hormone Assay Core have been extremely helpful.

Many friends and family have been vital to the success of my time at Vanderbilt University. I would like to thank my parents, Dale and Gayle, my brother, Koller, and my sister, Marie, whom have all supported me while I pursue this opportunity. My grandparents have also been extremely supportive of my education. (Grandpa-I kept my promise!)

Last, but most importantly, I want to deeply thank my husband, Matthew. He stands by my side when things are great and when I go crazy. He is a wonderful source of inspiration and love. This would have been impossible without him. I thank God everyday for bringing him into my life.

Financial support for this work was provided by the Vanderbilt University Molecular Endocrinology Training Program and a National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) Grant, R01-DK43706.

iv

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONii			
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iii			
LIST OF TABLES			
LIST OF FIGURES ix			
Chapter			
I. INTRODUCTION1			
The Incretin Concept			
The Entere Incular Axia			
Defining Incretin Hormones			
Glucose Dependent Insulinotronic Pentide 7			
Prenroglucagon 8			
Glucagon-Like Pentide-1			
GIP-1 Secretion 11			
Degradation of Incretin Hormones			
Incretin Hormones in Type 2 Diabetes			
GLP-1 Receptor			
GLP-1R Characteristics			
GLP-1 Signal Transduction			
Elimination or Blocking the GLP-1R			
GLP-1R and Diabetes			
Effects of GLP-125			
Insulin Secretion			
β-cell mass			
GLP-1 Regulation of the $\alpha$ -cell			
GLP-1 Regulation at the Liver			
Direct Effects of GLP-1 on Adipose and Skeletal Muscle			
Cardiovascular Regulation			
Gastric Emptying and Gut Motility			
Chronic Effects on Weight Loss			
Glucose Utilization Mediated by Intraportal Sensors			
Specific Aims41			

II.	MATERIALS AND METHODS		
	Animal Care and Surgical Procedures	45	
	Experimental Design	50	
	Specific Aim I	50	
	Specific Aim II	51	
	Specific Aim III	52	
	Specific Aim IV	53	
	Collection and Processing of Samples	53	
	Sample Analysis	55	
	Plasma Glucose	55	
	Plasma [3- <sup>3</sup> H] glucose	56	
	Metabolites		
	Alanine	59	
	β-hydroxybutyrate		
	Glycerol		
	Lactate	60	
	Plasma Free Fatty Acids	60	
	Plasma Hormones	61	
	Insulin	62	
	Glucagon	63	
	C-peptide	64	
	Glucagon-Like Peptide-1	65	
	Acetaminophen	66	
	Blood Flow	67	
	Calculations	70	
	Glucose Infusion Rate	70	
	Net Substrate Balance	71	
	Net Substrate Clearance	73	
	Net Hepatic Substrate Fractional Extraction	73	
	Hepatic Sinusoidal Substrate Level	73	
	Glucose Turnover	74	
	Nonhepatic Glucose Uptake	77	
	Ratio Calculations	78	
	Statistical Analysis	79	
III.	SPECIFIC AIM I: INTRAPORTAL GLP-1 INFUSION INCREASES NONHEPATIC GLUCOSE UTILZATION WITHOUT CHANGING PANCREATIC HORMONE LEVELS	80	
	Specific Aim LIntroduction	80	
	Reculte	0U Q1	
	Discussion	01	
	D15Cu551011		

IV.	SPECIFIC AIM II: INTRAPORTALLY DELIVERED GLUCOSE IS
	REQUIRED FOR INTRAPORTAL GLP-1 TO INCREASE NONHEPATIC
	GLUCOSE UTLIZATION
	Specific Aim II-Introduction 98
	Results 00
	Discussion 108
	Discussion
V.	SPECIFIC AIM III: DURATION OF FAST INFLUCENCES THE ACTIONS
	OF INTRAPORTALLY DELIVERED GLP-1112
	Specific Aim III-Introduction112
	Results113
	Discussion119
VI	SPECIFIC AIM IV: THE ROLE OF ENDONENOUSLY RELEASED GLP-1 IN
v 1.	GLUCOSE REGULATION IN NORMAL AND INSULIN RESISTANT DOGS
	125
	Specific Aim IV-Introduction
	Results127
	Discussion143
VII.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUTIONS
REFE	ISTERICES

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	Positive identification of GLP-1R locations	20
5.1	Glucose utilization parameters in 18 and 42 h fasted dogs	120
6.1	Hormone and FFA levels in normal and insulin resistant dogs	128
6.2	Blood flow in normal dogs	131

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.1	The enter-insular axis. Signals to the pancreas in response to nutrient load in the gut
1.2	<b>Posttranslational modification of proglucagon.</b> Proprotein convertase (PC) 2 is produced in the pancreas, with glucagon resulting as the active petide. In the gut and brain, PC1/3 activity results in GLP-1 and GLP-1 as the major active fragments. GRPP: Glicentin related pancreatic polypeptide; IP; intervening peptide
1.3	The incretin effect in normal weight and obese humans with or without diabetes. Despite greater plasma glucose levels in response to an oral glucose load (not shown), insulin secretion in response was dramatically decreased in those with diabetes, as shown here with total AUC of insulin peripheral insulin profile. When glucose was infused to match the respective peripheral glucose profile of the oral glucose load, insulin secretion was decreased in all groups16
1.4	The effects of GLP-1 on glucose homeostasis. Solid arrows represent known direct effects and solid neurons represent known neural signaling. Dashed lines represent possible indirect effects resulting from neural signaling
3.1	A: Plasma glucose levels in 42-h fasted conscious dogs were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly ( $p < 0.05$ ) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences among groups in either the basal or experimental period. Data are expressed as mean ± SE for each time point. <i>B</i> : Femoral artery, portal vein, and hepatic vein plasma GLP-1 levels during the basal period (left) and experimental period (right). Data are expressed as mean ± SE. * = $p < 0.05$ versus CON. # = $p < 0.05$ versus POR
3.2	Total glucose infusion rate (GIR) during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). POR required significantly greater GIR than either CON or HAT. Data are expressed as mean $\pm$ SE for each time point. * = p < 0.05 versus CON. + = p < 0.05 versus HAT84
3.3	A: Arterial plasma insulin levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). There was a significant increase in insulin levels in each group during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values ( $p < 0.05$ ); <i>inset</i> : AUC for experimental period. There were no differences among groups upon analysis of the time-course or experimental period AUC. Data are expressed as mean ± SE. <i>B</i> : Arterial plasma glucagon levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into

- 4.1 **Plasma glucose levels in 42-h fasted conscious dogs.** *A*: Arterial and portal plasma glucose levels for dogs that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences among groups in either the basal or experimental period. *B*: Arterial and portal plasma glucose levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose

infusion, in addition to intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences among groups in either the basal or experimental period. Data are expressed as mean ± SE......101

- 4.4 **Plasma insulin levels.** *A*: Arterial and portal plasma insulin levels for animals that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. *B*: Arterial and portal plasma insulin levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal glucose for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in 104
- 4.6 **Glucose production and utilization.** *A*: Net hepatic glucose balance (NHGB) during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and experimental period (0 to 240 min) in animals that received intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either

- 5.2 Total glucose infusion rate (GIR) during the infusion of intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) into the hepatic portal vein (0 to 240 min)......115
- 5.4 **Glucose production and utilization.** *A*: NHGB in animals that received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Rates in each group were significantly decreased (p < 0.05) during the experimental period when compared to their respective basal period values. There was no significant difference between groups. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. *B*: Non-HGU during the infusion of intraportal saline or GLP-1 during the experimental period (30 to 240 min).....118
- 6.1 **Plasma acetaminophen levels and**  $\Delta$  **AUC.** *A*: Arterial plasma acetaminophen levels for normal dogs after meal and  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min (inset). Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *B*: Deep venous plasma

- 6.2 Net gut and splanchnic glucose balance during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). A: Net gut glucose balance in normal dogs. B: Net splanchnic glucose balance in normal dogs. Data are mean ± SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion.</li>

- 6.5 Hepatic glucose uptake in normal dogs during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). A: Hepatic glucose load. B: Net hepatic glucose balance. C: Hepatic fractional extraction. D: Ratio of hepatic fractional extraction to sinusoidal insulin.

## **CHAPTER I**

## **INTRODUCTION**

More than 100 years ago, it was suggested that pancreatic secretion is influenced by "a hormone or secretin yielded by the duodenal mucous membrane" (1). Minkowski and Mering had already shown, in 1890, that internal pancreas secretion is essential for normal carbohydrate homeostasis (1). Not only was it proposed that gut hormones played a role in regulating normal glucose homeostasis, but it was suggested that diabetes may be induced by the "functional disturbance occasioned by the absence of such an intestinal excitant" (1). In 1906, Moore, et al., attempted to determine the role of gut factors in regulating internal pancreatic secretion and glucose homeostasis (1). This included the treatment of diabetic patients with duodenal mucous extracts orally, with mixed results (1). Although it is now understood that oral administration would result in digestion of these factors, those early experiments set the stage for further investigation of the role of the gut in glucose homeostasis.

The goal of this thesis is to further explore the role of a specific gut factor, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) in glucose homeostasis. This will be done by evaluation of glucose metabolism during either acute physiological elevations of GLP-1 or inhibition of its action in the conscious dog *in vivo*. Direct and indirect modes of GLP-1 action on liver, muscle, and fat will be considered and discussed.

## **The Incretin Concept**

When healthy individuals receive an oral glucose load, glucose is absorbed from the gut, and circulating glucose levels increase. This increase is sensed by the  $\beta$ -cell of the endocrine pancreas, which initiates an increase in insulin secretion. This increase in insulin secretion results in arterial plasma levels of the hormone that are approximately twice those achieved after an intravenous glucose infusion given at a rate chosen to match glucose levels seen postprandially (2). This augmentation of insulin release is known as the "incretin effect".

## Gut Hormones Influence the Endocrine and Exocrine Pancreas

In 1901, work done by Pawlow showed that there is an increase in pancreatic secretion (later to be classified as endocrine secretion) when chyme is released into the duodenum (3). To determine the physiological mechanisms important for this response, Bayliss and Starling, conducted "the crucial experiment" which found that introduction of acid into a denervated jejunum of an anaesthetized dog, increased pancreatic (endocrine) secretion (3). The idea that messages could be sent throughout the body by means other than nerves was a turning point in physiology, leading to the introduction of the concept of a "hormone" (4).

The influence of gut hormones on pancreatic secretion to specifically regulate glucose homeostasis was supported by more conclusive evidence provided several decades later in 1929, by Zunz and La Barre (4). They conducted experiments in which the pancreatic vein of a dog was drained into the jugular vein of a second dog (4). While injection of gut extracts into the former dog only slightly lowered its blood glucose, the

latter dog experienced a significant decrease in blood glucose (4). Zunz and La Barre concluded from their experiments that gut extracts lowered blood glucose levels by stimulating the endocrine pancreas to secrete insulin (4). This provided critical evidence supporting a role for gut hormones in regulating endocrine secretion of the pancreas.

This experiment was followed by further work by La Barre and Still in 1929, which indicated that the crude gut extracts could be purified into two separate components (5). The first factor, which, when injected, induced pancreatic secretion without changing glycemia (5) became known as "excretin", because infusion resulted in "external" pancreatic secretion into the pancreatic duct (6), and what is now known as the exocrine pancreas. The other factor decreased blood sugar (5). This fraction became known as the "incretin," due to its ability to increase "internal" secretion into the pancreatic vein (6), later recognized as the endocrine pancreas, including insulin.

### Oral versus Intravenous Glucose Delivery

The physiological importance of incretins was not understood until the mid-1960s, after the development of an immunoassay for insulin by Morgan & Lazarow (7). After this landmark achievement, it was discovered that normal weight humans given an oral glucose load had plasma insulin levels approximately twice those seen when the same group received an intravenous glucose infusion to match the blood glucose profile seen after the oral glucose load (2; 8). At that point the physiological mechanism was unknown, however this phenomena was named the "incretin effect", due to the yet to be defined factors released from the gut resulting in an increase in insulin release.

### The Entero-Insular axis

By the late 1960s the phenomenon of gut induced insulin secretion had been termed the "entero-insular axis" (9). This concept described three ways that nutrients in gut induce changes in the pancreas: 1) direct absorption of the nutrients into the blood stream and delivery to the pancreas; 2) neural transmission from the gut to the pancreas; 3) endocrine transmission induced by hormones released from the gut into the circulation (6). (Figure 1.1) Signals from the gut to the pancreas can involve any of these components, either alone or in combination.

After consumption of an orally delivered meal, nutrients are absorbed from the gut and enter the hepatic portal vein followed by entry into the peripheral circulation. As nutrient concentrations in blood increase, direct contact with the islet is increased. Glucose (10) and amino acids (11) increase ATP production by the  $\beta$ -cell, which induces insulin secretion directly. Under normal conditions, free fatty acids increase glucose stimulated insulin secretion, however, excess free fatty acids in the peripheral circulation result in a decrease in glucose stimulated insulin secretion (12). Therefore, nutrients absorbed in the gut can regulate insulin secretion in both a positive and negative manner.

Neural regulation of the pancreas is supported by a vast innervation which has been shown to regulate both its endocrine and exocrine function (13). The islets themselves are surrounded by many nerve fibers, with  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -, and  $\delta$ -cells all innervated by both the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous systems (14). Nerves in the gastrointestinal system, referred to as the enteric nervous system, include more that 100 million neurons (15). When a nutrient load reaches the gut, enteric neural signaling is initiated with afferent signals traveling through the vagus either directly to the pancreas



**Figure 1.1** The enter-insular axis. Signals to the pancreas in response to nutrient load in the gut. Adapted from Ref. (6).

or to the central nervous system. The latter then alters efferent discharges to the pancreas (15).

The entero-insular axis relies heavily on endocrine transmission from the gut to the pancreas. This transmission occurs by secretion of gut hormones into the circulation, so that they can directly interact with receptors in the pancreas, or by interaction with a receptor at a tissue located closer to the site of secretion, by which it can initiate a neural signal to induce an indirect effect at the  $\beta$ -cell. Gut hormones, secreted in response to a nutrient load, that initiate changes in insulin secretion and glucose homeostasis will be the focus of the remainder of this thesis.

## **Defining Incretin Hormones**

The definition of an incretin hormone as defined by Creutzfeldt involves the following:

- 1) The hormone must be released from gut endocrine cells after ingestion of nutrients, especially of glucose.
- 2) The circulating hormone must stimulate insulin secretion in a concentration which is easily achieved after ingestion of a nutrient.
- 3) The hormone releases insulin only at elevated glucose levels (4).

There are identified incretin hormones: GIP and GLP-1. It has been suggested that the incretin effect, which has been shown to increase insulin secretion by approximately fifty-percent, is due to increases in that these two incretin hormones, although the majority of this work has been done in the mouse (2; 16).

### Glucose Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide

In 1969, it was discovered that "gastric inhibitory polypeptide," or GIP, isolated from porcine intestine, decreases acid secretion when given in large quantities to dogs (17). It was later determined that GIP induced glucose-dependent insulin secretion at physiological levels, resulting in a re-naming to "glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide" (17). Due to the fact that lower levels of GIP induce its incretin effect, as opposed to GIP's effect on gastric inhibition, it is believed that the physiological importance of the peptide is its ability to induce glucose mediated insulin secretion (17).

GIP is a 42 amino acid peptide (18) secreted by the K cells of the upper small intestine (19; 20) in response to absorption of carbohydrate and fat (21). Inhibitors of absorption block this effect (6). The GIP receptor (GIPR) is member of the vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP)/glucagon/secretin receptor family of G-protein coupled receptors. When ligand binds it, the adenylyl cyclase signaling cascade is activated (22). GIPR are located in pancreatic islets, adipose tissue, and brain (22). Although GIPR <sup>-/-</sup> mice exhibit normal weight, fasting glucose levels, and glycemic response to an intra-peritoneal glucose tolerance test, glucose levels after an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) were significantly greater in the GIPR <sup>-/-</sup> than the wild-type (23). The higher glucose levels in the GIPR <sup>-/-</sup> mice in response to the OGTT were associated with significantly lower plasma insulin levels (23). The decrease in insulin was not due to a defect at the  $\beta$ -cell, because isolated islets from the GIPR <sup>-/-</sup> mice remained glucose competent; therefore, the impaired glucose tolerance was due to a disruption of the entero-insular axis (23).

This indicates that GIP signaling is required for normal incretin response to oral glucose delivery, reaffirming its classification as an incretin hormone. Although GIP

induces insulin secretion, it was determined that GIP did not account for the full incretin effect observed after oral nutrient delivery, and that another hormone must contribute to the remainder of the effect (4).

## Preproglucagon

During the analysis of preproglucagon, it was determined that peptides other than glucagon were coded on the gene, and that these other peptides also influence glucose homeostasis. Preproglucagon is expressed in the  $\alpha$ -cell of the pancreas, the L cell in the gut, and the brain. Preproglucagon is translated into the proglucagon amino acid sequence at all of these sites; however, due to different processing enzymes in each of the cell types, different peptides are produced in each location (24). (Figure 1.2) These processing enzymes are serine proteases known as proprotein convertases (PC) which exist in the PC1/3 form in the gut and brain, while PC2 is found in the pancreas (24). Post-translational modification by PC2 results in glucagon as the only active peptide product (25; 26). Inactive products include: glicentin-related pancreatic peptide (GRPP), intervening peptide-1 (IP-1), and the major proglucagon fragment (25; 26). In the presence of PC1/3, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2), two intervening peptides (IP-1, IP-2), oxyntomodulin, and glicentin are the peptides produced (27; 28). (Figure 1.2)

Proglucagon						
	GRPP	Glucagon	IP-1	GLP-1	IP-2	GLP-2
Panc	Pancreas (PC2) major proglucagon fragment					
	GRPP	Glucagon	IP-1	GLP-1	IP-2	GLP-2
<u>Gut &amp; Brain (PC1/3)</u> Glicentin						
	GRPP	Glucagon	IP-1	GLP-1	IP-2	GLP-2
		Oxyntomodul	in			

**Figure 1.2** Posttranslational modification of proglucagon. Proprotein convertase (PC) 2 is produced in the pancreas, with glucagon resulting as the active petide. In the gut and brain, PC1/3 activity results in GLP-1 and GLP-1 as the major active fragments. GRPP: Glicentin related pancreatic polypeptide; IP; intervening peptide. Adapted from Ref. (24).

Glicentin stimulates gut growth (28), but does not alter insulin section (29). Oxyntomodulin does induce insulin secretion; however, it circulates at such low concentrations, it is unlikely that it contributes to the incretin effect (29). Most evidence suggests that its physiological role is stimulating gastric acid secretion and decreasing food intake (28). GLP-2, although released in response to a nutrient load, does not contribute to the incretin effect, with its primary effects being inhibition of gastrointestinal motility and gastric acid secretion, in addition to protective and regenerative effects in the bowel (28). However, it was determined that the preproglucagon product, GLP-1, does induce insulin secretion at physiological levels.

### **Glucagon-Like Peptide-1**

GLP-1 induces insulin secretion, despite its ~50% amino acid homology with glucagon (30). This peptide has the same amino acid sequence in all mammals (31). In response to an oral nutrient load, GLP-1 is secreted from the L cells in the gut. These cells are referred to as open-type endocrine cells, because the apical membrane has microvilli reaching the intestinal lumen and the base has a large supply of endocrine granules near the basal lamina (26). The L cells secrete two active forms of GLP-1: GLP-1(7-36) amide and glycine-extended GLP-1 (7-37). In the blood GLP-1(7-36) amide represents approximately 75% of active GLP-1, while GLP-1(7-37) is the remaining 25% (24). These two forms of GLP-1 have indistinguishable actions at the endocrine pancreas and identical clearance rates (32).

#### <u>GLP-1 Secretion</u>

Secretion of GLP-1 is induced by oral delivery of nutrients, specifically carbohydrates and lipids. Absorption of the nutrients is required to induce secretion (33). Postprandial peripheral GLP-1 levels increase rapidly, peaking approximately 15-30 minutes after a meal, with an additional secondary rise occurring at about 90 minutes (34). GLP-1 levels remain elevated for at least 3 hours after oral nutrient delivery in humans (34; 35).

Originally, it was thought that the first peak in GLP-1 level was due to hormonal regulation or neural firing initiated in the upper gut after a meal (36; 37), because it did not appear as though L cells were present in the proximal area of the gut (38). In rodents, GIP secreted from K cells in the upper gut upon contact with nutrients induces GLP-1 secretion either though endocrine or neural pathways (37; 39), however this effect is not observed in humans (40). Endocrine GIP mediated GLP-1 secretion occurs when GIP interacts with its G-protein coupled receptor on the L cell membrane. This increases activation of adenylyl cyclase (AC), which increases cAMP and activates protein kinase A (PKA), resulting in GLP-1 secretion via granule exocytosis (39).

Evidence for neural simulation of GLP-1 secretion has been obtained in vitro, with human and rodent L cells secreting GLP-1 in response to acetylcholine acting via a muscarinic receptor 1(39). When rodents receive a muscarinic receptor antagonist *in vivo*, there is no GLP-1 secretion in response to intraduodenal nutrient delivery (41). It has also been shown that the neuropeptide, gastrin-releasing peptide (GRP), released from neurons in the enteric nervous system activates its G-protein coupled receptor to induce GLP-1 secretion (42). Both acetylcholine and GRP induce GLP-1 secretion by activating phospholipase C (PLC), which stimulates protein kinase C (PKC), resulting in granule exocytosis (39). Therefore, it is clear that neural signaling can contribute to the secretion of GLP-1; however, its exact role in GLP-1 secretion has now become somewhat controversial due to the fact that recent reports indicate that GLP-1 immunoreactive cells have been detected in the duodenum (43). This new finding would suggest that L cells in the upper gut have direct contact with nutrients soon after consumption, resulting in the early peak in GLP-1 level; therefore, the early secretion of GLP-1 may be less reliant on neural signaling than once thought.

Direct contact of nutrients with the L cell is the accepted explanation for the peak in GLP-1 levels that occurs approximately 90 minutes after a meal. Evidence both *in vivo* (37) and *in vitro* (44-46) shows that GLP-1 secretion is induced in a dose dependent manner when L cells are directly exposed to carbohydrate or lipid. Some suggest that fat is more likely to reach the distal gut, and therefore is responsible for the second postprandial peak in GLP-1 level after a mixed meal (39); however, when our lab administered an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) in the dog, the second peak was still observed (47). In addition, glucose infusion, either peripherally (48) or intraportally (49), does not induce GLP-1 secretion, indicating that glucose must have direct contact with the luminal membrane of the L cell to induce GLP-1 secretion.

The L cell is directly stimulated by glucose via sodium glucose transporters (SGLT) 1/3 or glucose transporter (GLUT) 1/5, resulting in increased ATP levels, and subsequent closure of  $K_{ATP}$  channels (46). An increase in intracellular K+, in combination with Na+ from the SGLT, depolarizes the L cell, resulting in an opening of voltage gated

calcium channels (39; 50). Increased intracellular calcium levels results in GLP-1 secretion (50).

Monounsaturated fatty acids bind to the receptor GPR120 on the membrane of the L cell (39). It has been shown that when GPR120 is activated, there is an increase in intracellular calcium levels and p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation (51); however when these pathways are both blocked, fatty acids are still able to induce GLP-1 secretion (39; 51). This leaves the mechanism of fatty acid initiated GLP-1 secretion somewhat unclear.

Upon release by the L cell, GLP-1 enters both the intestinal lymph system and portal circulation, with total levels of GLP-1 being approximately 5-6 times greater in the former than the latter (52). GLP-1 secretion, whether in response to GIP, acetylcholine, GRP or a meal, is inhibited by somatostatin (39; 53-55).

## Degradation of Incretin Hormones

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-IV) is responsible for the degradation of incretin hormones (56). Also known as the T-cell antigen CD26, it exists in two forms: membrane bound and free in plasma (18; 57). The membrane bound form of DPP-IV is found throughout the vasculature, including that in the kidney and the brush-border membrane of the gut (57). The major site of degradation of incretins by DPP-IV is close to the site of their secretion in the gut brush-border membrane. It has been shown that approximately half of active secreted GLP-1 is degraded by DPP-IV located in the brush border epithelium and the gut capillary endothelium before it reaches the vasculature (58). Once released into the circulation, the intact forms of GIP and GLP-1 are both quickly degraded with half lives of 5 and 1-2 minutes, respectively (59; 60). DPP-IV cleaves two N-terminal amino acids from peptides in which the next to the last amino acid is a proline or alanine, as is the case for GIP (1-42), GLP-1(7-36) amide, and GLP-1(7-37). The receptors for both GIP and GLP-1 interact with the Nterminus of the peptide to initiate their respective signaling cascades; therefore, cleavage results in dramatically different interaction at the receptor (61; 62). After exposure of GIP or GLP-1 to DPP-IV, the resulting metabolites GIP (3-42) and GLP-1 (9-36) amide, do not contribute to the incretin effect (63; 64); however, it is still unclear if these metabolites are completely inert. In a small number of studies, infusion of GLP-1 (9-36) amide has been shown to slightly decrease blood glucose via a mechanism independent from insulin secretion and gastric emptying (64; 65); however, the majority of work shows that this metabolite is inert (66-68).

It was once thought that DPP-IV degradation was occurring largely in the kidney. This changed when antibodies were developed for both the active and degraded forms of the incretin peptides. It was determined that the kidneys are not a major site of degradation by DPP-IV, but rather a site of clearance for GIP, GLP-1, and their metabolites (57; 69). The kidneys eliminate ~ 10-20% of the active forms of the peptides (69), which is greater than the rate of glomerular filtration alone, indicating that another mechanism is involved (57). It has been suggested that a portion of the elimination of GLP-1 and GIP occurring at the kidney may be due to degradation by neutral endopeptidase 24.11 (NEP 24.11), which exists in high quantities in the kidney. NEP 24.11 has been shown to degrade GLP-1 and GIP *in vitro* (57). As stated earlier, it is now clear that the majority of degradation of endogenously released GLP-1 occurs by DPP-IV in the gut (58).

## Incretin Hormones in Type 2 Diabetes

Type 2 diabetes occurs when the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells are no longer able to produce enough insulin to compensate for the whole body insulin resistance. It diabetic humans, the incretin effect is significantly decreased relative to that in normal individuals (2). (Figure 1.3) There are several reasons relating directly to incretin hormone secretion and degradation that could explain a decreased incretin effect in those with type 2 diabetes. They are: 1) decreased incretin peptide levels, 2) a decrease in incretin peptide sensitivity at the  $\beta$ -cell, or 3) postprandial glucose levels in type 2 diabetic patients are greater than the stimulus needed for maximal for insulin secretion, resulting in the inability of incretins to further increase insulin release. It is likely that a combination of these contribute to decreased postprandial insulin secretion in those with type 2 diabetes.

A decrease in incretin peptide level could be the result of either an increase in degradation, or a decrease in production. The half life of both GIP and GLP-1 are similar in healthy humans and those with type 2 diabetes, indicating that the degradation of incretin hormones is not altered with the onset of diabetes (59; 60). Incretin hormone production in human patients with type 2 diabetes is somewhat controversial. Early reports indicated that after oral nutrient delivery, GIP levels were similar in type 2 diabetic patients and healthy humans, while GLP-1 was significantly reduced in diabetic patients (70; 71). Although decreased GLP-1 level in type 2 diabetic patients became an accepted explanation for a decrease in the incretin effect, the development of more sophisticated assays, including those that could differentiate between active and inactive forms of GLP-1, resulted in new findings. The more recent data indicated that active and inactive GLP-1 levels could actually be greater in type 2 diabetic patients in response



**Figure 1.3** The incretin effect in normal weight and obese humans with or without diabetes. Despite greater plasma glucose levels in response to an oral glucose load (not shown), insulin secretion in response was dramatically decreased in those with diabetes, as shown here with total AUC of insulin peripheral insulin profile. When glucose was infused to match the respective peripheral glucose profile of the oral glucose load, insulin secretion was decreased in all groups. Adapted from Ref. (2)

to oral nutrient delivery (43), but this may be in response to greater glycemic levels. In addition, it has been recently shown that DPP-IV levels are decreased in type 2 diabetes, resulting in decreased DPP-IV activity and reduced GLP-1 degradation (72). Overall, there is still much debate about postprandial GLP-1 level in those with type 2 diabetes.

Decreased sensitivity of the  $\beta$ -cell to incretin peptides would also result in a decrease in the incretin effect. In humans with type 2 diabetes, an infusion of GIP to create a physiological increase of the peptide in the periphery in the presence of a hyperglycemic clamp did not increase insulin levels compared to hyperglycemia alone (40). When the GIP infusion rate was doubled to create super-physiological levels in the periphery there was only a slight increase in insulin secretion when compared to hyperglycemia alone (40). The response was markedly decreased from the response observed in normal subjects (40). However, when humans with type 2 diabetes underwent a hyperglycemic clamp and receive a GLP-1 infusion to increase circulating levels to those observed after a meal, insulin secretion was increased when compared to a hyperglycemic clamp alone (40). The insulin response to the hyperglycemia and GLP-1 in those with type 2 diabetes is just slightly less than those observed in healthy subjects infused with the same rate of GLP-1 in the presence of a hyperglycemic clamp (40). Therefore, in humans with type 2 diabetes, resistance of the  $\beta$ -cell to GIP contributes to a decreased incretin effect, but sensitivity to GLP-1 largely remains intact.

Although type 2 diabetes ultimately results in  $\beta$ -cell failure, it has been shown that postprandial glucose levels do not promote maximal insulin secretion, and when peripheral glucose levels are increased to levels greater than found after a meal, insulin secretion is increased in those with the disease (73). In addition, GLP-1 increases insulin

secretion under hyperglycemic conditions in patients with type 2 diabetes, and GLP-1, at both physiologic and super-physiologic levels, can increase insulin secretion over a vast range of hyperglycemia (40; 73). This is evidence that insulin secretion has not reached a maximum rate in the presence of postprandial glycemia in those with type 2 diabetes, per se; however, damage sustained to the  $\beta$ -cell over the progression of developing diabetes may contribute to the decreased incretin effect.

To take advantage of the maintained sensitivity of the  $\beta$ -cell to GLP-1 in diabetic patients that maintain some  $\beta$ -cell function, several novel diabetes therapies have been developed. The established therapies fall into two major categories. The first group consists of GLP-1 mimetics or derivatives that are resistant to degradation by DPP-IV. This includes the GLP-1 mimetic exenatide, a commercial preparation of exendin-4, a peptide found in Gila monster saliva. Another derivative is liraglutide, which is formed by fusing of GLP-1 to a fatty acid, which in turn binds to albumin. GLP-1 bound to albumin is resistant to degradation. The second category of potential diabetes therapies are nonpeptide compounds that target DPP-IV by decreasing its production or inhibiting its action. Other potential therapies include methods (i.g. secretagogues or vectors) to induce increased endogenous GLP-1 production via increased expression of PC1/3 or the peptide itself (74; 75).

## **GLP-1** Receptor

#### **GLP-1R** Characteristics

The GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) is a classical guanine nucleotide binding protein (G protein)-coupled receptor of the B1 subfamily, which also includes receptors for GIP, glucagon, and GLP-2 (76). Although B1 subfamily members have high gene homology, binding at physiological levels only occurs among ligands and their respective receptors (76). Human GLP-1R consists of 463 amino acids, which is 90% homologous to the rat GLP-1R (76; 77). GLP-1R has a dissociation constant of 0.3 nM with GLP-1, and 0.1 nM with exendin-4 (76; 78). GLP-1 binds somewhat at extracellular loops, but primarily to the extracellular amino-terminus of the receptor which, at 146 amino acids, is moderately long like other B family receptors (79). The third intracellular loop of the GLP-1R mediates GLP-1 signaling, whereas the first and second intracellular loops discriminates between various G protein isoforms (80). There is evidence that the GLP-1R is coupled to  $G_s$ ,  $G_{i1}$ ,  $G_o$ , and  $G_{I1}$  (80).

Early characterization of the GLP-1R was conducted with radioligand assays, resulting in evidence of a single receptor type in rat insulinoma-derived cells (81; 82). Cloning of the GLP-1R in the islet of the rat resulted in two different RNA spicing variants, but a single established amino acid sequence to compare against all other tissues (83). The tissue distribution of GLP-1R *in vivo* is quite controversial. This is due to the fact that locations of the receptor have been identified in different manners and in different species. Different methods of detection vary from radiolabelling and immunoassays, to changes in neural firing and metabolism. (Table 1.1)

Site of identified GLP-1R	Technique of Identification
Pancreas	<ul> <li>Binding of GLP-1 to α-, β-, δ-cell of rats by radiolabeled assay (84)</li> <li>-GLP-1R protein detected in rat β-cell by Western blot (85)</li> <li>-GLP-1R RNA detection in islets of rats, dogs, and humans by PCR followed by Southern blot of cDNA (86-90)</li> <li>-GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and human by Northern blot (83; 91; 92)</li> <li>-Increased insulin and somatostatin secretion, accompanied by decreased glucagon secretion in canine and rat pancreases perfused with GLP-1 (93)</li> </ul>
Brain & Nervous System	<ul> <li>Binding of GLP-1 in rat brain by radiolabeled assay (94)</li> <li>GLP-1R RNA in rat CNS by in situ hybridization (95)</li> <li>Detection of GLP-1R RNA in rat brain by Northern blot (91)</li> <li>GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and human brain by PCR/Southern blot (89; 90)</li> </ul>
Hepatic Portal Vein	-GLP-1R RNA identified in nerve terminals within the hepatic portal vein of rat by PCR/Southern blot (87) -Increased afferent neural discharges from the region when rats given intraportal GLP-1 bolus (96)
Liver	<ul> <li>Binding of GLP-1 in rats by radiolabeled assay (97)</li> <li>GLP-1R RNA identified in rat by Northern blot (91)</li> <li>GLP-1R RNA identified in rat by PCR/Southern blot (88)</li> <li>GLP-1 decreases human endogenous glucose production, independently of changes in pancreatic hormones (98)</li> <li>GLP-1 infusion increases canine hepatic glucose uptake (47; 48)</li> <li>GLP-1 increases glycogen storage in rat hepatocytes (99)</li> </ul>
Adipose	-Binding of GLP-1 to human adipose by radiolabeled assay (100) -GLP-1R RNA identified in rat and canine by PCR/Southern blot (86; 88) -GLP-1 increases insulin mediated glucose uptake in adipocyte cell line (88) -GLP-1 increases nonhepatic glucose uptake in canine (48)
Skeletal Muscle	<ul> <li>Binding of GLP-1 to rat skeletal muscle (101)</li> <li>GLP-1R RNA detected in rat by Northern blot (91)</li> <li>GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and canine by PCR/Southern blot (86; 88; 90)</li> <li>GLP-1 increases nonhepatic glucose uptake in canine (48)</li> </ul>
Heart	-GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and human by PCR/Southern blot (88-90)
Kidney	-GLP-1R RNA detected in rat by Northern blot (83; 91) -GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and human by PCR/Southern blot (89; 90)
Lung	-GLP-1R RNA detected in rat by Northern blot (83; 91) -GLP-1R RNA detected in human and rat by PCR followed by Southern blot (87; 89; 90)
Stomach	-GLP-1R RNA detected in rat by Northern blot (83) -GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and human by PCR/Southern blot (89; 90)
Intestine	-GLP-1R RNA detected in rat and human by PCR/Southern blot (88; 90)

**Table 1.1** Positive identification of GLP-1R locations.

Radiolabeled assays have been used to determine GLP-1 binding to  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -, and  $\delta$ cells of the islets of Langerhans, the brain, liver, and skeletal muscle of rats, as well as human adipose tissue (84; 94; 97; 100; 101). While Western blots confirmed the presence of GLP-1R on the  $\beta$ -cell, there was no indication of GLP-1R on the  $\alpha$ -cell using this technique (85). Northern blot analysis of rat tissue confirmed the presence of GLP-1R RNA in the islet, in addition to the stomach, kidney, and lung, but not in the smooth muscle, spleen, heart, testis, intestine, or colon, with mixed results for rat liver, skeletal muscle, and brain (83; 91). Northern blot analysis of human tissue indicated positive results for the pancreas, but not in lung, smooth muscle, heart, brain, spleen, liver, skeletal muscle, or kidney (92). In situ hybridization has resulted in identification of GLP-1R throughout the central nervous system of the rat (95). Also in the rat, PCR, followed by Southern blot of cDNA, identified GLP-1R in the nodose ganglia and nerve terminals innervating the portal vein, pancreatic islets, lung, skeletal muscle, adipose, intestine, stomach, kidney, brain, and heart, with mixed detection at the liver, and none in the spinal cord (87; 88; 90). This same technique in the dog found GLP-1R located in the pancreas and fat, with much lower levels in skeletal muscle, and no detection in liver (86). GLP-1R RNA has also been detected in human pancreas, lung, brain, stomach, kidney, heart, but not in liver, skeletal muscle, or adipose by PCR followed by Southern blot (89).

There has been suggestion of GLP-1R in some tissues due to effects that result from the presence of GLP-1. Perfused canine and rat pancreases produce increased insulin and somatostatin in the presence of a GLP-1 infusion (93), confirming the presence of a receptor for GLP-1 in the pancreatic islet. Although there is no

confirmation of GLP-1R RNA in the liver, isolated rat hepatocytes have increased glycogen storage in the presence of GLP-1 (99). In addition, hepatic glucose production is decreased in humans that receive GLP-1 intravenously, in the presence of a pancreatic clamp (98). An intraportal bolus of GLP-1 resulted in increased afferent discharges from the hepatic branch of the vagal nerve in rat (96), confirming the presence of a receptor for GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein. Although there have been mixed opinions on whether or not the GLP-1R is located in insulin sensitive tissue (liver, muscle, and fat), GLP-1 does increase glucose utilization in these tissues, when pancreatic hormone levels are held constant (47; 48; 86; 88).

Discrepancies in determining GLP-1R tissue distribution could be explained by the use of different methods and various species used to identify the location of the distribution of GLP-1R; however, there are other possible explanations. It has been suggested that an as yet to be identified receptor, other than the classical GLP-1R, exists and that GLP-1 may be mediating a portion of its effects in some tissues via this other receptor (102). This is also supported by the fact that even though only one receptor has been identified, it has been shown that alternate gene splicing can result in two separate transcripts (83; 91). Others have suggested the GLP-1R may be present in very low abundance in some tissue, such that it is not detected when compared to the high levels of the receptor in the islet (92). Another possibility is that the GLP-1R is not uniformly expressed throughout certain tissues (92). Additionally, due to the presence of GLP-1 in the central nervous system, it is possible that GLP-1 has indirect effects intiated by interaction with its receptors at a nerve terminus in one location, which results in effects that are manifested at another tissue. Therefore, it appears as though GLP-1 could

mediate its actions by direct interaction with its receptor and through indirect pathways via neural mediation.

## **GLP-1 Signal Transduction**

The presence of GLP-1R in the  $\beta$ -cell is fully accepted; therefore, the pathway of GLP-1 signaling has been investigated primarily in the pancreas. Remarks in reference to GLP-1 signaling have been determined in insulin producing cells, unless otherwise specifically noted.

Although it has been shown that GLP-1R activates various G-protein isoforms (80), in the  $\beta$ -cell, GLP-1R primarily activates G<sub>s</sub> $\alpha$ , which in turn activates adenylyl cyclase (AC) (103). Increased activation of AC results in production of cAMP, which is the main mediator of GLP-1 effects (104; 105). Negative regulation of cAMP occurs in the presence of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDE) (106). Although less frequently, GLP-1 does initiate cAMP-independent signaling which is regulated by phosphatidylinositol-3 (PI3) kinase. Even though this pathway is much less defined, it is likely that PI3 kinase is activated by the G<sub> $\beta\gamma$ </sub> subunit of the GLP-1R (103). Further detail of GLP-1R signal transduction is given in conjunction with the effects of GLP-1.

#### Elimination or Blocking the GLP-1R

GLP-1 is translated from the preproglucagon gene, which also includes other peptides that mediate glucose homeostasis; therefore, a knockout model of some or the entire preproglucagon gene may result in changes in glucose metabolism that do not truly reflect the lack of the GLP-1 protein. To determine the specific physiological effects of GLP-1, null mutation of the GLP-1R was created (107). Fasting glucose levels of GLP-
$1R^{-/-}$  mice are similar to those of wild type animals; however, in response to an oral glucose load, peripheral glycemia is significantly greater in the GLP- $1R^{-/-}$  mice, with no compensatory increase in insulin secretion (107). The true contribution of GLP-1 to regulating glucose homeostasis may, however, actually be much greater than exhibited by the glycemic response of the GLP- $1R^{-/-}$  mice. These animals exhibit significantly greater circulating GIP levels, in addition to much greater GIP sensitivity at the  $\beta$ -cell, which may compensate for the lack of GLP-1 signaling (108).

Not only do GLP-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice show increased GIP action (108), but GIPR<sup>-/-</sup> mice also have a compensatory increase in GLP-1 sensitivity (16; 109; 110). This makes it difficult to evaluate the specific contributions of either peptide. To better evaluate the true physiological contributions of incretin hormones, double incretin knockout (DIRKO) mice were developed (109). The DIRKO mice have greater peripheral glycemia than either of the single knockout animals after an oral glucose tolerance test (109). This is the result of significantly reduced plasma insulin levels, despite the higher glycemia (109); therefore, the response of the DIRKO mice confirm the combined contribution of GIP and GLP-1 to the incretin effect, but the individual knockouts do not specifically define the individual physiological role of either hormone.

There is another approach to determining the physiological effects GLP-1. It is the use a GLP-1R antagonist, exendin (9-39) (78; 111). Exendin (9-39) is a truncated form of the previously mentioned exendin-4, and acts in a competitive manner to specifically block the GLP-1R (78). This provides a tool to clarify the physiological role of GLP-1 by acutely blocking GLP-1 signaling. This negates the concerns of

compensatory mechanisms that occur with the chronic ablation of GLP-1 signaling observed in the GLP-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

### **GLP-1R** and Diabetes

It has been determined that in individuals with type 2 diabetes,  $\beta$ -cell sensitivity to GLP-1 is slightly decreased compared to healthy subjects (40). Changes that may occur at the GLP-1R with this disease have yet to be defined. There is no correlation of common allelic variants of the GLP-1R gene with type 2 diabetes (112; 113). In one patient with type 2 diabetes, but not in any control subjects, a specific mutation of the GLP-1R was identified which resulted in a 60-fold decrease in binding affinity for active forms GLP-1, with no difference in binding of either GLP-1 (9-36) or exenatide (9-39) (114). In rats, it has been shown that GLP-1R mRNA levels are decreased in islets in response to hyperglycemia (115). In addition, these levels are also decreased in the brain of the obese Zucker rats (116). This evidence suggests that decreased sensitivity of the  $\beta$ cell to GLP-1 in type 2 diabetes could be partially attributed to either decreased binding affinity of the GLP-1 to its receptor or decreased GLP-1R expression.

### Effects of GLP-1

Although GLP-1 was first identified as an incretin hormone, there is a large body of evidence indicating that GLP-1 acts throughout the body as a glucoregulatory factor (117; 118). The following is a summary of how GLP-1 affects various tissues and organs, including a description of GLP-1 mediated signaling. Direct effects of GLP-1 include actions that are mediated by GLP-1 binding to a receptor at the tissue in which

the effect is observed. These include tissues in which it has been proven or suggested that the GLP-1R is present. Indirect effects are those that are initiated by GLP-1 interaction with its receptor at a site other than which the effect is observed. Indirect effects are the result of paracrine or neural transmission from the site of initiation to the site of the resulting effect. It has been shown that GLP-1 exerts both direct and indirect effects.

# Insulin Secretion

The most well defined effect of GLP-1 is glucose-dependent insulin secretion. As mentioned previously, activation of cAMP is the major signaling pathway initiated upon GLP-1 binding with its receptor at the  $\beta$ -cell. Increased levels of cAMP are required for glucose-dependent GLP-1 induced insulin secretion (119). GLP-1 signaling initiates two major downstream pathways of cAMP. The first major regulator is the increased activity of PKA (120); however, when PKA is blocked, insulin secretion stimulated by GLP-1 is only decreased by 50-60%, supporting the fact that a second signaling mechanism is in place (103; 119). The second pathway is mediated by "cAMP regulated guanine nucleotide exchange factors" (cAMPGEFs) also known an "exchange proteins directly activated by cAMP" (Epac) (119; 121). cAMP has a significantly lower affinity for Epac than PKA; therefore, lower levels of cAMP activate PKA, and when PKA signaling is saturated, cAMP continues to increase signal transmission by Epac activation (103; 121).

Glucose uptake by GLUT2 at the  $\beta$ -cell increases the intracellular ATP/ADP ratio (122-124). Epac augments this increase in the ATP/ADP ratio, via a Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent mechanism (125). K<sub>ATP</sub> channels are closed by this increased ATP/ADP ratio (126). GLP-1 activated PKA increases K<sub>ATP</sub> channel closure by direct phosphorylation of the

channel (127), and there is some evidence that Epac also augments  $K_{ATP}$  channel closure (128). This results in quicker depolarization of the cell (129), thereby increasing the intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> content by opening membrane Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and causing exocytosis of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from stores in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Both routes of increased intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> are augmented by PKA and Epac (125; 130; 131). Increased intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> results in exocytosis of insulin granules from the plasma membrane. There is evidence that both PKA and Epac also interact directly at the insulin vesicles to aid exocytosis (132). GLP-1 induced activation of PKA also results in greater frequency of insulin granule exocytosis by antagonizing K<sub>v</sub> channels (133; 134). K<sub>v</sub> channels oppose the actions of K<sub>ATP</sub> channels by decreasing intracellular K<sup>+</sup> concentration, which results in repolarization of the  $\beta$ -cell (133; 134).

GLP-1 also initiates effects at the  $\beta$ -cell which increase the availability of insulin for secretion. Insulin producing cells have increased intracellular insulin content after incubation with GLP-1 (135). This effect is mediated by both cAMP/PKA and PI3kinase/cAMP-independent pathways (103). GLP-1 increases mRNA levels of transcription factor PDX-1 and promotes its transport to the nucleus (136-138). Nuclear PDX-1 increases insulin mRNA levels (139). This has been directly linked to GLP-1 induced increases in intracellular insulin content (104; 135).

GLP-1 also promotes continued activation of PDX-1 by PI3 kinase activation of PKB. This phosphorylates forkhead transcription factor O1 (FoxO1), which traps it in the cytoplasm, making it unable to block nuclear PDX-1 action (103; 140). In addition, GLP-1 activates polypyrimidine tract binding protein 1 (PTB1), which stabilizes insulin and insulin vesicle protein mRNA, making it less susceptible to degradation (103; 141).

There is also some evidence that GLP-1R activation enhances second phase insulin secretion by shifting less accessible pools of insulin granules closer to the membrane of the cell (130; 142). Combined with the aforementioned effects, this perpetuates GLP-1 enhanced insulin secretion well after the induction of hyperglycemia (40; 73).

There have been additional reports to suggest that indirect mechanisms also mediate GLP-1's effect on insulin secretion. When GLP-1 is infused into the brain of mice, glucose-dependent insulin secretion is increased (143). Others have suggested that a neural circuit exists between GLP-1 receptors in the hepatic portal vein and the pancreas (96). Although it is well documented that GLP-1 does have a direct effect at the pancreas, these studies indicate that elevations of GLP-1 observed after a meal may initiate the incretin response in a variety of ways.

### <u>β-cell Mass</u>

Chronic GLP-1R activation in human isolated islets, as well as *in vivo* in rodents results in increased  $\beta$ -cell mass (144-147). This effect has been shown to be independent of both the peripheral glucose level and GLP-1's ability to lower glycemia (147; 148). Although GLP-1 appears to be expressed during embryonic development, and embryonic  $\beta$ -cells do express GLP-1R, it has yet to be determined the extent to which endogenous GLP-1 increases or maintains adult  $\beta$ -cell mass in a healthy physiological setting (149). In addition, it has yet to be fully determined the effects of GLP-1 on  $\beta$ -cell mass in humans. Even so, the ability of GLP-1R activation to result in increased  $\beta$ -cell mass may eventually be used for the development of therapies for improved  $\beta$ -cell mass in both type 1 and 2 diabetes. Increased  $\beta$ -cell mass occurs by increasing the ratio of  $\beta$ -cell expansion to  $\beta$ -cell depletion. GLP-1 has been shown to increase this ratio by multiple mechanisms, mainly initiated by cAMP/PKA and PI3-kinase/cAMP-independent pathways, which activate PDX-1 (103; 150; 151). PDX-1 not only regulates insulin transcription, but is also a major determinant of  $\beta$ -cell generation and maintenance (152; 153).

Generation of  $\beta$ -cell mass *in vivo* occurs in three ways: 1) neogenesis, which includes differentiation from precursor cells; 2) proliferation by division of existing  $\beta$ cells; and 3) hypertrophy by enlargement of existing  $\beta$ -cells (154). Established  $\beta$ -cell precursor cells are found in islets and pancreatic ducts *in vivo* (155; 156). In the presence of GLP-1, PDX-1 is up-regulated in precursor cells from both of these regions, resulting in the transformation of these cells into insulin producing cells (157; 158). Stem cells are a potential source of exogenously produced  $\beta$ -cells for those with type 1 or 2 diabetes. GLP-1, in conjunction with additional factors, also converts stem cells into insulin producing cells (159; 160). GLP-1 also promotes proliferation and hypertrophy of established  $\beta$ -cells through PI3 kinase activation of PKB, which deactivates FoxO1, allowing PDX-1 to localize to the nucleus (137; 144; 146; 161; 162).

Depletion of  $\beta$ -cell mass occurs in two ways: cell death, mainly via apoptosis and atrophy of existing  $\beta$ -cells (154). GLP-1 inhibits  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis and promotes  $\beta$ -cell integrity in vitro (145; 163). This has been confirmed *in vivo* in Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rats, which have decreased  $\beta$ -cell mass due to increased apoptosis (164). When ZDF rats are chronically treated with GLP-1, islet mass and  $\beta$ -cell proliferation is significantly increased, while  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis is significantly decreased (165). Taken

together it is clear that the actions of chronic activation of GLP-1R in the pancreas protects and expands  $\beta$ -cell mass.

# <u>GLP-1 Regulation of the $\alpha$ -cell</u>

GLP-1 has been shown to decrease inappropriately high glucagon levels in diabetic patients (166). Similar to GLP-1's ability to induce insulin secretion, the effect on glucagon secretion is glucose dependent, meaning that GLP-1 will only block elevated glucagon secretion under conditions of hyper and euglycemia (167). GLP-1 does not seem to have this effect on healthy patients (168). The presence of the GLP-1R on the  $\alpha$ cell is controversial, because it has been identified by some (84), but not others (85). Despite what is observed *in vivo*, intracellular cAMP levels do not change in isolated  $\alpha$ cells in the presence of GLP-1 (85). In addition, isolated  $\alpha$ -cells actually increase glucagon secretion in the presence of GLP-1 (169); therefore, what would appear to be a direct effect of GLP-1 on the  $\alpha$ -cell may actually be an indirect effect resulting from a direct GLP-1 effect elsewhere in the islet.

One possibility is that the GLP-1 induced decrease in glucagon secretion observed *in vivo* is actually a secondary effect of enhanced insulin secretion. Insulin could be acting in a paracrine manner with its known receptor at the  $\alpha$ -cell (170). It has been shown that insulin does directly inhibit glucagon secretion from isolated  $\alpha$ -cells (170). *In vivo*, mice that are unable to secrete insulin in response to glucose are unable to suppress glucagon secretion (171; 172). In addition, increased Zn<sup>2+</sup> in the islet, which is packaged and released with insulin granules, inhibits glucagon secretion (170). Increased insulin secretion associated with GLP-1 may result in increased Zn2+ release, which could be

responsible for decreased glucagon secretion. Some have also suggested that the decrease in glucagon secretion is a result of the direct effect of GLP-1 resulting in an increase in  $\alpha$ -cell insulin sensitivity (167).

It has been well documented that the direct effect of GLP-1 on pancreatic  $\delta$ -cells is increased somatostatin release (173; 174), which could inhibit glucagon secretion in a paracrine fashion. This is supported by studies indicating that GIP does not alter somatostatin release from pancreatic  $\delta$ -cells or decrease glucagon secretion in humans (103; 173; 175). Due the suggested blood flow in the islet from  $\beta$ - to  $\alpha$ - to  $\delta$ -cell, it seems most likely that the effect of GLP-1 on glucagon secretion *in vivo* is actually an indirect result of GLP-1's direct effects on the  $\beta$ -, and possibly to a lesser effect the  $\delta$ -cells, in the pancreas.

### GLP-1 Regulation at the Liver

The liver is responsible for the disposition of approximately one-third of circulating glucose after an orally delivered moderate glucose load (176). With ~80% of hepatic blood supplied by the hepatic portal vein GLP-1 levels are significantly greater at the liver than in the periphery (47). While liver glucose production and uptake are indirectly regulated by GLP-1 induced changes in pancreatic hormone levels, there is some evidence that GLP-1 can exert a direct effect on the liver, per se (47; 177).

There has been very little evidence that the classical GLP-1R is present in the liver. The use of PCR to detect GLP-1R mRNA has brought about mixed results, with minimal levels at best (86; 88), but it has been shown that radiolabeled GLP-1 does bind

to hepatic membranes (97). This suggests that direct regulation of the liver by GLP-1 resulting in changes in glucose production and utilization is possible (97; 102).

*In vivo*, a peripheral infusion of GLP-1, to create a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels, suppressed glucose production in humans under euglycemic clamp conditions with pancreatic hormones clamped at basal levels (98). Our lab has shown in dogs that when a physiological or pharmacological increase in plasma GLP-1 is brought about under hyperglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp conditions there is an increase in net hepatic glucose uptake (47; 48; 177). This effect occurs whether GLP-1 is administered intraportally or via the hepatic artery (47; 177), suggesting that GLP-1 is mediating this effect directly by activating its receptors at the liver. This effect is small and seen only with high physiological levels of the peptide (177).

*In vitro*, hepatocytes incubated in GLP-1 increase glucose incorporation into glycogen due to increased glycogen synthase and decreased glycogen phosphorylase activity (178). Changes in enzyme activation are the result of cAMP-independent signaling via PI3 kinase/PKB pathways (179). This is in agreement with the inhibition of glucagon-induced glycogenolysis by GLP-1 (180). When GLP-1 levels are elevated in the brain of mice, insulin mediated hepatic glucose uptake and conversion into glycogen is favored over nonhepatic glucose uptake (143). These results indicate that GLP-1 enhances hepatic glucose uptake and storage by both direct and indirect mechanisms.

### Direct Effects of GLP-1 on Adipose and Skeletal Muscle

There is *in vitro* evidence that GLP-1 exerts a direct effect at the adipocyte. GLP-1 binds to the adipocyte membrane (100; 181) and has been shown to increase intracellular cAMP levels in primary adipose culture (182). In 3T3-L1 adipocytes, GLP-1 increases insulin mediated glucose uptake (88). In this cell line, increased insulin mediated glucose uptake in the presence of GLP-1 results in increased lipid synthesis (88). This is in agreement with experiments in primary cultures of adipocytes in which GLP-1 increased insulin dependent incorporation of radiolabeled acetate into fatty acids (183). Although there is agreement between cell line and primary culture in regard to fatty acid synthesis, there are mixed results when evaluating glycogen synthesis, with increases in primary cultured adipocytes (184), and no effect in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (88). These effects are thought to be mediated through a PI3 kinase/MAPK pathway (185), and are not the result of changing the affinity of insulin for its receptor (88).

The effects of GLP-1 on skeletal muscle have also been explored *in vitro*. It has been determined that GLP-1 binds to rat skeletal muscle, but that binding is not accompanied by changes in AC or cAMP (101; 186). Similar results were found in L6 myotubes exposed to GLP-1; however, when these cells were transfected with the identified GLP-1R, they experience a significant increase in intracellular cAMP (187). This suggests that an unidentified receptor for GLP-1 at the muscle may be mediating its effects. There is some evidence that signaling is occurring via PI3 kinase (188-190); however, these studies have all been conducted in the same laboratory, and others have not been able to confirm these results (191). Muscle tissue exposed to physiological levels of GLP-1 exhibits increased glucose uptake and glycogen storage, due to increased

glycogen synthase activity and decreased glycogen phosphorylase activity (178; 186; 192; 193). Other effects of GLP-1 in muscle include increased glucose oxidation and increased lactate production (186; 192; 193).

*In vivo* studies suggest that GLP-1 serves as an insulin sensitizer throughout the body. GLP-1 has been shown to increase whole body glucose disposal to a greater extent than can be attributed to changes in the insulin level (194). The majority of this increase in uptake has been attributed to increased adipose and skeletal muscle glucose uptake (194). GLP-1 increased whole body glucose uptake in the presence of a hyperglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp in depancreatized dogs (86). Our lab has also shown that GLP-1 increases nonhepatic glucose uptake in the presence of GLP-1 under a hyperglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp (48). Others have found no such effect (195). The studies referenced here delivered GLP-1 via a peripheral infusion, rather than through an intraportal route, which would be a more physiologically relevant route of delivery. The significance of route of GLP-1 delivery will be discussed further in a later section.

At this point, it is difficult to determine if *in vivo* actions of GLP-1 are the result of direct effects on glucose utilization, or if its role in whole body glucose homeostasis is dependent on its enhancement of insulin action. If a direct effect of GLP-1 does exist, it is small and hard to isolate from the other effects of GLP-1. The effect of GLP-1 on whole body glucose utilization discussed in this section focuses on acute elevation of GLP-1 levels. Chronic elevations of GLP-1 have an effect on body weight, which would also influence glucose utilization. Chronic GLP-1 treatment and body weight will be discussed in a later section.

### Cardiovascular Regulation

Changes in circulation play an important role in nutrient delivery, and therefore, the role of GLP-1 in the cardiovascular system may result in changes in glucose utilization. It has been shown that GLP-1 exerts both direct and indirect effects in the cardiovascular system. Pharmacological concentrations of GLP-1 administered intravenously into rats result in significantly increased systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial blood pressure (196; 197). The GLP-1R has been identified in heart tissue and, when activated, the result is increased cAMP levels (198). In addition, GLP-1 decreases pulmonary vascular tone in isolated, perfused lung, indicating a direct effect within the lung (199). Mean arterial blood pressure and heart rate were also increased when GLP-1 was injected into rats via intracerebroventricular administration (197; 200). These effects were most likely initiated at GLP-1R known to exist in the nucleus tractus solitarius, which is a controller of cardiovascular function (199; 201).

Some have suggested that GLP-1 increases glucose uptake by the heart by increasing insulin sensitivity, which in turn improves cardiac function (202; 203). This may explain the benefits observed with chronic GLP-1 treatment of those with impaired cardiac function (204; 205). There is potential for GLP-1 to serve as a therapy to improved cardiovascular function, but its role as a physiological regulator of the cardiovascular system is unresolved. Few *in vivo* studies report indicators of blood flow, making it difficult to address the effects of GLP-1 on cardiac function; however, our lab has reported increases in hepatic and nonhepatic glucose uptake in the presence of physiological GLP-1, without changes in blood flow to the liver (48). This indicates that

GLP-1 effects on whole body glucose utilization are unlikely to be due to changes in cardiovascular function.

### Gastric Emptying and Gut Motility

In the presence of a GLP-1 infusion, the primary GLP-1 effect after a meal appears to be a reduced rate of gastric emptying in both healthy subjects and those with type 2 diabetes (206-209). This is demonstrated with significantly reduced postprandial glucose levels with GLP-1 infusion, when compared to saline infusion, and appropriately elevated insulin levels with the increased glycemia (208; 210). Physiological mechanisms that contribute to this effect include: decreased gastric acid secretion, decreased antral and duodenal contractions, as well as increased pyloric tone (211; 212). In addition, it has been shown that GLP-1 slows nutrient transit through the gut (213). It appears as though the effect of GLP-1 on gastric emptying and gut motility is important for physiological regulation of nutrient utilization, because endogenous plasma GLP-1 levels have a strong negative correlation with gastric emptying after a meal (214).

Slowed gastric emptying induced by elevated GLP-1 levels increases the sensation of fullness, along with decreasing the desire to eat (215). This is most likely attributable to increased stomach distention (216); however, this may not be the direct result of increased stomach content. Injection of GLP-1 and its analogues are known to induce nausea, especially during the first several treatments; therefore, decreased food intake may actually be due to nausea associated with acute treatment of GLP-1 and its mimetics.

### Chronic Effects on Weight

Chronic GLP-1 administration in obese humans results in a significant decrease in body weight (217). Decreases in body weight occur with decreased energy intake, increased energy expenditure, or both. GLP-1 injection or infusion directly results in decreased food intake (218). As mentioned earlier, GLP-1 slows gastric emptying, which results in an increased sense of fullness, which could contribute to a decrease in food intake (215). In addition, those chronically treated with GLP-1 or its mimetics often experience nausea, decreasing the desire to eat, thus resulting in decreased food intake. Although these factors may contribute, it has been shown that intracerebroventricular, but not peripheral, administration of GLP-1 results in decreased food and water intake in rats, suggesting a centrally mediated effect (219; 220). This effect has been shown to be a direct effect on the regulation of energy homeostasis, and separate from the centrally mediated effect of gastric emptying and decreased satiety due to distention (221).

As previously mentioned, GLP-1R have been found throughout the brain (91), with the greatest density in the hypothalamus (222), specifically within the paraventricular and arcuate nucleus (219; 223). The hypothalamus, and in particular the arcuate nucleus, is a key site in the regulation of energy balance (224). GLP-1 stimulates proopiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons in a dose dependent manner (225). POMC neurons are located in the arcuate nucleus, and stimulation results in a significant decrease in food intake and body weight (226; 227). In addition, within the hypothalamus, GLP-1R are found co-localized with both GLUT2 and glucokinase, two proteins which serve the brain as glucose sensors (219; 228). This indicates that GLP-1

activity in the hypothalamus is responsible for the decrease in food intake, and possibly takes part in glucose sensing in the brain.

The other side of the energy balance equation is energy expenditure. There is some evidence that GLP-1 also alters energy expenditure. GLP-1, infused either peripherally or i.c.v., increases basal metabolic rate via a mechanism initiated in the hindbrain, associated with increased heart rate and temperature (229). This is in concordance with increased basal metabolism in mice with elevated circulating GLP-1 levels due to ablation of DPP-IV (230). It has been shown that i.c.v. administration of GLP-1 does not alter rat locomotor activity (220).

Weight loss also been associated with chronic treatment of subcutaneous injections of exenatide, despite the peripheral route of delivery (231); however, this drug is administered at much higher and longer lasting levels than endogenous GLP-1 levels or even pharmacological levels of the peptide. This may result in exenatide actions that are not physiologically relevant; however, using what is known about GLP-1 and chronic weight loss, there could be several explanations for the weight loss. First, this may be the result of decreased food intake due to increased fullness as a result of gastric emptying, or nausea induced by treatment. Second, exenatide may be crossing the blood brain barrier to stimulate the POMC neurons. Third, exenatide may be initiating a central effect by interaction at the area postrema of the brain, which is known to increase neural activation with peripheral GLP-1 infusion (232). Fourth, it may be increasing basal energy expenditure, which has also been shown to be the result of peripheral GLP-1 administration (229).

The effect of GLP-1 on weight loss has been determined with the use of pharmacological doses of the peptide. At this point it is unclear if GLP-1 that is either endogenously produced in the CNS (233) or that which is released from the L cells in the gut contribute to the physiological regulation of energy balance.

### Glucose Utilization Mediated by Intraportal Sensors

When GLP-1 is secreted from the L cell, it enters the circulation that empties into the portal vein. Due to its proximity to the site of secretion, and the rapid degradation of GLP-1, postprandial hepatic portal vein GLP-1 levels are significantly greater than those in the periphery (47). Immunohistochemistry has been used to show that GLP-1R are expressed on vagal afferent neurons that innervate the hepatoportal region (87). Intraportal injection of a physiological concentration of GLP-1 significantly increased afferent discharges from the hepatic branch of the vagus nerve in anesthetized rats (96; 234). This effect was not observed with intraportal injection of GIP (234). These studies indicate that the hepatic portal vein is a potential site of initiation of some of the indirect effects of GLP-1.

As mentioned earlier, the increase in afferent discharges from the hepatic branch of the vagus nerves is accompanied by increases in the efferent impulses in the pancreatic branch of the vagus nerves, an effect which is lost with hepatic vagotomy (96). This indicates that the neural signals, initiated at the hepatic portal vein, could increase signaling the pancreas and thereby participate in the incretin effect. Studies done in rats in the presence of an intraportal glucose infusion showed that GLP-1 delivered either intraportally or peripherally increases insulin secretion; however, this effect was

abolished in those that received GLP-1 intraportally with peripheral administration of a pharmaceutical ganglionic blocker (235). This ablation was not observed with the peripheral administration of GLP-1 (235). This suggests that the incretin effect may be the combination of two effects: 1) a neural reflex, initiated by intraportally delivered GLP-1, 2) direct interaction of GLP-1 at the  $\beta$ -cell.

Others have suggested that intraportal GLP-1 delivery initiates other effects of the peptide. GLP-1<sup>-/-</sup> mice are unable to increase whole body glucose uptake as a result of intraportal glucose infusion in contrast to control animals (236). It has also been shown that intraportal GLP-1 decreases glucose levels, without changing insulin levels in dogs (49; 237). Our lab has shown that when GLP-1 was infused peripherally at a superphysiological GLP-1 level, the peptide increased glucose utilization (48; 177). The super-physiological levels of GLP-1 may have overridden the sensing of an arterial-portal venous GLP-1 gradient or have allowed sufficient GLP-1 to contact the hepato-portal GLP-1 receptors. We have also infused a physiological level of GLP-1 into either a peripheral vein, the hepatic portal vein, or the hepatic artery, with similar increased hepatic glucose uptake in the latter two groups (47). However, these studies were not done in the presence of intraportal glucose delivery (47; 48; 177). It has been suggested that intraportal glucose delivery is necessary to observe the effect of intraportal GLP-1 on whole body glucose utilization (49; 236). Therefore, the physiological importance of intraportal GLP-1 delivery in glucose homeostasis has yet to be fully determined.

# **Specific Aims**

Endogenous secretion of GLP-1 results in physiological elevations of the peptide at varying concentrations throughout the body. After a meal GLP-1 levels in the blood surrounding the L cell are double those in the hepatic portal vein (58), and levels in the hepatic portal vein twice those in the periphery (47). The overlying hypothesis of this thesis is that these specific elevations in GLP-1 level have a role in glucose regulation.

Specific Aim I was to determine if the effects of GLP-1 in the dog are mediated by delivery of the peptide into the hepatic portal vein. Changes in neural firing that occur upon GLP-1 entrance in the hepatic portal vein (96) may initiate portions of the incretin effect, or other glucoregulatory effects that are summarized in Figure 1.4. We evaluated changes in carbohydrate metabolism, due to both direct and indirect effects of GLP-1, *in vivo*. This was done in healthy dogs under conditions of hyperglycemia, with no pancreatic clamp, so hormones could freely respond. Intraportal glucose delivery was administered to mimic postprandial hepatic portal vein glucose levels and peripheral glycemia was maintained by peripheral infusion. We evaluated animals that experienced an elevation in GLP-1 levels that mimicked a postprandial state, induced by an intraportal GLP-1 infusion. This included a two-fold greater GLP-1 level in the hepatic portal vein than in the periphery. Comparisons were then made to animals that experienced an elevation of GLP-1 to match levels observed at the liver and periphery due to administration of the peptide via the hepatic artery. The glucoregulatory response in



**Figure 1.4** The effects of GLP-1 on glucose homeostasis. Solid arrows represent known direct effects and solid neurons represent known neural signaling. Dashed lines represent possible indirect effects resulting from neural signaling.

animals that had elevated GLP-1 levels, due to either intraportal or peripheral infusion, was then compared to animals that only experienced a matched hyperglycemia.

It is well understood that the majority of the acute effects of GLP-1 are glucose dependent. Specific Aim II was designed to determine if the route of glucose delivery, by which glycemia is increased, alters GLP-1 action. GLP-1 is only endogenously released after meals, with no secretion when hyperglycemia is achieved via infusion into a peripheral vein; therefore, under physiological conditions, GLP-1 secretion is always accompanied by glucose elevation in the hepatic portal vein. To determine if a glucose gradient between the hepatic portal vein and arterial blood must exist for GLP-1 to exert the effects that were observed in Specific Aim I, we replicated the conditions of the earlier aim with the exception of the intraportal glucose infusion. Hyperglycemia was maintained only by peripheral glucose infusion alone, and dogs received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. Once again, this intraportal GLP-1 infusion resulted in levels that mimicked those observed postprandially.

GLP-1 possibly exerts its effects on whole body glucose utilization by increasing insulin sensitivity. It had yet to be determined how differences in  $\beta$ -cell glucose sensitivity or whole body insulin sensitivity could affect the actions of a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels. Specific Aim III was to determine if the state of whole body insulin responsiveness or  $\beta$ -cell glucose sensitivity alters the effectiveness of portally delivered GLP-1. To address this issue, we compared the results of Specific Aim I to results obtained in healthy animals that had been fasted for a shorter duration than those used earlier. It is well documented that duration of fast is negatively correlated with insulin sensitivity; therefore, in this aim we used a model of greater insulin sensitivity to

evaluate the effects of GLP-1. Glycemic levels were elevated by a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose infusions and accompanied by an intraportal infusion of either GLP-1 or saline.

Specific Aim IV was to determine if endogenously released GLP-1 has any impact on postprandial glucose disposal in the dog. Although intraportal GLP-1 infusion does mimic the entrance of GLP-1 into the circulation, it does not replicate its secretion from the gut where it may enter the lymph or interact with nerve endings close to the site of secretion. As previously mentioned, upon release by the L cell, GLP-1 enters both the intestinal lymph system and portal circulation, with total levels of GLP-1 being approximately 5-6 times greater in the former than the latter (52). This presents the possibility that GLP-1 may be initiating indirect effects upstream of the portal circulation via neural activation. To execute this aim we studied healthy dogs and an additional subset of insulin resistant dogs, twice each. The animals received either a peripheral saline or exendin (9-39) infusion in random order. During both studies they received an orally delivered meal consisting of carbohydrate, fat, and protein. This allowed for the observation of any GLP-1 effects that may be mediated throughout the body, including close to the site of secretion.

# **CHAPTER II**

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Animal Care and Surgical Procedures**

Studies were carried out in conscious mongrel dogs of either sex. Sixty-three animals (18-27 kg) were maintained on a diet of meat (Kal Kan, Vernon, CA) and chow (Purina Lab Canine Diet No. 5006; Purina Mills, St. Louis, MO) composed of 34% protein, 14.5% fat, 46% carbohydrate, and 5.5% fiber based on dry weight. Three additional animals (29-35 kg) were maintained on a high-fat/high-fructose chow diet composed of 22% protein, 52% fat, 26% carbohydrate (over half of which is fructose). Water was available for all animals *ad libitum*. The animals were housed in a facility which met American Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care guidelines, and the protocol was approved by the Vanderbilt University Medical Center Animal Care Committee.

Approximately 16 days before experimentation, surgery was performed on the sixty-three animals (that received normal meat and chow) while under general anesthesia. Anesthesia was induced with propofol (given until induction) preceded by buprenorphine HCl (0.02 mg/kg, presurgery) 30 min earlier. Anesthesia was maintained by isoflurane (1.5-2.0% with oxygen) inhalation. The dog was placed in a supine position on a surgical table with an 8.5 mm inner diameter (ID) endotracheal tube (Concord/Protex, Kenee, NH), and ventilated with a tidal volume of 400 ml at 14 breaths per minute.

A laparotomy was performed by making a midline incision 1.5 cm caudal to the xyphoid process through the skin, subcutaneous layers and linea alba, and extending caudally 15-20 cm. For intraportal infusion of GLP-1, saline, and glucose (Specific Aims I, II, III), silastic infusion catheters (0.03 in ID; HelixMedical, Carpintera, CA) were placed in the following manner: A portion of the jejunum was exposed and a branch of a jejunal vein was selected for cannulation. A small section of the vessel was exposed by blunt dissection and ligated with 4-0 silk (Ethicon, Inc, Sommerville, NJ). A silastic infusion catheter was inserted into the vessel through a small incision and passed antegrade until the tip of the catheter lay approximately 1 cm proximal to the coalescence of two jejunal veins. Another silastic catheter was inserted into a distal branch of the splenic vein and advanced until the tip of the catheter lay 1 cm beyond the bifurcation of the main splenic vein. Catheters were secured in place with 4-0 silk. For GLP-1 infusion into the hepatic artery (Specific Aim I), a silastic infusion catheter (0.03 in ID; HelixMedical, Carpintera, CA) was inserted antegrade 3-4 cm into a hole created by an 18 gauge needle in the common hepatic artery. The catheter was secured with a purse string suture with using 5-0 polyester.

For blood sampling, silastic catheters (0.04 in ID) were placed into the left hepatic vein, the hepatic portal vein, left femoral artery, and the common iliac vein. The central and left lateral lobes of the liver were retracted cephalically and caudally, respectively. The left common hepatic vein and the left branch of the portal vein were exposed. A 14gauge angiocath (Benton Dickinson Vascular Access, Sandy, UT) was inserted in the left branch of the portal vein 2 cm from the central liver lobe. A silastic catheter (0.04 in ID) for blood sampling was inserted into the hole created by the angiocath, advanced

retrograde about 4 cm into the portal vein so that the tip of the catheter lay 1 cm beyond the bifurcation of the main portal vein, and secured with three ties of 4-0 silk through the adventitia of the vessel and around the catheter. An angiocath was inserted into the left common hepatic vein 2 cm from its exit from the left lateral lobe. A silastic sampling catheter was inserted into the hole and passed antegrade 2 cm and secured into place with three ties of 4-0 silk suture.

Arterial blood was sampled from the left femoral artery, while venous blood for hindlimb balance in (Specific Aim IV) was sampled from the right iliac vein of three animals. The arterial sampling catheter was inserted into the left femoral artery following a cut-down in the left inguinal region. A 2 cm incision was made parallel to the vessel. The femoral artery was isolated and ligated distally. A silastic sampling catheter (0.04 in ID) was inserted and advanced 16 cm in order to place the tip of the catheter in the abdominal aorta. Exposure of the right proximal caudal femoral vein was achieved by blunt dissection, and the vessel was ligated distally. A silastic sampling catheter (0.03 in ID) was inserted and advanced into the common iliac vein and secured to the proximal caudal vein with 4-0 silk suture.

All catheters were filled with saline (Baxter Healthcare Corp, Deerfield, IL) containing 200 U/ml heparin (Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL) and knotted. Abdominal catheters were secured to the abdominal wall and placed in a subcutaneous pocket prior to closure of the skin. The arterial and iliac venous sampling catheters were also placed in a subcutaneous pocket prior to closure of the skin.

Ultrasonic flow probes (Transonic System Inc, Ithaca, NY) were positioned around the hepatic artery and portal vein, to determine liver blood flow, and the external

iliac artery, to determine hindlimb blood flow. The duodenum was laterally retracted to expose a section of the hepatic artery and portal vein. A small section of the portal vein was exposed by blunt dissection taking care not to disturb the nerve bundle located on the vessel. A 6 or 8 mm ID ultrasonic flow probe (Transonic Systems Inc, Ithaca, NY) was placed around the vessel. A small portion of the common hepatic artery was also carefully exposed and a 3 mm ID ultrasonic flow probe was secured around the vessel. The gastroduodenal vein was isolated and ligated to prevent blood from entering the portal vein beyond the site of the flow probe. Blood that would normally flow through the gastroduodenal vein was shunted through the caudal pancreatoduodenal vein draining the tail of the pancreas. A 4 mm ID flow probe was positioned on the external iliac artery. The ultrasonic flow probe leads were positioned in the abdominal cavity and secured with the ends of the catheters to the abdominal wall.

Two of the three animals that had been maintained on a high-fat/high-fructose diet received a partial pancreatectomy under general anesthesia, as described above. Following a midline incision and exposure to the abdominal viscera, the duodenum was retracted upwards and the pancreatico-duodenal vein and artery was isolated. The right lobe of the pancreas was isolated from the mesentery and transected using a surgical stapling device at the union of the right lobe caudal extremity and the distal duodenum. The previously isolated pancreatico-duodenal artery and vein were ligated and transected and the right lobe removed. Attention was directed to the left (splenic) lobe. The pancreatico-splenic veins and arteries were isolated and the left lobe was transected at the union with the pylorus. The mesenteric connections were transected. The arteries and veins were then cut and the left lobe removed. This resulted in removal of approximately

two-thirds of total pancreatic tissue. Hemostasis was controlled by electrocautery and/or vessel ligation with 4-0 silk suture.

After all abdominal surgeries, the subcutaneous layer was closed with a continuous suture of 2-0 chromic gut (Ethicon, Inc.). The skin was closed with horizontal mattress sutures of 3-0 Dermalon (Ethicon, Inc.). Immediately following surgery, the dogs received an intramuscular injection of penicillin G (10<sup>6</sup> U, Procaine; Anthony Products, Irwindale, CA) to minimize the possibility of infection. In addition, Flunixin (Meglumine 50mg/ml; Phoenix Scientific, Inc., St. Joseph, MO) was injected intramuscularly (1 mg/kg body weight) after wound closure for acute pain relief. Animals awoke from surgery within 2 h, were active, and ate normally approximately 8 h after surgery. Post-operatively, each dog also received 500 mg ampicillin (Principen; Bristol-Myers Squibb, Princeton, NJ) orally twice a day for 3 days.

All dogs studied had: 1) leukocyte count <18,000/mm<sup>3</sup>, 2) a hematocrit >35%, 3) a good appetite, and 4) normal stools at the time of study. On the day of the experiment, the free ends of the catheters and ultrasonic leads were removed from their subcutaneous pockets under local anesthesia (2% lidocaine; Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL). The contents of each catheter were aspirated, and they were flushed with saline. Blunt needles (18 gauge; Monoject, St. Louis, MO) were inserted into the catheter ends and stopcocks (Medex, Inc, Hilliard, OH) were attached to prevent the backflow of blood between sampling times.

Twenty gauge Angiocaths (Beckton Dickson) were inserted percutaneously into the left and right cephalic veins and into a saphenous vein for the infusion of tracers (Specific Aim I), dye (Specific Aim I, II, III), glucose (Specific Aims I, II, III) or exendin

9-39 (Specific Aim IV). Blood samples from animals maintained on a high-fat/highfructose diet were conducted by deep venous sampling catheters placed in cephalic and/or saphenous veins. A continuous infusion of heparinized saline was started via the femoral artery, iliac vein, and deep venous sampling catheters. Animals were allowed to rest quietly in a Pavlov harness for at least 40 min before the start of the experiment.

In normal animals that were to be re-studied (Specific Aim IV): at the end of the experiment, anesthesia was induced with propofol and maintained with isoflurane (1.5-2.0% with oxygen), as described above. Catheters and ultrasonic flow probe leads, along with incisions, were washed and aseptically cleansed (3 times) with betadine/alcohol solution. Catheters were filled with a sterile mixture of heparin and glycerin (1000 U/ml in a 1:1 ratio). Their free ends were knotted, and along with the probe leads, were replaced in the subcutaneous pocket. Wound closure was performed as described above.

#### **Experimental Design**

### Specific Aim I

Specific Aim I was to determine what actions of GLP-1 in the dog are mediated by delivery of the peptide into the hepatic portal vein.

Dogs were fasted for 42 h. This length of fast produces a metabolic state more closely resembling that in the overnight-fasted human (the dog takes much longer to absorb a meal) and results in liver glycogen levels that are at a stable minimum in the dog (238). The protocol consisted of a 100-min equilibration period (-140 to -40 min), 40min basal sampling period (-40 to 0 min) and a 240-min experimental period (0 to 240 min). At t= -140, a continuous infusion of indocyanine green dye (0.076 mg/min; Sigma

Chemical, St. Louis, MO) used as a back-up method for hepatic blood flow measurement, along with a primed (30  $\mu$ Ci) continuous infusion of [3-<sup>3</sup>H] glucose was started. At t=0, an intraportal glucose infusion (4 mg/kg/min) was started to activate the portal signal (239), in addition a peripheral glucose infusion (variable rate) was started to maintain the arterial plasma glucose level at 160 mg/dl. Also at t=0, an intraportal saline infusion was started in the CON group (n=8), an intraportal GLP-1 (7-36) infusion (1 pmol/kg/min; Bachem Biosciences, King of Prussia, PA) was started in the POR group (n=11) and a hepatic artery infusion of GLP-1 (7-36) (1 pmol/kg/min; Bachem Biosciences) was started in the HAT group (n=8). Pancreatic hormones were not clamped. This GLP-1 infusion rate creates plasma GLP-1 levels observed in the portal vein and arterial plasma after an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) in the dog (47). They are similar to a human's GLP-1 levels in response to an OGTT (43).

# Specific Aim II

Specific Aim II was designed to determine if the route of glucose delivery alters GLP-1 action during hypgerglycemia.

Dogs were fasted for 42 h. The protocol consisted of a 100-min equilibration period (-140 to -40 min), a 40-min basal sampling period (-40 to 0 min) and a 240-min experimental period (0 to 240 min). At t= -140 min, a continuous infusion of indocyanine green dye (0.076 mg/min) was started. At t=0, a peripheral glucose infusion through a leg vein was started to achieve and maintain an arterial plasma glucose clamp at 160 mg/dl during in the experimental period (0 to 240 min). Also starting at t=0, animals received an intraportal infusion of either saline (SAL, n=6) or GLP-1(1 pmol/kg/min; GLP-1, n=6). Pancreatic hormones were not clamped. Analysis of this group includes comparison to the intraportal saline and GLP-1 infusion groups from Aim I, in which an intraportal glucose infusion was present.

# Specific Aim III

Specific Aim III was to determine if the state of whole body insulin responsiveness or  $\beta$ -cell glucose sensitivity alters the effectiveness of portally delivered GLP-1.

Dogs were fasted for 18 h, a shorter duration than in the previous protocols in order to improve whole body insulin responsiveness and  $\beta$ -cell glucose sensitivity. The protocol consisted of a 100-min equilibration period (-140 to -40 min), and 40-min basal sampling period (-40 to 0 min) and a 240-min experimental period (0 to 240 min). At t= -140, a continuous infusion of indocyanine green dye (0.076 mg/min) was started. At t=0, an intraportal glucose infusion (4 mg/kg/min), in addition to a peripheral glucose infusion (variable rate) to maintain a peripheral arterial plasma glucose clamp at 160 mg/dl, were started. Also starting at t=0, animals received an intraportal infusion of either saline (SAL, n=8) or GLP-1(1 pmol/kg/min; GLP-1, n=8). Pancreatic hormones were not clamped. Analysis of this group includes comparison to the intraportal saline and GLP-1 infusion groups from Aim I, which were fasted for 42 h.

### Specific Aim IV

Specific Aim IV was to determine if endogenously released GLP-1 has any impact on postprandial glucose disposal in the dog.

Normal dogs (n=8) and insulin resistant dogs (n=3) were each studied twice, with a minimum of a one week interval separating experiments. After an 18-hour fast, the dogs underwent a 40-min acclimation period (-60 to -20 min), a 20 minute basal sampling period (-20 to 0 min), followed by a 320-min experimental period (0 to 320 min). At t=0, a peripheral infusion of saline or the GLP-1R antagonist exenatide (9-39) (500 pmol/kg/min) was started. Treatment and control studies were conducted in a random order. At t=30, all dogs received an orally administered liquid mixed meal consisting of 480 calories [63% carbohydrate (glucose polymer), 17% protein (whey), 20% fat (microlipid)], spiked with acetaminophen (500 mg), to quantify gastric empting.

#### **Collection and Processing of Samples**

Blood samples were drawn from the femoral artery and portal, hepatic, and iliac veins in normal dogs, and deep venous samples were drawn from the insulin resistant dogs (Specific Aim IV), at the predetermined time points. Additionally, whenever the experimental design required a glucose clamp (Specific Aims I, II, III), small (~0.5 ml) arterial samples were drawn every 5 min to facilitate maintenance of the plasma glucose concentration. Before samples were taken, the sampling catheter was cleared by withdrawing 5 ml of blood into a syringe. After sampling, this blood was re-infused and the catheter was flushed with heparinized saline (1 U/ml; Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, II). The total volume of blood withdrawn did not exceed 20% of the animal's

blood volume, and two volumes of normal saline (0.9% sodium chloride; Baxter Healthcare Co., Deerfield, II) were given for each volume of blood withdrawn. No significant decrease in hematocrit occurred throughout duration of study.

Before the experiment started, an arterial blood sample was drawn and centrifuged (3000 rpm for 7 min). The plasma from this blood sample was used to prepare a 3% plasma/saline solution in which the GLP-1 (Specific Aims I, II, III) or exendin (9-39) (Specific Aim IV) were diluted. In addition, this plasma was used for the indocyanine green standard curve. When samples were taken from all vessels, the arterial and portal blood samples were collected simultaneously ~30 s before the collection of the hepatic and iliac venous samples in an attempt to compensate for the transit time through the liver and muscle, and thus allow for the most accurate estimates of net substrate balance.

After the final sampling point, anesthesia was induced with propofol (given until induction) in animals that awaited a repeat study (Specific Aim IV), and catheters were re-tucked as described above. Otherwise, normal animals were euthanized with pentobarbital (125 mg/kg). Insulin resistant animals had the deep venous sampling catheter removed, and were returned to the housing facility.

Immediately following each sample collection, the blood was processed. A 20 µl aliquot of arterial whole blood was used for the immediate duplicate measurement of hematocrit using capillary tubes (0.4 mm ID; Drummond Scientific Co., Broomall, PA). The remaining blood was placed into tubes containing potassium ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA, 1.6 mg/ml; Sarsdedt, Newton, NC), inverted and gently mixed. One ml of whole blood was removed from the above tube and lysed with 3

ml of 4% perchloric acid (PCA; Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, New Jersey). The solution was vortexed, centrifuged, and the supernatant was stored for later determination of whole-blood metabolites (alanine,  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate, glycerol, and lactate). Another 1 ml aliquot was taken placed in a tube with 10 µl of DPP-IV inhibitor (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO) to ensure the integrity of the GLP-1. This aliquot was then centrifuged, and the supernatant was stored on dry ice for later determination of plasma GLP-1 levels. The remainder of the blood was centrifuged at 3000 rpm at 4° C to obtain plasma.

Four 10 µl aliquots of plasma were immediately analyzed for glucose using the glucose oxidase method with a Beckman glucose analyzer (Beckman Instruments, Fullerton, CA). A 1 ml aliquot of plasma received 50 µl of 10,000 KIU/ml Trasylol (FBA Pharmaceuticals, New York, NY) and was stored for analysis of glucagon and C-peptide. A 500 µl aliquot of plasma received 10 µl of tetrahydrolipostatin (3g/L) and was stored for analysis of non-esterified free fatty acids (FFA). The remainder of the plasma was used for analysis of [3-<sup>3</sup>H] glucose (Specific Aim I), insulin, indocyanine green (Specific Aims I, II, III), and acetaminophen (Specific Aim IV). After each sample was processed, it remained on wet ice for the remainder of the experiment and was then stored at -70° C until analysis was performed.

# **Sample Analysis**

### Plasma Glucose

Plasma glucose concentrations were determined by the glucose oxidase method (240) using a Beckman glucose analyzer (Beckman Instruments, Fullerton, CA). The reaction sequence was as follows:

gl β-D-glucose + O <sub>2</sub>	$\frac{1}{2} \cos \theta = \frac{1}{2} \cos \theta = $	)
$H_2O_2$ + ethanol	atalase > acetaldehyde + H <sub>2</sub> O (2	)
n	olybdate	

molybdate  $H_2O_2 + 2H^+ + 2I^- ----> I_2 + H_2O$  (3)

The glucose concentration is proportional to the rate of oxygen consumption. The plasma glucose concentration in a sample (10  $\mu$ l) is determined by comparison of the oxygen consumption in the samples with the rate of oxygen consumption by a standard solution (150 mg/dl). There is no end-product inhibition of the process, as reactions 2 & 3 remove all of the hydrogen peroxide. Thus virtually all of the glucose in the sample is consumed. Plasma glucose was measured 4 times at each sampling time point for each vessel and a minimum of 2 times for samples drawn to clamp glucose. The glucose analyzer is accurate to 450 mg/dl. In glucose balance calculations, plasma glucose levels were converted to whole blood values using a previously determined correction factor, which assumes blood glucose to be 73% of the plasma glucose values (241).

# Plasma [3-<sup>3</sup>H] glucose

For assessment of plasma  $[3-{}^{3}H]$  glucose (Specific Aim I), samples were deproteinized according to the method of Somogyi-Nelson (242-244). Immediately following each experiment 1 ml aliquots of plasma were mixed with 5 ml of 0.067 N Ba(OH)<sub>2</sub> and 5 ml of 0.067 N ZnSO<sub>2</sub> (Sigma Chemical). For 1-3 days, these samples were kept at 4°C, after which they were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 20 min. A 5 ml aliquot of the supernatant was pipetted into a glass scintillation vial and placed in a heated vacuum oven to evaporate  ${}^{3}H_{2}O$ . The residue was reconstituted in 1 ml of

deionized water and 10 ml liquid scintillation fluid (EcoLite (+); Research Product Division, Costa Mesa, CA), and placed in Beckman LS 9000 Liquid Scintillation Counter (Beckman Instruments Inc, Irvine, CA) for counting. The scintillation counter was programmed so that the processor corrected the counts per minute (cpm) for quenching of the radioactivity in the sample and presented the results as disintegrations per minute (dpm).

To assess the loss of radioactive glucose during the deproteinization process, a recovery standard was prepared. The  $[3-{}^{3}H]$ glucose infusate was diluted 1:250 (vol:vol) with saturated benzoic acid containing 1 mg/ml cold glucose. Six 1 ml aliquots of this diluted <sup>3</sup>H infusate were placed into 2 sets of glass scintillation vials labeled as chemical standard evaporated (CSE) or chemical standard (CS); therefore CSE and CS were measured in triplicate. The diluted infusate aliquots in the CSE vials were evaporated to dryness (with plasma samples) in a heated vacuum oven and reconstituted with 1 ml deionized water. The diluted infusate aliquots in the CS were not evaporated. Scintillation fluid (10 ml) was added to all standard vials and the standards were counted. Three additional 1 ml aliquots of diluted <sup>3</sup>H infusate were treated identical to the plasma samples and labeled chemical recovery standard (CRS). Comparison of the CS and CSE provided an evaluation of the loss of <sup>3</sup>H counts in the evaporation process. The final amount of radioactivity per sample was determined by generating a recovery factor (ratio of radioactivity in the CSE compared to CRS) which accounted for the radioactivity lost during sample processing.

#### **Metabolites**

Whole blood concentrations of alanine, b-hydroxybutyrate, glycerol, and lactate were determined using the methods developed by Lloyd *et al.* (245) for the Technicon Autoanalyzer (Tarrytown, NY) and were modified for the Packard Multi Probe Robotic Liquid Handling System (Perkin Elmer; Shelton, CT). Enzymes and coenzymes for metabolic analyses were obtained from Boehringer-Mannheim Biochemicals (Germany) and Sigma Chemicals. The reduced form (NADH) has a native fluorescence, which is not exhibited in the oxidized form. Excess amounts of NAD and enzyme/coenzyme are added to the metabolite samples. NAD is reduced to NADH upon oxidation of the metabolite. A fluorometer incorporated in the system detects changes in fluorescence resulting from changes in NADH concentration; therefore, the concentration of the metabolite present is proportional to the NADH produced.

Metabolites were measured in the PCA-treated blood samples as described above. A standard curve was constructed for each metabolite using known concentrations of the analyte prepared in 3% PCA. The Packard Multi Probe Robotic Liquid Handling System pipettes the sample into one well of the 96-well plate. After an initial absorbance is read, the Packard Multi Probe Robotic Liquid Handling System pipettes enzyme solution into each well and shakes the plate to mix sample and enzyme. The reaction proceeds and after an allotted time, the change in absorbance is determined. All assay reactions are reversible, with the exception of glycerol kinase. The NAD and enzyme are in excess compared to the substrate, thus the reactions are essentially taken to completion and the rate-limiting component is the substrate; therefore, all reactions below are written with a single direction arrow. All reactions are carried out at 23°C.

### Alanine

The alanine assay involved the reaction:

alanine dehydrogenase L-alanine +  $NAD^{+} + H_2O$  -----> Pyruvate +  $NADH + NH_4^{+}$  (4)

The enzyme buffer used was 0.05 M trizma base, 2 mM EDTA and 1 mM hydrazine hydrate, pH 10. To 10 ml of enzyme buffer, 4.6 mg of NAD and 3.4 Units (U) of alanine dehydrogenase were added.

# <u>**B-hydroxybutyrate**</u>

The β-hydroxybutyrate analysis involved the following reaction:

 $\label{eq:b-hydroxybutyrate} 3-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase \\ \ensuremath{\beta}\-hydroxybutyrate + NAD^+ -----> acetoacteate + NADH + H^+(5)$ 

The enzyme buffer was 0.2 M monopotassium phosphate, 3 mM EDTA and 1 mM hydrazine hydrate, pH 8.5. To 10 ml of enzyme buffer, 12 mg NAD and 2.1 U β-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase were added.

# <u>Glycerol</u>

The glycerol assay involved the following reactions:
glycerokinase glycerol + ATP -----> glycerol-l-phosphate + ADP (6)

glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase L-glycerol-l-phosphate + NAD<sup>+</sup> ----> dihydroxyacetone phosphate + NADH +  $H^+$  (7)

The enzyme buffer was 0.09 M glycine, 1 mM hydrazine, and 0.01 M MgC1<sub>2</sub>, pH 9.5. To 10 ml of the enzyme buffer, 15.4 g NAD, 15.4 mg ATP, 0.3 U glycerokinase, and 0.6 U glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase were added.

## Lactate

The lactate assay involved the following reaction:

lactate dehydrogenase lactate + NAD<sup>+</sup> -----> pyruvate + NADH + H<sup>+</sup> (8)

The enzyme buffer used was 0.24 M glycine and 0.25 M of hydrazine dihydrochloride and 7 mM disodium EDTA, pH 9.6. To 10 ml of enzyme buffer, 4.6 mg NAD and 0.1 U lactate dehydrogenase were added.

## Plasma Free Fatty Acids (FFAs)

Plasma FFA levels were determined spectrophotometrically using the Packard Multi Probe Robotic Liquid Handling System and a kit obtained from Wako Chemicals (Richmond, VA). This assay was performed at 37°C. The following reactions were used in the analysis:

acyl-CoA synthetase	
FFA + ATP + CoA> acyl-CoA + AMP + PPi	(9)
acyl-CoA oxidase acyl-CoA + $0_2$ > 2,3-trans-enoyl-CoA + $H_20_2$	(10)
$2H_2O_2 + 3$ methyl-N-ethyl-N-( $\beta$ -hydroxyethyl)-aniline + 4-aminoantipyr	peroxidase rine>
purple color adduct	(11)
The purple colored adduct is measured at an optical density of 550 nm a	and is proportional
to the FFA concentration in the sample. The FFA values are then obtain	ed from a

## Plasma Hormones

calibration curve with known amounts of oleic acid.

The plasma hormone levels of insulin, glucagon, and C-peptide were measured using radioimmunoassay (RIA) techniques (246). In general, a sample containing an unknown amount of hormone was incubated with an antibody specific for that hormone. A known amount of radiolabeled hormone was added to the mixture to compete with the antibody binding sites. A double antibody procedure which caused precipitation of the bound complex was used to separate unbound hormone from the antibody-hormone complexes. The radioactivity of the precipitate was measured via a Cobra II Gamma Counter (Packard Instrument Co., Meriden, CT). Binding of the radiolabeled hormone is inversely proportional to the amount of unlabeled hormone present, and a standard curve was constructed using known concentrations of unlabelled hormone.

Insulin

Immunoreactive plasma insulin was measured using a double-antibody RIA procedure (7). A 100  $\mu$ l aliquot of the plasma sample, 200  $\mu$ l of <sup>125</sup>I-labled insulin, and 100 ml of guinea pig specific antibody to insulin (both from Linco Research, Inc., St. Charles, MO.) were mixed and incubated for 18 h at 4°C. The sample was then treated with 100  $\mu$ l goat anti-guinea pig IgG (2<sup>nd</sup> antibody) and 100  $\mu$ l IgG carrier and incubated for 30 min at 4°C. One ml of a wash buffer was added and the tubes were centrifuged at 3000 rpm. The samples were decanted and the portion of total radioactivity bound to the antibody (pellet) was counted in a Cobra II Gamma Counter (Packard Instrument Co, Meriden, CT).

The log of the amount of hormone in the sample was inversely proportional to the log (bound label/free label). The insulin concentration in each sample was determined by comparison to a standard curve constructed using known amounts of unlabeled hormone. The samples were corrected for non-specific binding. The sample detection range was 1-150  $\mu$ U/ml. The specificity of the antibody is 100% to porcine, canine, and human insulin, but also cross reacts with bovine insulin (90%), human proinsulin (38%), and the split proinsulin products Des 31,32 (47%) and Des 64,65 (72%). In general, less than 15% of the basal insulin level is due to non-insulin cross reactivity (mainly the split proinsulin products Des 31,32 and Des 64,65). There is no cross reactivity to glucagon, pancreatic polypeptide, C-peptide, or somatostatin. The recovery for the assay was between 90-100% based on spiking the sample with known amounts of insulin, and the interassay CV was approximately 7-8% for the entire range of the dose response curve.

### Glucagon

Immunoreactive plasma glucagon was also measured using a double antibody RIA (Linco Research, Inc., St. Charles, MO) (247). The protocol utilized primary and secondary antibodies specific for glucagon (kit with glucagon antibodies and <sup>125</sup>I tracers from Linco). A 100  $\mu$ l aliquot of the plasma sample and 100  $\mu$ l of guinea pig specific antibody to glucagon were mixed and incubated for 24 hours at 4°C. Next, 100  $\mu$ l of <sup>125</sup>Ilabeled glucagon was added and the solution was incubated for an additional 24 h at 4°C. The samples were then treated with 100  $\mu$ l goat anti-guinea pig IgG (2nd antibody) and 100  $\mu$ l IgG carrier and incubated for 2 hours at 4°C. One ml of a wash buffer was added and the tubes were centrifuged at 3000 rpm. The samples were decanted and the portion of total radioactivity bound to the antibody (pellet) was counted in a Cobra II Gamma Counter.

The log of the amount of hormone in the sample was inversely proportional to the log (bound label/free label). The glucagon concentration in each sample was determined by comparison to a standard curve constructed using known amounts of unlabeled hormone. The samples were corrected for non-specific binding, and the sample detection range was 20-400 pg/ml. The antibody is 100% specific to glucagon with only slight (0.01 %) cross reactivity to oxyntomodulin, and no cross reactivity with human insulin, human proinsulin, human C-peptide, glucagon-like petide-1, somatostatin, or pancreatic polypeptide. A cross-reacting protein reads in this assay and results in a glucagon free sample reading of 15-20 pg/ml above the actual glucagon level. This represents a stable, constant background in all samples. The recovery for the assay was between 80-109%

based on spiking the sample with known amounts of glucagon, and the interassay CV was approximately 6-10% for the entire dose response curve.

# <u>C-peptide</u>

Canine C-peptide was also measured using a double antibody disequilibrium procedure similar to that used for glucagon (248). Kits containing canine C-peptide antibody and <sup>125</sup>I tracer were obtained from Linco Research. A 100 µl aliquot of the plasma sample and 100 µl of guinea pig-specific antibody to canine C-peptide were mixed and incubated for 24 h at 4°C. Then 100 µl of <sup>125</sup>I-labled canine C-peptide was added and incubated for an additional 24 h at 4°C. The sample was then incubated with 1 ml of precipitating agent containing guinea pig IgG antibody and carrier for 30 min at 4°C. Tubes were centrifuged, decanted, and the portion of total radioactivity bound to the antibody (pellet) was counted in a Cobra II Gamma Counter.

The log of the amount of hormone in the sample was inversely proportional to the log (bound label/free label). The C-peptide concentration in each sample was determined by comparison to standards dissolved in plasma using known amounts of unlabeled hormone. Dog plasma was treated with charcoal (1% w:v) to remove immunoreactive contaminants. Samples were corrected for non-specific binding. The sample detection range was 0.1-10 ng/ml. The antibody is 100% specific for canine C-peptide with no cross-reactivity to rat C-peptide, human C-peptide, human proinsulin, bovine proinsulin, porcine proinsulin, or glucagon. The recovery of the assay was approximately 90%.

## Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1)

Plasma GLP-1 levels were determined using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Linco Research, Inc.). A 100 µl aliquot of plasma (pretreated as described in *Collection and Processing of Samples*) and 100 µl of assay buffer were manually pipetted into a well, of a 96-well plate, bound with monoclonal antibodies specific to the N-terminal region of active GLP-1 molecules, and incubated at 4°C, overnight. After a series of washes, 200 µl of anti-GLP-1 alkaline phosphatase detection conjugate was added to the well and incubated for 2 h at room temperature. After a second series of washes, 200 ml of methyl umbelliferyl phosphate (MUP) was added and incubated in the dark for 25 min at room temperature. MUP, in the presence of alkaline phosphatase, forms the fluorescent product umbelliferone. This reaction was stopped with 50 µl of stop buffer. Immediately after stop solution was added, excitation/emission wavelength was read at 365/450 nm on a fluorescence plate reader (Packard Fusion, PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA).

All samples are pipetted in duplicate, and read by the plate reader three times. The amount of fluorescence generated is directly proportional to the concentration of active GLP-1 in the sample. Quantification of the GLP-1 level in the plasma sample is derived from a standard curve run on the same plate as the samples. This assay is highly specific for active forms of GLP-1 [GLP-1 (7-36) amide and GLP-1 (7-37)], with no cross-reactivity to other forms of GLP-1 (e.g., 1-36 amide, 1-37, 9-36 amide, 9-37). This assay is reliable in a range of 2-100 pM.

### Acetaminophen

Arterial plasma acetaminophen levels were determined using a modified protocol designed for high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (249). A 500 ml aliquot of plasma was spiked with 20  $\mu$ l of 2-acetaminophenol (40  $\mu$ g/ml) to serve as an internal standard (250). Equal volumes of spiked plasma, 0.3 N barium hydroxide, and 0.3 N zinc sulfate were mixed and incubated on ice for 5 min. The sample was then spun at 4°C at 3000 rpm for 10 min. The decanted supernatant was dried using vacuum centrifugation (Speedvac Concentrator, Savant SVC 200H, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). The sample was then reconstituted with 200  $\mu$ l of a 10% methanol/water solution (v:v).

A 50 µl aliquot was injected for delivery into the HPLC column (uBondapak C18 3.9X30 w/guard), at a temperature of 45°C. The mobile phase A (5% methanol/water, v:v) and B (15% methanol/water, v:v) were set at a combined flow rate of 0.4 ml/min for the entire duration of assay. With the profile curve indicating the type of transition from one setting to the next, the gradient for the mobile phase was set as follows: initial setting at 100% A, 0 profile curve; t=4 min at 100% A, 11 profile curve; t=20 min at 75% A, 25% B, 6 profile curve; t=30 min at 100% B, 7 profile curve; t=40 min at 100% A, 11 profile curve; t=40 min at 100% A, 11 profile curve. Total run time of 64 min, with an 18 min acquisition delay. Fluorescence was measured with variable wavelength UV detector (Waters 481, Millipore, Billerica, MA) set at 240 nm at 0.5 AUFS.

Peak area as identified by the ESA 500 Chromatograph and data station are representative of acetaminophen concentration. Peak area increases in a linear fashion, proportional to acetaminophen concentration; therefore, sample concentration is determined as a ratio of acetaminophen peak area in the sample to internal standard peak

area. This assay has been confirmed to be accurate up to concentrations of 40  $\mu$ g/ml. CV for assay was 4%.

#### Blood Flow

Blood flow in the hepatic artery, hepatic portal vein blood, and common iliac vein were determined using ultrasonic flow probes implanted during surgery (as described in *Animal Care and Surgical Procedures*). Total hepatic blood flow (the sum of blood flow in the hepatic artery and the hepatic portal vein) was also assessed using the indocyanine green (ICG) dye method (Specific Aims I, II, III), according to Leevy *et al.* (251). The results presented in this document were calculated using ultrasonic determined flow, as this method allows for the direct measurement of blood flow in the hepatic artery and hepatic portal vein, whereas the ICG dye method requires an assumption of the percent contribution of each vessel to total hepatic blood flow. ICG-determined flow was used as a backup measurement in the case of ultrasonic flow probe failure; however, the same conclusions were drawn regardless of method used to calculate the data.

Ultrasonic flow measurements represented instantaneous variations in velocity and, therefore, provided blood flow in individual vessels of interest. Each probe determined the mean transit time of an ultrasonic signal passed back and forth between two transducers within a probe which were located upstream and downstream of the direction of blood flow in the vessel. The transducers are made of piezoelectric material which is capable of both receiving and transmitting the ultrasonic signal. The downstream transducer first emits an ultrasonic pulse into the blood vessel that is received upstream by a second transducer. After the upstream transducer receives the

ultrasonic signal, it reemits the ultrasonic pulse signal back to the downstream transducer. The transit time of each ultrasonic beam, as measured by the upstream and downstream transducers ( $\Delta T_{up}$  and  $\Delta T_{down}$ , respectively), is defined by the following relationships:

$$\Delta T_{up} = D / (v_o - v_x) \tag{12}$$

$$\Delta T_{\rm down} = D / (v_{\rm o} + v_{\rm x}) \tag{13}$$

where D is the distance traveled by the ultrasonic beam within the acoustic window of the probe,  $v_0$  is the phase velocity, or the speed of sound, in blood, and  $v_x$  is the component of fluid velocity that is parallel or antiparallel to the phase velocity. The parallel component augments the phase velocity when the signal is traveling in the same direction of blood flow, while the antiparallel component subtracts from phase velocity if the ultrasonic signal is moving against the flow of blood in the vessel. Combining the two expressions for transit time yields the following equation:

$$\Delta T_{up} - \Delta T_{down} = [D / (v_o - v_x)] - [D / (v_o + v_x)]$$
(14)

The transit times measured by both transducers, the distance traveled by the beam, and the speed of sound in blood are all known quantities; therefore, this equation can be used to calculate  $v_x$ . Once  $v_x$  is attained, the transit velocity (V) of blood traveling through the vessel can be determined according to the following equation:

$$V\cos\theta = v_x \tag{15}$$

where  $\theta$  is the angle between the centerline of the vessel and the ultrasonic beam axis. Finally, blood flow is the product of the transit velocity and the cross-sectional area of the vessel. The cross-sectional area of the vessel is pre-determined by the size of the acoustic window according the probe model. Since transit time is sampled at all points across the diameter of the vessel, volume flow is independent of the flow velocity profile.

The ICG method is based on the Fick principle, according to which the net balance of a substrate across an organ equals the concentration difference of the substrate across the organ multiplied by the blood flow through the organ. The equation can be rearranged to calculate hepatic blood flow by dividing hepatic ICG balance by the arteriovenous difference of ICG across the liver. Because the liver is assumed to be the only site of ICG clearance, hepatic ICG uptake is equal to ICG infusion rate under steady state conditions. The extraction of ICG across the liver remains constant for brief infusions; however, if ICG is infused for a longer time (> 4 h), the dye level in plasma gradually increases, resulting in a 5-10 % overestimation of hepatic blood flow.

Arterial and corresponding hepatic vein plasma samples were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 30 min, using no brake, to pellet the residue. Absorbance was then measured on a Spectronic spectrophotometer at 810 nm. This process was then repeated, and the values obtained for each sample were averaged. A standard curve was constructed by adding successive 5  $\mu$ l aliquots of diluted dye (1:10 dilution) to 1 ml of plasma drawn from the animal before the dye infusion was started. The mean of the incremental changes in absorbance was then used to calculate hepatic plasma flow (HPF) as follows:

where IR is ICG infusion rate (ml/min), SCMD is the standard curve mean difference per 5  $\mu$ l increments, and A-H is the difference in absorbance between the arterial and the hepatic venous sample. The value of 10 was used to correct for the dilution of the ICG used in the standard curve, and 0.005 was the volume in ml used as increments in the standard curve. Hepatic blood flow (HBF) was derived from HPF:

Hematocrit was measured at every time point of each in which samples were taken from the artery and portal and hepatic veins. This technique only determines total blood flow; therefore, an assumption was made regarding the contribution of blood flow in the vessels supplying the liver. The normal distribution of flow was assumed to be 20% artery and 80% hepatic portal vein at baseline, based on extensive historical data.

## Calculations

#### **Glucose Infusion Rate**

The total glucose infusion rate (GIR) was determined by the following calculation:

 $GIR = GIR_{portal} + GIR_{peripheral}$ 

(18)

where  $GIR_{portal}$  is the rate of glucose infused into the portal vein and  $GIR_{peripheral}$  is the rate of glucose infused peripherally.

## Net Substrate Balance

The net balance of a substrate across an organ, otherwise known as the arteriovenous (A-V) difference technique, utilized the Fick principle as described for the ICG-determination of blood flow (as described in *Sample Analysis* under *Blood Flow*) The net balance of a substrate (NSB) was calculated as:

$$NSB = Load_{out} - Load_{in}$$
(19)

or the difference between the substrate load leaving the region/organ (Load<sub>out</sub>) and the substrate load reaching the region/organ (Load<sub>in</sub>). This equation was applied to net hepatic substrate balance (NHSB), net splanchnic substrate balance (NSSB), net gut substrate balance (NGSB), and hindlimb substrate balance (HindSB). For NHSB, the Load<sub>in</sub> was calculated according to the equation:

$$Load_{inhepatic} = ([S]_A x HABF) + ([S]_{PV} x PVBF)$$
(20)

where  $[S]_A$  and  $[S]_{PV}$  are arterial and portal venous substrate concentrations, respectively, and HABF, PVBF are hepatic artery and the portal vein blood flows, respectively. For NHSB, Load<sub>out</sub> was calculated according to the equation: where  $[S]_{HV}$  is the substrate concentration in the hepatic vein, and HBF is the total hepatic blood flow.

(21)

For NSSB, the Load<sub>in</sub> and Load<sub>out</sub> were calculated as follows:

$Load_{insplanchnic} = [S]_A \times HBF$	(22)
$Load_{outsplanchnic} = [S]_{HV} \times HBF$	(23)

For NGSB, the Load<sub>in</sub> and Load<sub>out</sub> were calculated as follows:

$Load_{ingut} = [S]_A \times PVBF$	(2	24)
0		

$$Load_{outgut} = [S]_{PV} x PVBF$$
(25)

For HindSB, the Load<sub>in</sub> and Load<sub>out</sub> were calculated as follows:

 $Load_{inhindlimb} = [S]_A \times IBF$  (26)

$$Load_{outhindlimb} = [S]_{FV} \times IBF$$
(27)

where IBF is iliac blood flow and  $[S]_{FV}$  is the concentration of the substrate sampled from the femoral vein. Blood flows were used for all substrate balance calculations except GLP-1 across the liver, for which plasma flows were used.

## Net Substrate Clearance

Net substrate clearance (NSC) across an organ/region is calculated as follows:

$$NSC = NSU / [S]$$
<sup>(28)</sup>

where NSU is net substrate uptake across an organ/region and [S] is the substrate concentration entering that organ/region.

# Net Hepatic Substrate Fractional Extraction

Net substrate fractional extraction across the liver (NHSFE) was calculated as:

NHSFE = NHSU / Load<sub>inhepatic</sub>

(29)

where NHSU is the net hepatic substrate uptake.

## Hepatic Sinusoidal Substrate Level

Hepatic sinusoidal substrate level (HSSL) was calculated as:

$$HSSL = ([S]_A x HABF/HBF) + ([H]_{PV} x PVBF/HBF)$$
(30)

where  $[S]_A$  and  $[S]_{PV}$  are arterial and portal venous substrate concentrations, respectively, and HABF, PVBF and HBF are hepatic artery, portal vein and total hepatic blood flows, respectively.

## Glucose Turnover

Glucose turnover is the rate at which old glucose is replaced with new glucose. Glucose production ( $R_a$ ) and glucose utilization ( $R_d$ ) were determined using an isotope dilution method described by Wall (252), as simplified by DeBodo (253) and using a two-compartmental model (254) with canine parameters (255). The glucose pool was initially primed with an injection of [3- $^{3}$ H]glucose followed by a constant infusion of the tracer. By the beginning of the control period, the tracer ([3- $^{3}$ H]glucose) and tracee (cold glucose) were in equilibrium so that the specific activity of glucose (SA = dpm glucose/mg glucose) was in a steady state.  $R_a$  and  $R_d$  were calculated according to the following equations:

$$\mathbf{R}_{a} = [\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{N} (\mathbf{dSA/dt})] / \mathbf{SA}, \text{ and}$$
(31)

$$R_d = R_a - (dN/dt) \tag{32}$$

where I is infusion rate of tracer (dpm/min), N is the pool size of glucose (mg) and t is time (min) (256). In a steady state, when dSA/dt = 0, the R<sub>a</sub> equation is simplified to:

$$R_a = I/SA \tag{33}$$

This method utilizes a one-compartment model of glucose kinetics as described by Steele (257). Assumptions of the model are that one compartment of glucose consists of both rapidly mixing and slowly mixing glucose pools; therefore, when a rapid change in the cold glucose concentration is induced in the system, the consequent changes in glucose specific activity would be unevenly distributed throughout the entire glucose compartment. To compensate for this problem, the pool size is calculated as:

$$N = pVC$$
(34)

where p is the pool fraction, V is the volume of distribution of glucose (ml) and C is concentration of cold glucose (mg/dl). The pool fraction (the rapidly mixing component of the glucose compartment) was estimated to be 0.65, or 65 % of the total system (258), while V was assumed to be the extracellular volume, which is approximately 22% of the dog weight (259).

The major limitation of the one-compartment model is that a rapid change in SA invalidates the method, so that a fall in SA, which occurs either by endogenous glucose production or exogenous glucose infusion in the presence of a constant  $[3-{}^{3}H]$  glucose infusion, the change in SA would cause an error in the estimation of R<sub>a</sub> (underestimation if SA drops, overestimation if SA increases) (260). Two approaches have been applied to solve this problem. One strategy is to reduce the change in glucose SA by correspondingly changing the tracer infusion rate. Another strategy, which was used in the present study, is a two-compartment model described by Mari (254). This model describes the glucose system more accurately (than the one-compartment model) under non-steady-state conditions. R<sub>a</sub> was calculated as the sum of three terms: a steady-state term, a term for the first compartment, and the term for the second compartment. The

principle equations are as follows, where the expression of  $R_a$ , calculated at the equally spaced time instants  $t_0$ ,  $t_1$ ,...,  $t_k$ ,  $t_{k+1}$ , is determined from the following formulas:

$$R_{a}(t_{k}) = (R^{*}_{inf})(t_{k})/SA(t_{k}) - V_{1}[C(t_{k})dSA(t_{k})/dt] / SA(t_{k}) - V_{2}k_{22}[SA(t_{k})G(t_{k}) - G^{*}(t_{k})]/SA(t_{k})$$
(35)

$$G(t_{k+1}) = b_1 G(t_k) + b_2 C(t_k) + b_3 C(t_{k+1})$$
(36)

$$G^{*}(t_{k+l}) = b_{l}G^{*}(t_{k}) + b_{2}C^{*}(t_{k}) + b_{3}C^{*}(t_{k+l})$$
(37)

$$V_2 = V_1 k_{12} k_{21} / k_{22}^2$$
(38)

where  $t_k$  and  $t_{k+1}$  are time parameters, respectively;  $R_a(t_k)$  and  $R^*_{inf}(t_k)$  are the rate of appearance calculated with a two-compartment model (mg/kg/min) and tracer infusion rate (dpm/kg/min), respectively;  $SA(t_k)$  and  $dSA(t_k)$  are specific activity (dpm/mg) and derivative of specific activity (dpm/mg/min), respectively.  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  (ml/kg) are the volumes of the first and second compartments, respectively;  $C^*(t_k)$  and  $C(t_k)$  are tracer and tracee concentrations, respectively;  $k_{12}$ ,  $k_{21}$ , and  $k_{22}$  are constant rate parameters of the first and second compartments, respectively;  $G(t_k)$  and  $G^*(t_k)$  are variables calculated recursively from tracee and tracer concentrations, respectively;  $b_l$ ,  $b_2$ , and  $b_3$  are coefficients of recursive equations for calculating  $G(t_k)$  and  $G^*(t_k)$ . Canine parameters used for  $V_1$ ,  $V_2$ , and  $k_{22}$  in the present studies were those determined by Dobbins *et al.* (255). It has been reported (255) that under non-steady state conditions where specific activity changes dramatically, glucose appearance determined using the twocompartment model is more accurate than the Steele equation (one-compartment model.) When glucose was infused, endogenous glucose production (endo  $R_a$ ) was determined by subtracting the glucose infusion rate (GIR), from total glucose production ( $R_a$ ).

Of note, there are two major assumptions that are made when using the particular isotope dilution method to determine glucose kinetics. First, the labeled and unlabeled glucose molecules are assumed to be metabolized in the same manner. Secondly, the label is assumed to be irreversibly lost (261).

It should also be noted, however, that since both the liver and the kidneys produce glucose, whole body tracer-determined glucose production is slightly higher than the rate of hepatic glucose production. Although net kidney glucose balance in the postabsorptive state is near zero, the kidney has been estimated to contribute 5-15% to whole body glucose production (262).

#### Nonhepatic Glucose Uptake

Nonhepatic glucose uptake (non-HGU) was calculated over time intervals using the following formula:

Non-HGU = average total glucose infusion between T1 and T2 +  $((T1_{NHGB} + T2_{NHGB})/2)$ - glucose mass change in the pool (39)

where T1 and T2 indicates the time points for which glucose is being measured. The  $((T1_{NHGB} + T2_{NHGB})/2)$  term will be a negative number in the presence of net hepatic

glucose uptake. The glucose mass change in the pool is calculated using the following equation:

Glucose mass change in the pool = 
$$((([G_A]_{T2} - [G_A]_{T1}) / 100) * ((0.22 * body wt in kg * 1000 * 0.65) / body wt in kg)) / (T2-T1)$$
 (40)

where  $[G_A]$  is the plasma glucose concentration, T1 and T2 are the time points of the interval, 0.22 represents the volume of extracellular fluid (the volume of distribution) or 22% of the dog's weight (259), and 0.65 represents the fraction of the pool (258).

#### Ratio Calculations

Whole body insulin sensitivity (Specific Aim III) was calculated as a ratio of GIR to arterial plasma insulin, with the value of GIR divided by the arterial plasma insulin level for every time point. Nonhepatic insulin sensitivity (Specific Aim III) was calculated as a ratio of Non-HGU to arterial plasma insulin, with the value of Non-HGU divided by the arterial plasma insulin level for every time point. Hepatic insulin sensitivity (Specific Aim III) was calculated as a ratio of net hepatic glucose uptake to hepatic sinusoidal plasma insulin levels, with the value of net hepatic glucose uptake divided by the hepatic sinusoidal plasma insulin level for every time point. Peripheral plasma insulin to peripheral plasma glucose ratio (Specific Aim IV) was calculated by the respective peripheral plasma insulin level divided by the peripheral plasma glucose level

at each time point. Hindlimb glucose clearance and nonhepatic glucose clearance to arterial plasma insulin ratios (Specific Aim IV) were calculated with the respective clearance levels divided by arterial plasma insulin levels at each time point, or average insulin level over the time duration, in the case of the nonhepatic ratio.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard error (SE). Statistical comparisons for time course data were made by two-way ANOVA with repeated measures design run on SigmaStat (SPSS Science, Chicago, IL). *Post hoc* analysis was performed with Student-Newman-Kuels Method. When only two values were compared, an independent t-test was used (SigmaStat, SPSS Science, Chicago, IL). For Specific Aim IV, paired t-tests were used to compare single value measurements. Statistical significance was accepted at *P* < 0.05.

# **CHAPTER III**

# INTRAPORTAL GLP-1 INFUSION INCREASES NONHEPATIC GLUCOSE UTILIZATION WITHOUT CHANGING PANCREATIC HORMONE LEVELS

(Adapted from Johnson et al., Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 293:E1085-E1091, 2007)

## **Specific Aim I-Introduction**

When GLP-1 is secreted, it enters capillary blood in the gut where it is rapidly degraded by DPP-IV. It then enters the hepatic portal vein blood thereby exposing the liver to a high level of the hormone. The short half-life of injected GLP-1 (1-2 min) reflects its rapid degradation by DPP-IV in plasma and throughout the vascular system (263). Nevertheless, after an orally delivered nutrient load, active GLP-1 levels in blood increase 5-10 fold, with levels in the portal vein being approximately twice those in peripheral blood (47). This creates a situation in which GLP-1Rs in the portal vein are exposed to high levels of GLP-1 postprandially, thus making the portal vein region a likely candidate for a site at which GLP-1 could initiate some of its effects.

The neural circuitry is in place to allow GLP-1 interaction with its receptors in the portal vein wall to trigger a physiologic response (87). In the rat, there was an increase in afferent discharges from the hepatic branch of the vagus nerve when GLP-1 was infused into the hepatic portal vein (96). This same intraportal bolus of GLP-1 also increased efferent discharges from the pancreatic branch of the vagus nerve, an effect that was lost with hepatic vagotomy (96). These data raise the possibility that GLP-1R activation within the portal vein may contribute to the incretin and perhaps other effects of GLP-1.

Interestingly, the afferent neural firing from the hepatoportal region continued to increase for 90 min even when exposure to GLP-1 was brief (96). It is unknown if this increase in firing triggers efferent effects at sites other than the pancreas.

We have previously shown that under clamped hyperglycemic-hyperinsulinemic conditions (two-fold basal, four-times basal, respectively) an intraportal infusion of pharmacological amounts of GLP-1 increases net hepatic and non-hepatic glucose uptake in dogs (48). We have also shown under these same pancreatic and hyperglycemic clamp conditions, that a physiological infusion of GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or the hepatic artery for 90 min results in an increase in net hepatic glucose uptake, without a change in non-hepatic glucose uptake (47). Since these studies were conducted in the presence of a pancreatic clamp, it is still not known if intraportal delivery of GLP-1 is of significance to the known incretin effects of GLP-1. Previous studies carried out by others (49; 235; 236) in an attempt to address this question have not incorporated a GLP-1 infusion into the hepatic artery; thus it is not possible to distinguish between effects initiated within the liver, per se, versus the hepatic portal vein. In addition, these studies used a bolus, (235) stepwise infusion, (49) or constant infusion (236) to increase hyperglycemia, unlike the clamp conditions which are used in the current study. Therefore the aim of the present study was to determine whether or not the hepatic portal vein is the initiation site for any of the acute effects of GLP-1.

#### **Results**

*Plasma glucose levels.* In response to glucose infusion, there was an increase in plasma glucose levels in the artery (to  $158 \pm 1$ ,  $156 \pm 1$ ,  $156 \pm 1$  mg/dl) and portal vein (to  $177 \pm 100$  mg/dl) and portal vein (to 100 mg/dl) and portal vein (to 10

2,  $174 \pm 1$ ,  $176 \pm 2$  mg/dl) in CON, POR, and HAT, respectively (Figure 3.1A). There were no differences among groups.

*Plasma GLP-1 levels*. Basal plasma GLP-1 levels were similar regardless of group in the artery  $(2.5 \pm 1.7, 2.8 \pm 0.4, 3.7 \pm 0.8 \text{ pM}$  in CON, POR, and HAT), the hepatic portal vein  $(2.4 \pm 1.7, 2.9 \pm 0.4, 3.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ pM})$ , and hepatic vein  $(2.3 \pm 1.8, 3.2 \pm 0.4, 3.9 \pm 0.8 \text{ pM})$  (Figure 3.1B). GLP-1 levels in the artery, hepatic portal vein, and hepatic vein  $(3.5 \pm 1.6, 3.7 \pm 1.4, 3.5 \pm 1.3 \text{ pM})$  did not change in response to the saline infusion. On the other hand, they rose in the artery  $(27.1 \pm 2.4, 23.4 \pm 2.5 \text{ pM};$  POR, HAT, respectively), the hepatic portal vein  $(50.0 \pm 4.2, 22.8 \pm 3.1 \text{ pM})$ , and the hepatic vein  $(41.9 \pm 3.0, 41.6 \pm 5.8 \text{ pM})$  in response to infusion of GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery, respectively (Figure 3.1B). It should be noted that, regardless of the site of GLP-1 infusion, the GLP-1 levels in peripheral (arterial) and liver sinusoidal (hepatic vein) blood were matched in the two GLP-1 infusion groups. Conversely, hepatic portal vein levels were markedly higher during portal vein GLP-1 infusion (Figure 3.1B).

*Hepatic GLP-1 fractional extraction.* Due to extremely low levels of GLP-1 at baseline, hepatic fractional extraction of active GLP-1 was only calculated for the portal GLP-1 infusion group. The average hepatic GLP-1 fractional extraction for the POR group was approximately 0.08.

*Glucose infusion rates.* There was no significant difference in the glucose infusion rate required to maintain the clamp in the saline and hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion groups  $(6.0 \pm 0.5, 6.7 \pm 1.0 \text{ mg/kg/min}, \text{ average over final 2 hours})$  (Figure 3.2). When GLP-1 was given intraportally, on the other hand, significantly more glucose was required (8.5 ±



**Figure 3.1** *A*: Plasma glucose levels in 42-h fasted conscious dogs were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences among groups in either the basal or experimental period. Data are expressed as mean ± SE for each time point. *B*: Femoral artery, portal vein, and hepatic vein plasma GLP-1 levels during the basal period (left) and experimental period (right). Data are expressed as mean ± SE. \* = p < 0.05 versus CON. # = p < 0.05 versus POR.



**Figure 3.2** Total glucose infusion rate (GIR) during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). POR required significantly greater GIR than either CON or HAT. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE for each time point. \* = p < 0.05 versus CON. + = p < 0.05 versus HAT.

0.7 mg/kg/min, average over the final 2 hours) than with either saline or hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion (Figure 3.2).

Plasma insulin and glucagon levels. The arterial plasma insulin levels in the basal period were similar  $(7 \pm 1, 5 \pm 1, 9 \pm 1 \mu U/ml in CON, POR, and HAT)$  in the three groups. Likewise, they rose similarly in response to the hyperglycemia brought about during the experimental period (to  $24 \pm 2$ ,  $23 \pm 3$ ,  $23 \pm 3 \mu U/ml$ ) (Figure 3.3A). Portal plasma insulin levels increased from baseline  $(26 \pm 5, 16 \pm 5, 31 \pm 9 \,\mu\text{U/ml}$  to  $82 \pm 4, 75 \pm 6, 69$  $\pm$  8  $\mu$ U/ml) in response to hyperglycemia (Figure 3.4A). There was no statistical difference in the total AUC in either arterial or portal plasma insulin among groups during the experimental (0 to 240 min) period (Figure 3.3A, 4A insets). The arterial plasma glucagon levels decreased significantly in CON, POR, and HAT during the experimental period (to  $23 \pm 2$ ,  $30 \pm 3$ ,  $25 \pm 2$  pg/ml, respectively) from their respective basal values  $(36 \pm 3, 43 \pm 4, 36 \pm 3 \text{ pg/ml})$  (Figure 3.3B). Portal plasma glucagon levels also decreased from basal  $(50 \pm 6, 51 \pm 4, 46 \pm 3 \text{ pg/ml})$  during the experimental period (to  $27 \pm 1$ ,  $32 \pm 3$ ,  $28 \pm 2$  pg/ml) (Figure 3.4B). There was no statistical difference in the total AUC for either the arterial or portal plasma glucagon during the experimental period (Figure 3.3B, 3.4B insets).

*Hepatic blood flow, NHGB and non-HGU.* Hepatic artery blood flows during the basal period ( $7.2 \pm 1.0, 5.4 \pm 0.4, 4.9 \pm 0.7$  ml/kg/min in CON, POR, and HAT) and the experimental period ( $7.9 \pm 0.7, 6.8 \pm 0.4, 6.4 \pm 1.0$  ml/kg/min) were not different among the groups. There was also no difference in hepatic portal vein blood flow in either the basal ( $22.7 \pm 2.0, 28.9 \pm 2.1, 24.3 \pm 1.8$  ml/kg/min) or experimental periods ( $22.7 \pm 1.8, 27.9 \pm 1.9, 25.1 \pm 1.7$  ml/kg/min). In the basal state, net hepatic glucose output was



**Figure 3.3** *A*: Arterial plasma insulin levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). There was a significant increase in insulin levels in each group during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values (p < 0.05); *inset*: AUC for experimental period. There were no differences among groups upon analysis of the time-course or experimental period AUC. Data are expressed as mean ± SE. *B*: Arterial plasma glucagon levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min); *inset*: AUC during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period AUC. Data are expressed as mean ± SE. *B*: Arterial plasma glucagon levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min); *inset*: AUC during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values (p < 0.05), but there were no differences among groups upon analysis of the time-course or experimental period AUC. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.



**Figure 3.4** *A*: Portal plasma insulin levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). There was a significant increase in insulin levels in each group during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values (p < 0.05); *inset*: AUC for experimental period. There were no differences among groups upon analysis of the time-course or experimental period AUC. Data are expressed as mean ± SE. *B*: Portal plasma glucagon levels during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min); *inset*: AUC during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period. There was a significant decrease in glucagon levels in each group during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values (p < 0.05), but there were no differences among groups upon analysis of the time-course or experimental period AUC. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

similar in all groups ( $1.6 \pm 0.3$ ,  $2.0 \pm 0.2$ ,  $1.6 \pm 0.1$  mg/kg/min). In response to the hyperglycemic clamp the liver switched to net glucose uptake, with statistically greater net hepatic glucose uptake when GLP-1 was given into the hepatic artery (NHGB = -2.4  $\pm 0.4$ ,  $-3.0 \pm 0.4$ ,  $-3.9 \pm 0.4$  mg/kg/min in CON, POR, and HAT, respectively, during final 2 hours) (Figure 3.5A). Non-HGU was not different during saline or hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion ( $3.8 \pm 0.7$ ,  $3.0 \pm 0.8$  mg/kg/min, respectively, final 2 hours); but it was significantly greater ( $5.5 \pm 0.8$  mg/kg/min, final 2 hours) when GLP-1 was given into the hepatic portal vein (Figure 3.5B).

# *Endogenous Glucose Production and Glucose Disposal.* Endogenous glucose production ( $R_a$ ) was similar among groups during the basal period (2.3 ± 0.2, 2.3 ± 0.2, 2.5 ± 0.1 mg/kg/min in CON, POR, and HAT), and decreased in response to hyperglycemia during the experimental period (1.0 ± 0.4, 0.5 ± 0.6, 1.0 ± 0.4 mg/kg/min, average final 2 hours in CON, POR, and HAT) (Figure 3.6A). Glucose disposal ( $R_d$ ) was the same among groups during the basal period (2.4 ± 0.2, 2.3 ± 0.1, 2.4 ± 0.1 mg/kg/min in CON, POR, and HAT) and increased in response to the hyperglycemia (6.7 ± 0.8, 7.8 ± 1.1, 7.3 ± 1.0 mg/kg/min, average final 2 hours in CON, POR, and HAT) (Figure 3.6B).

Arterial plasma free-fatty acid. Arterial plasma free-fatty acid levels decreased similarly in response to glucose infusion (from 994  $\pm$  127, 883  $\pm$  80, 1073  $\pm$  84  $\mu$ mol/L to 362  $\pm$  111, 168  $\pm$  14, 274  $\pm$  45  $\mu$ mol/L in CON, POR, and HAT, respectively) in all three groups.



**Figure 3.5** *A*: Net hepatic glucose balance (NHGB) during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). Rates in each group were significantly decreased (p < 0.05) during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min), when compared to their respective basal period values. Data are expressed as mean ± SE. \* = p < 0.05 versus CON. # = p < 0.05 versus POR. *B*: Non-hepatic glucose uptake (Non-HGU) during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic of values over 30 min segments and are expressed as mean ± SE. \* = p < 0.05 versus CON. + = p < 0.05 versus HAT.



**Figure 3.6** *A*: Glucose disposal ( $R_d$ ) during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). Data are expressed as mean ± SE. *B*: Endogenous glucose production ( $R_a$ ) during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and during the infusion of saline intraportally, or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein or hepatic artery (0 to 240 min). Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

## **Discussion**

After a meal, intraportal GLP-1 levels are approximately twice those in peripheral blood (47). Therefore, GLP-1R in the hepatic portal vein are exposed to higher GLP-1 concentrations than receptors in other sites of the body. This makes the hepatic portal vein a potential site for initiation of some of GLP-1's effects. Studies in rats showed that an intraportal injection of GLP-1 resulted in increased afferent impulses from the hepatic branch of the vagus nerves (96). This suggests that GLP-1 can initiate a neural signal within the hepatic portal vein which could result in actions at other sites in the body. In the present study our goal was to determine which, if any, of GLP-1's effects are initiated at hepatic portal vein. The experimental design was such that the action of GLP-1 on gastric emptying and  $\beta$ -cell proliferation were of no consequence. In addition, by including groups in which GLP-1 was infused into either the hepatic artery or the hepatic portal vein, we were able to differentiate between effects resulting from elevations of GLP-1 within the liver versus those within the portal vein. Therefore, we were able to assess the effects of portal vein GLP-1 per se on pancreatic hormone secretion and on the rate of glucose uptake by the liver and nonhepatic tissues.

A significantly greater glucose infusion rate  $(8.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ vs. } 6.7 \pm 1.0 \text{ mg/kg/min},$ average over the final 2 hours) was required to maintain the glucose clamp when GLP-1 was given intraportally than when it was given at the same rate into the hepatic artery (Figure 3.2), despite there being no difference in pancreatic hormone levels (Figures 3.3 & 3.4). This trend was also apparent upon evaluation of glucose disposal (Figure 3.6A). Increased glucose utilization occurred with intraportal infusion of GLP-1, even though the arterial and hepatic vein GLP-1 levels were identical in the two groups (Figure 3.1B); therefore, the difference in the glucose infusion rate must be attributed to the difference in the hepatic portal vein GLP-1 levels (48.7  $\pm$  4.7 vs. 22.8  $\pm$  3.1 pM). The hepatic portal vein GLP-1 concentrations increased 10-fold when GLP-1 was given into the hepatic artery, versus 20-fold when it was given into the portal vein (Figure 3.1B). The increase (over saline) in the peripheral glucose infusion rate required in the portal GLP-1 infusion group was 3-times greater than the increase in the glucose infusion rate which was required in the hepatic artery infusion group. This difference in glucose infusion rate was slow to develop, reaching a maximum approximately 120 min after the start of GLP-1 infusion. Thereafter the difference between groups was maintained (Figure 3.2).

The delay in the onset of the effect of portally delivered GLP-1 occurred despite the fact that GLP-1 levels were elevated in a square wave fashion. An increase (over saline) in the glucose infusion rate actually occurred as early as 40 min after the start of portal GLP-1 infusion, but it did not reach significance until 120 min (Figure 3.2). The delay in the rise in the glucose infusion rate indicates that the pharmacokinetic time course of GLP-1 differs from the time course of the pharmacodynamic response to its infusion. This was also evident in an earlier study in which a bolus of GLP-1 given into hepatic portal vein of the rat caused an ever increasing rise in afferent neural discharges over time (96). These findings suggest that certain effects of GLP-1 may last for a longer period of time than the increment during which GLP-1 blood level is increased. It has been shown that postprandial GLP-1 levels remain elevated for as long as 3 hours in the human (35) and 6 hours in the dog (unpublished data). The present data suggest that the impact of the rise in GLP-1 might go on for an even longer period of time. The mechanistic explanation for this slow onset of action may relate to persistent changes in neural firing or the time required for the synthesis of regulatory proteins.

Given that intraportal infusion of GLP-1 increased whole body glucose disposal in the absence of a change in plasma insulin, the question thus arises as to which tissues were responsible for the increase. By placing catheters across the liver, one can separate whole body glucose uptake into its hepatic and nonhepatic components. There was only a small increase  $(3.0 \pm 0.4 \text{ vs. } 2.4 \pm 0.4 \text{ mg/kg/min}, \text{ not significant})$  in net hepatic glucose uptake (Figure 3.5A), and small decrease in endogenous glucose production  $(1.0 \pm 0.4 \text{ vs.})$  $0.5 \pm 0.6$  mg/kg/min, not significant) (Figure 3.6B), in the animals that received intraportal GLP-1 versus saline. As a result it can be concluded that the increase in whole body glucose uptake seen in those animals was primarily due to an increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake. This is confirmed by our observation that the calculated rate of nonhepatic glucose uptake was significantly increased in the presence of intraportal as opposed to hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion (Figure 3.5B)  $(3.0 \pm 0.8 \text{ versus } 5.5 \pm 0.$ mg/kg/min, respectively during the final 2 hours of the study). The combined effects of hepatic and nonhepatic glucose uptake are in agreement with the rate of glucose utilization (Figure 3.6). It is also in agreement with previously reported studies which indicated that portal vein GLP-1 receptors regulate nonhepatic glucose uptake in the mouse in the presence of an intraportal glucose infusion (236; 264). A previous study conducted in our lab showed that a physiological increase in GLP-1 resulting from intraportal infusion of the peptide at the same rate as that used here, when brought about with the pancreatic hormones clamped at levels similar to those observed in the current study, caused a small increase in net hepatic glucose uptake (approximately 0.8

mg/kg/min) much like in the present study, but, contrary to the present results GLP-1 infusion in the clamp studies had no effect on non-hepatic glucose uptake (47). However, the duration of the intraportal GLP-1 infusion in the previous study was only 90 min (47), perhaps explaining the fact that we did not see a significant increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake (i.e. in the present study the effect did not become significant until 120 min). In addition, in our previous study, glucose was clamped using only a peripheral infusion (i.e. no portal glucose delivery). It has been clearly shown that when glucose is delivered intraportally, it decreases afferent vagal firing (265), and causes an increase in net hepatic glucose uptake and a decrease in nonhepatic glucose uptake (176). Portal delivery of GLP-1 increases vagal afferent firing (96); thus it is possible that in the presence of portal glucose delivery GLP-1 can bring about effects which would not be observed in the absence of portal glucose delivery.

Taking the results from our previous study (47) and the current study together it would appear that a physiological increase in GLP-1 secretion can bring about two effects, each independent of the actions of GLP-1 on the endocrine pancreas. First, GLP-1 can have a direct, but modest, effect on the liver per se to increase net hepatic glucose uptake. This is seen independently of whether the rise in liver sinusoidal GLP-1 results from input via the hepatic artery or the hepatic portal vein (47). It can best be seen by examining the hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion data (i.e. those without the added action of portal vein GLP-1 signaling). In our earlier study, net hepatic glucose uptake increased by approximately 1.0 mg/kg/min (47) in response to hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion, while in the present study it increased by 1.5 mg/kg/min (2.4  $\pm$  0.4 vs. 3.9  $\pm$  0.4 mg/kg/min). This was despite the fact that there were no differences in plasma insulin or glucagon

level in the presence of GLP-1, compared to the control, in either study. The second effect of GLP-1 relates to its delivery into the portal vein. There it tends to decrease net hepatic glucose uptake (from  $3.9 \pm 0.4$  to  $3.0 \pm 0.4$  mg/kg/min), and to increase nonhepatic glucose uptake (from  $3.0 \pm 0.8$  to  $5.5 \pm 0.8$  mg/kg/min). The question then arises as to why a 20-fold rise in portal vein GLP-1 would bring about this effect and a 10 fold increase would not. This could have resulted from a threshold effect such that a 10 fold increase simply did not bring about a big enough change for us to detect. Alternatively, the portal vein concentration difference in GLP-1 may be detected and bring about a unique response.

It has been well established that exogenously infused GLP-1 acts as an incretin in both healthy humans and those with type 2 diabetes (40). As noted above, however, in the current studies there was no difference in arterial or portal plasma insulin levels in the presence or absence of GLP-1 infusion regardless of whether the peptide was given intraportally or via the hepatic artery (Figure 3.3A). This agrees with earlier data indicating that dogs which received a systemic infusion of glucose to simulate postprandial peripheral glucose levels showed no change in insulin levels when a peripheral GLP-1 infusion was added to create a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels (49).

Postprandial increases in peripheral plasma GLP-1 levels in the human and dog are very similar (both reaching levels of approximately 10-15 pM); however, we did not observe greater insulin levels in the presence versus the absence of GLP-1 in the current study, despite the fact that our GLP-1 levels were designed to match postprandial levels. There are several possible explanations for our failure to observe an incretin effect of
GLP-1. There is some evidence that the GLP-1 clearance in the human and the dog may be different. It has been shown that an infusion rate of approximately 0.3 pmol/kg/min (266) is required to create a postprandial rise in total peripheral GLP-1 levels in the human, while the dog requires 3 to 4 times that rate to simulate post meal levels of active GLP-1 (47). This suggests greater clearance of GLP-1 in the dog, such that for a given infusion rate, the plasma levels would be lower in the dog; therefore, the 1 pmol/kg/min infusion rate used here might result in significantly higher GLP-1 levels in humans, which could induce significantly greater effects at the  $\beta$ -cell.

On the other hand, there may be a species difference in  $\beta$ -cell sensitivity to GLP-1, because it has been shown that in humans an infusion of 0.15 pmol/kg/min, in the presence of ~180 mg/dl plasma glucose levels, can augment glucose stimulated insulin secretion (266), while in the current study an infusion rate of 1 pmol/kg/min in the presence of ~160 mg/dl plasma glucose did not change plasma insulin levels. This raises the question of whether endogenously released GLP-1 acts as an incretin hormone in the dog. It could still do so if endogenously released GLP-1 initiates an incretin signal upstream from our infusion site, in closer proximity to the L-cells from which it is released. It is known that a large portion of GLP-1 is degraded in the gut by DPP-IV in the brush-border membrane (267), prior to its reaching the hepatic portal vein; therefore, we may not have observed an increase in insulin in the presence of GLP-1 due to the fact that active GLP-1 levels at the gut were not high enough to induce an incretin effect.

The data presented here also indicate that GLP-1 produced no additional suppression of the plasma glucagon level in response to hyperglycemia (Figures 3.3B and 3.4B). Our data thus support the concept that GLP-1 infusion decreases plasma

glucagon only in the presence of inappropriately elevated levels of the hormone, as previously observed in patients with diabetes (40; 209).

As previously mentioned, an advantage to our model is the ability to determine substrate balance across the liver. We were able to determine that approximately 8% of active GLP-1 is degraded as it traverses the liver in the healthy dog. This degradation represents a combination of GLP-1 that is degraded by the liver, per se, and the amount that is exposed to and degraded by DPP-IV in plasma during hepatic transit. The measured levels of GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein were slightly below the value predicted given portal vein plasma flow and the GLP-1 infusion rate. This is undoubtedly the result of imperfect mixing of the infusate in the portal blood. Were recovery of GLP-1 to have been perfect, the portal vein GLP-1 levels would have been modestly higher and the amount of GLP-1 lost on transit through the liver could have been 18%. Thus, it would appear that less than 20% of active GLP-1 is removed from the blood as it traverses the liver.

In conclusion, the current study shows that delivery of a physiological amount of GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein (but not the hepatic artery) increased whole body glucose uptake in the absence of an effect on plasma insulin or glucagon levels. This increase was primarily due to an augmentation of nonhepatic glucose uptake. At this point, the mechanism by which this effect comes about is unclear. Nevertheless, the current results further support the concept that the non-incretin effects of GLP-1 are also important in its regulation of glucose metabolism *in vivo*.

#### **CHAPTER IV**

# INTRAPORTALLY DELIVERED GLUCOSE IS REQUIRED FOR INTRAPORTAL GLP-1 INFUSION TO INCREASE NONHEPATIC GLUCOSE UTILIZATION

(Adapted from Johnson et al., Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 294:E380-E384, 2008)

#### **Specific Aim II-Introduction**

After a meal, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) is secreted from the L cell in the gut such that its level in the hepatic portal vein is approximately twice that in peripheral blood (47). Likewise, at the same time postprandial glucose levels are higher in hepatic portal vein blood than in the artery, due to absorption of the meal. In Specific Aim I, in the presence of intraportal glucose delivery, a physiological increase of GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein increased nonhepatic glucose uptake via a mechanism independent of changes in pancreatic hormone secretion (268). This increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake did not occur when GLP-1 was infused at the same rate through the hepatic artery, even though infusion at this site elevated GLP-1 concentrations in the liver and peripheral blood to the same levels as those seen in the presence of intraportal GLP-1 infusion (268). It can be concluded, therefore, that the elevation of GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein was itself responsible for the increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake.

In addition to showing that GLP-1 delivery into the hepatic portal vein results in changes in glucose utilization, our lab (239; 269-272) and others (264; 273; 274) have assembled evidence that intraportal delivery of glucose per se alters the distribution of a glucose load in the body. When compared to peripheral glucose delivery, intraportal

delivery of glucose results in greater net hepatic glucose uptake even when the liver is presented with equal hepatic glucose loads and sinusoidal insulin levels (269). In addition, we have shown that intraportal delivery of glucose decreases nonhepatic glucose uptake. Thus, portal glucose delivery results in a preferential deposition of glucose in the liver (239; 271; 272). It is believed that these unique effects of portal glucose delivery are mediated by neural signals initiating within the hepato-portal region (275; 276).

Firing of afferent vagal nerve fibers originating in the hepatic portal region decreases upon initiation of an intraportal glucose infusion, thus suggesting that the portal glucose signal is neurally mediated (265; 277). In contrast to glucose, intraportal GLP-1 delivery increases neural firing from the region (96; 278); therefore, both glucose and GLP-1 have the ability to initiate effects via neural changes within the hepatic portal vein. It has been suggested that a negative arterial-hepatoportal gradient for both GLP-1 and glucose levels must be present for GLP-1 to exert its effect on glucose utilization (49; 236; 268). The aim of the present study was to test this hypothesis.

#### **Results**

For ease of comparison, results from Specific Aim I, in which hyperglycemia was induced by a combination of intraportal (4 mg/kg/min) and peripheral glucose (variable as needed) infusions have been presented here at PoGlu-SAL and PoGlu-GLP-1. Results from the current study, in which only peripheral glucose infusion was used, are referred to as PeGlu-SAL and PeGlu-GLP-1 in the text.

*Plasma glucose levels.* In response to a combination of portal and peripheral glucose infusions, there was an increase in plasma glucose levels in the artery (to  $158 \pm 1$  and  $156 \pm 1 \text{ mg/dl}$ ) and portal vein (to  $177 \pm 2$  and  $174 \pm 1 \text{ mg/dl}$ ) in both PoGlu-SAL and PoGlu-GLP-1, respectively (Figure 4.1A). The animals that received only peripheral glucose infusion experienced increases in plasma glucose levels in the artery (to  $159 \pm 1$  and  $162 \pm 1 \text{ mg/dl}$ ) and hepatic portal vein (to  $159 \pm 1$  and  $162 \pm 1 \text{ mg/dl}$  in PeGlu-SAL and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively) that were of similar magnitude (Figure 4.1B).

*Plasma GLP-1 levels.* Basal plasma GLP-1 levels were similar regardless of group in both arterial and hepatic portal vein plasma (Figure 4.2). GLP-1 levels in the artery and hepatic portal vein did not change in response to the saline infusion. On the other hand, in response to intraportal GLP-1 infusion they rose in the artery  $(27.1 \pm 2.4 \text{ and } 29.4 \pm 1.5 \text{ pM}; \text{PoGlu-GLP-1} \text{ and PeGlu-GLP-1}, respectively) and in the hepatic portal vein (50.0 \pm 4.2 \text{ and } 57.7 \pm 4.5 \text{ pM})$  (Figure 4.2), with no difference between groups in either vessel.

*Glucose infusion rates.* Intraportal GLP-1 infusion caused a significantly greater increase (p < 0.05) in the glucose infusion rate in the presence of an intraportal glucose infusion ( $8.5 \pm 0.7$  vs.  $6.0 \pm 0.5$  mg/kg/min, average over final 2 hours; PoGlu-GLP-1 vs. PoGlu-SAL) (Figure 4.3A) than in its absence ( $6.4 \pm 1.2$  vs.  $6.1 \pm 1.0$  mg/kg/min, average over final 2 hours; PeGlu-GLP-1 vs. PeGlu-SAL) (Figure 4.3B).

*Plasma insulin and glucagon levels.* In the basal period, arterial and hepatic portal vein plasma insulin levels were similar among all groups (Figure 4.4). Likewise, they rose similarly in response to the hyperglycemia brought about during the experimental period (to  $24 \pm 2$ ,  $23 \pm 3$ ,  $24 \pm 1$ ,  $28 \pm 5 \mu$ U/ml of arterial plasma, and to  $82 \pm 4$ ,  $75 \pm 6$ ,  $81 \pm 12$ ,



**Figure 4.1** Plasma glucose levels in 42-h fasted conscious dogs. *A*: Arterial and portal plasma glucose levels for dogs that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences among groups in either the basal or experimental period. *B*: Arterial and portal plasma glucose levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences among groups in either the basal or experimental period. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.



**Figure 4.2** Plasma GLP-1 levels. *A*: Arterial and portal plasma GLP-1 levels for animals that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. *B*: Arterial and portal plasma GLP-1 levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. In the animals that received the GLP-1 infusion, GLP-1 levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min). Levels remained unchanged in SAL. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE.



**Figure 4.3** Total glucose infusion rate (GIR) during the infusion of intraportal saline (SAL) or GLP-1 into the hepatic portal vein (0 to 240 min). *A*: GIR for animals that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose from Specific Aim I. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE for each time point. Animals that received GLP-1 intraportally had a significantly greater GIR than SAL. \* = p < 0.05 versus SAL. *B*: GIR for animals that received peripheral glucose alone. There was no statistical difference between groups. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE for each time point.



**Figure 4.4** Plasma insulin levels. *A*: Arterial and portal plasma insulin levels for animals that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. *B*: Arterial and portal plasma insulin levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal plasma insulin levels for dogs that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

 $86 \pm 10 \mu$ U/ml of hepatic portal vein plasma in PoGlu-SAL, PoGlu-GLP-1, PeGlu-SAL, and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively) (Figure 4.4). In the basal period, sinusoidal plasma glucagon levels were similar among all groups (Figure 4.5). Likewise, they declined during the experimental period in a similar manner in all groups (to  $25 \pm 2$ ,  $32 \pm 3$ ,  $22 \pm$ 5,  $22 \pm 5$  pg/ml in PoGlu-SAL, PoGlu-GLP-1, PeGlu-SAL, and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively).

Hepatic blood flow, HGL, NHGB and non-HGU. Hepatic arterial blood flow during the basal period and the experimental period were similar among the groups, as were the hepatic portal vein blood flows. The hepatic glucose load was approximately 30% greater in those groups that received intraportal glucose delivery (38.6  $\pm$  2.5 and 41.7  $\pm$ 2.3 mg/kg/min, average over experimental period; PoGlu-SAL and PoGlu-GLP-1, respectively) than in those that did not  $(30.1 \pm 2.4 \text{ and } 31.8 \pm 2.1 \text{ mg/kg/min}, \text{ average})$ over experimental period; PeGlu-SAL and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively). In the basal state, net hepatic glucose output was similar in all groups  $(1.6 \pm 0.3, 2.0 \pm 0.2, 1.5 \pm 0.2, 1.3 \pm 0.2, 1.3, 1.3 \pm 0.2, 1.3, 1.3, 1.3, 1.3, 1.3, 1.$ 0.1 mg/kg/min; PoGlu-SAL, PoGlu-GLP-1, PeGlu-SAL, and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively). In response to the hyperglycemic clamp the liver switched to net glucose uptake in all groups; however, hepatic portal vein glucose infusion was associated with greater net hepatic glucose uptake than saline infusion (NHGB =  $-2.4 \pm 0.4$  and  $-3.0 \pm 0.4$ mg/kg/min; PoGlu-SAL and PoGlu-GLP-1, respectively, during final 2 hours vs. -1.2 ± 0.1 and  $-1.6 \pm 0.2$  mg/kg/min; PeGlu-SAL and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively, during final 2 hours) (Figure 4.6A, 4.6B). In the presence of portal and peripheral glucose infusions, non-HGU was significantly greater in the presence of intraportal GLP-1 ( $5.5 \pm 0.8$ mg/kg/min, final 2 hours) when compared to saline infusion  $(3.8 \pm 0.7 \text{ mg/kg/min}, \text{final 2})$ 



**Figure 4.5** Sinusoidal plasma glucagon levels. *A*: Sinusoidal plasma glucagon levels for animals that received a combination of intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. *B*: Sinusoidal plasma glucagon levels for animals that received peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. There was a significant decrease sinusoidal glucagon levels in all groups during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values (p < 0.05). Data are expressed as mean ± SE.



**Figure 4.6** Glucose production and utilization. *A*: Net hepatic glucose balance (NHGB) during the basal period (-40 to 0 min) and experimental period (0 to 240 min) in animals that received intraportal and peripheral glucose, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) from Specific Aim I. There was no significant difference between groups. *B*: NHGB in animals that received a peripheral glucose infusion, in addition to either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). There was no significant difference between groups. *C*: Non-hepatic glucose uptake (Non-HGU) during the infusion of intraportal saline (SAL) or GLP-1 during the experimental period (30 to 240 min) in animals that received both intraportal and peripheral glucose infusions from Specific Aim I. Animals that received GLP-1 had significantly greater (p < 0.05) Non-HGU. \* = p < 0.05 versus SAL. *D*: Non-HGU during the infusion of intraportal saline or GLP-1 during the experimental period (30 to 240 min) in animals that received groups. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

hours) (Figure 4.6C). There was no effect of GLP-1 on non-HGU ( $4.9 \pm 1.2$  and  $4.9 \pm 1.0$  mg/kg/min, final 2 hours; PeGlu-GLP-1 and PeGlu-SAL) when glucose was supplied solely by peripheral glucose infusion (Figure 4.6D).

#### **Discussion**

After a meal, the increases in both GLP-1 (47) and glucose levels in the hepatic portal vein are significantly greater than in the peripheral blood. It has been suggested that this elevation of both GLP-1 and glucose must exist for a physiological increase of GLP-1 to exert its effect on glucose utilization (49; 236; 268). In Specific Aim I, in the presence of hepatic portal vein glucose infusion, a physiological increase of GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein stimulated nonhepatic glucose uptake via a mechanism independent of changes in pancreatic hormone secretion (268). The results from the present study indicate that, in the absence of a hepatic portal vein glucose infusion, portal vein GLP-1 infusion does not bring about such an effect. In the presence of a portal glucose infusion, the glucose infusion rate required to clamp the glucose at 160 mg/dl was significantly greater when GLP-1 was given than when it was not  $(8.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ mg/kg/min vs}, 6.0 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg/kg/min vs})$ mg/kg/min, average over the final 2 hours; PoGlu-GLP-1 vs. PoGlu-SAL). In the absence of portal glucose infusion there was no effect of GLP-1 ( $6.4 \pm 1.2 \text{ mg/kg/min vs.}$  $6.1 \pm 1.0$  mg/kg/min, average over final 2 hours; PeGlu-GLP-1 and PeGlu-SAL) on the glucose infusion rate (Figure 4.3). The failure of the glucose infusion rate to rise is explained by the absence of an increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake  $(4.9 \pm 1.2 \text{ and } 4.9 \pm 1.2 \text{ and$ 1.0 mg/kg/min, final 2 hours; PeGlu-GLP-1 and PeGlu-SAL). In the presence of a portal glucose infusion, nonhepatic glucose uptake was significantly greater when GLP-1 was

given intraportally than when it was not  $(5.5 \pm 0.8 \text{ vs. } 3.8 \pm 0.7 \text{ mg/kg/min}, \text{ final 2 hours};$ PoGlu-GLP-1 vs. PoGlu-SAL) (Figure 4.6C, 4.6D).

The question thus arises as to the mechanism by which a physiological increase in hepatic portal vein GLP-1 levels might bring about increased whole body glucose uptake only in the presence of intraportal glucose delivery. Intraportal glucose delivery decreases vagal neural firing by afferent fibers originating in the hepatic portal vein (265; 277), and it has been shown that these nerves must be intact for the portal glucose signal to initiate its effects (275; 276). Portally delivered GLP-1 on the other hand, increases neural firing in afferents originating in the hepato-portal region (96; 278). It has been clearly shown that the portal glucose signal decreases nonhepatic glucose uptake (271; 272). Thus if GLP-1 were to override the impact of portally delivered glucose on vagal afferent firing to nonhepatic tissue, one would predict an increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake. Since our earlier work has suggested that the effect of the portal signal occurs in muscle, it seems likely that this is the site of the GLP-1 induced effect (272).

Our earlier data by Dardevet et. al (47) showed that intraportal infusion of GLP-1 (1 pmol/kg/min) in the presence of hyperglycemia induced by peripheral glucose infusion and a pancreatic hormone clamp, resulted in a small increase in net hepatic glucose uptake (approximately 0.8 mg/kg/min), but no change in nonhepatic glucose uptake. This agrees with data from the current study, in which animals that received glucose only via the peripheral route tended to have slightly greater net hepatic glucose uptake when GLP-1 was given intraportally than when it was not (NHGB=  $-1.6 \pm 0.2$  vs.  $-1.2 \pm 0.1$  mg/kg/min, during final 2 hours, not significant, p=0.16; PeGlu-GLP-1 vs. PeGlu-SAL) (Figure 4.6B). As noted in Specific Aim I, and as recapitulated here, in the presence of

intraportal glucose infusion, GLP-1 delivery also tended to have a small direct effect on the liver (NHGB=  $-3.0 \pm 0.4$  vs.  $-2.4 \pm 0.4$  mg/kg/min, during final 2 hours, not significant, p=0.30; PoGlu-GLP-1 and PoGlu-SAL) (Figure 4.6A). Collectively, therefore, our data suggest that physiological increases in GLP-1 can have a modest direct stimulatory effect on the liver.

In the present study, the groups that received an intraportal glucose infusion exhibited greater net hepatic glucose uptake ( $2.4 \pm 0.4$  and  $3.0 \pm 0.4$  mg/kg/min, final 2 hours; PoGlu-SAL and PoGlu-GLP-1, respectively), than the groups that received only peripheral infusion of glucose ( $1.2 \pm 0.1$  and  $1.6 \pm 0.2$  mg/kg/min; PeGlu-SAL and PeGlu-GLP-1, respectively, during final 2 hours). This increase in net hepatic glucose uptake in the presence of intraportal glucose delivery was probably attributable to both the greater (~30%) hepatic glucose load (239) and the portal signal per se (269).

In contrast to the results of our earlier studies, portal glucose infusion in the current study did not significantly decrease nonhepatic glucose uptake or increase insulin secretion (271; 272; 279). There was however, a trend toward a decrease in nonhepatic glucose uptake ( $3.8 \pm 0.7 \text{ vs. } 4.9 \pm 1.0 \text{ mg/kg/min}$ , final 2 hours; PoGlu-SAL and PeGlu-SAL) (Figure 4.6C, 4.6D) and higher hepatic portal vein insulin levels in the animals that received intraportal glucose compared to those that did not. There are two possible explanations for the lack of significant change in these parameters. First, the effect of intraportal glucose infusion on nonhepatic glucose uptake and plasma insulin levels may have been too small to detect given the limited power of this study. Second, in our earlier studies that demonstrated decreased nonhepatic glucose uptake and increased insulin secretion there were greater intraportal glucose infusion rates (5 and 10 mg/kg/min) (271;

272; 279) and greater peripheral glycemia (220 mg/dl) (272) than in the current study. Therefore, given the smaller portal glucose signal and the lower glucose level, it is not surprising that the changes in nonhepatic glucose uptake and insulin secretion did not reach statistical significance.

It has been well established that exogenously infused GLP-1 acts as an incretin in both healthy humans and those with Type 2 diabetes (40). As noted above, however, in Specific Aim I, as well as in the current study, there was no difference in arterial or portal plasma insulin levels in the presence or absence of GLP-1 infusion. This agrees with earlier data which showed that dogs which received a systemic infusion of glucose to simulate postprandial peripheral glucose levels showed no change in insulin levels when GLP-1 was infused peripherally to create a physiological increase in its level (49). The fact that a physiological elevation in GLP-1 did not result in changes in pancreatic hormone levels in the dog was discussed at length in Specific Aim I.

In conclusion, we have shown that a physiological elevation of plasma GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein increases nonhepatic glucose uptake only when intraportal glucose delivery is also present. Furthermore, this effect is not related to differences in plasma insulin or glucagon levels. The data thus suggest that the GLP-1 secretion that occurs following feeding plays a role in limiting postprandial hyperglycemia by increasing liver and muscle glucose uptake even when the peptide does not augment the elevation in insulin or the decrease in plasma glucagon levels.

## **CHAPTER V**

# DURATION OF FAST INFLUENCES THE ACTIONS OF INTRAPORTALLY DELIVERED GLP-1

## **Specific Aim III-Introduction**

As an incretin hormone, GLP-1 is most strongly associated with an insulin secretory effect; however, it has also been shown that the peptide has other glucoregulatory actions, including increasing insulin mediated glucose uptake (48). These characteristics have made GLP-1 analogs and molecules which alter GLP-1 degradation promising therapies for type 2 diabetes, in that they target two contributing factors to the disease: inadequate insulin secretion and decreased insulin sensitivity.

In Specific Aim I, increased glucose and insulin, in combination with intraportal delivery of GLP-1 at rate which created a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels increased whole body glucose uptake in the 42 h fasted dog (268). This occurred without GLP-1 induced changes in the secretion of the pancreatic hormones (268). As shown in Specific Aim II, this effect on whole body glucose utilization only occurred under simulated feeding conditions when the plasma glucose level in the hepatic portal vein was elevated to levels greater than those in arterial blood (268; 280).

It has been shown in the human (281-283) that duration of fast is inversely correlated with whole body insulin sensitivity. In addition, it has been shown that a fast of shorter duration is associated with increased sensitivity of the  $\beta$ -cell to glucose, resulting in significantly increased glucose-dependent insulin secretion (283; 284). In the current study, we explored the possibility that, in a state of augmented  $\beta$ -cell and insulin

sensitivity, the magnitude of the effects of GLP-1 on glucose homeostasis would be increased.

Specifically, our aim was to determine if a physiologic increase in GLP-1 (47), caused by intraportal GLP-1 infusion, would result in a greater increase in whole body glucose uptake and/or greater insulin secretion, in dogs that were fasted for 18 h rather than for 42 h, by which time insulin sensitivity and  $\beta$ -cell responsiveness are markedly reduced.

## **Results**

*Plasma glucose levels.* Plasma glucose levels in the artery  $(161 \pm 3 \text{ and } 162 \pm 2 \text{ mg/dl})$  and hepatic portal vein  $(181 \pm 2 \text{ and } 184 \pm 3 \text{ mg/dl})$  increased similarly in response to the combination of portal and peripheral glucose infusion in the SAL and GLP-1 groups, respectively (Figure 5.1A).

*Plasma GLP-1 levels.* There was no difference between groups in basal GLP-1 levels in either arterial or hepatic portal vein blood (Figure 5.1B), nor did the levels change in response to saline infusion. On the other hand, they rose in both the artery (to  $30.3 \pm 2.2$  pM) and hepatic portal vein (to  $50.3 \pm 5.3$  pM) in response to intraportal GLP-1 infusion (Figure 5.1B).

*Glucose infusion rate.* There was no difference in the total glucose infusion rates required to maintain the glucose clamp between the two groups  $(10.6 \pm 1.3 \text{ vs. } 9.7 \pm 1.5 \text{ mg/kg/min}, average over final 2 hours; SAL vs. GLP-1) (Figure 5.2).$ 

*Plasma insulin and glucagon levels.* The arterial and hepatic portal vein plasma insulin levels were similar between groups during the basal period (Figure 5.3A). Both groups



**Figure 5.1** Plasma glucose and GLP-1 levels in 18-h fasted conscious dogs. *A*: Arterial and portal plasma glucose levels for dogs that received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. There were no significant differences between groups in either the basal or experimental period. B: Arterial and portal plasma GLP-1 levels for dogs that received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. In the animals that received the GLP-1 infusion, GLP-1 levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min). Levels remained unchanged in SAL. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.



**Figure 5.2** Total glucose infusion rate (GIR) during the infusion of intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL) into the hepatic portal vein (0 to 240 min). There was no statistical difference between groups. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE for each time point.



**Figure 5.3** Plasma insulin and glucagon levels. *A*: Arterial and portal plasma insulin levels for dogs that received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Levels were basal initially (-40 to 0 min), but both arterial and portal levels increased significantly (p < 0.05) during the experimental period (0 to 240 min) in response to the glucose clamp. *B*: Sinusoidal plasma glucagon levels for animals that received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline. There was a significant decrease sinusoidal glucagon levels in both groups during the experimental period when compared to respective basal period values (p < 0.05). Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

exhibited similar increases in response to hyperglycemia (to  $33 \pm 4$  and  $31 \pm 3 \mu$ U/ml in arterial plasma, and to  $86 \pm 8$  and  $81 \pm 11 \mu$ U/ml in hepatic portal vein plasma in the SAL and GLP-1 groups, respectively, averaged over the entire experimental period) (Figure 5.3A). The sinusoidal plasma glucagon levels were not different between the two groups during the basal period (Figure 5.3B) and decreased in a similar manner (to  $28 \pm 4$  and  $29 \pm 4$  pg/ml in SAL and GLP-1, respectively, when averaged over the entire experimental period).

*Hepatic blood flow, HGL, NHGB and non-HGU.* Hepatic arterial blood flows during the basal period and the experimental period were similar between groups, as were the hepatic portal vein blood flows. In the basal state, net hepatic glucose output (Figure 5.4) was similar between groups ( $2.2 \pm 0.2$  and  $1.6 \pm 0.3$  mg/kg/min; SAL and GLP-1, respectively). In response to the hyperglycemic clamp, the liver switched to net glucose uptake, with no significant difference between groups (NHGB =  $-3.6 \pm 0.5$  and  $-3.6 \pm 0.5$  mg/kg/min; SAL and GLP-1, respectively, during final 2 hours) (Figure 5.4A). There was no effect of GLP-1 on non-HGU ( $7.1 \pm 1.5$  and  $6.2 \pm 1.4$  mg/kg/min, final 2 hours; SAL and GLP-1) (Figure 5.4B).

Arterial plasma free fatty acids. Arterial plasma FFA decreased in response to the hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia (from  $817 \pm 160$  and  $794 \pm 114$  to  $147 \pm 26$  and  $178 \pm 31 \mu$ mol/l; SAL and GLP-1, respectively).



**Figure 5.4** Glucose production and utilization. *A*: NHGB in animals that received either intraportal GLP-1 or saline (SAL). Rates in each group were significantly decreased (p < 0.05) during the experimental period when compared to their respective basal period values. There was no significant difference between groups. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. *B*: Non-HGU during the infusion of intraportal saline or GLP-1 during the experimental period (30 to 240 min). There was no significant difference between groups. Data are the average of values over 30 min segments and are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE.

#### **Discussion**

In the current study, conscious dogs were fasted for 18 hours, and then underwent a hyperglycemic clamp in the presence of either GLP-1 or saline given intraportally. The glucose and GLP-1 infusion rates were such that they brought about increases in plasma glucose and GLP-1 that resemble those seen after an oral glucose tolerance test (47). Glucose was infused through both the hepatic portal vein (4.0 mg/kg/min) and a peripheral vein (as needed) to clamp the arterial plasma glucose level at 160 mg/dl; however, pancreatic hormones were not clamped. In Specific Aim I, when this protocol was used in 42 hour fasted animals there was a significant increase in nonhepatic glucose uptake (Table 6.1) in response to GLP-1 infusion (268). This response occurred without any effect of GLP-1 on the pancreatic hormone levels (268). The question thus arises as to whether the long fast duration had in some way limited GLP-1's effects. The purpose of the current study, therefore, was to repeat our earlier experiment in animals that had only been fasted briefly and, as a consequence, had increased whole body insulin sensitivity and greater  $\beta$ -cell responsiveness (281-284). We hypothesized that under these conditions, GLP-1 infusion into the portal vein would cause greater nonhepatic glucose uptake than that seen in the previous study (268), in part at least because of an increase in insulin secretion.

In contrast to Specific Aim I, however, in the current study there was no difference in the glucose infusion rate required to maintain the glucose clamp when GLP-1 was infused intraportally as opposed to when saline was given via the portal vein (9.7  $\pm$ 1.5 vs. 10.6  $\pm$  1.3 mg/kg/min, average over final 2 hours; GLP-1 vs. SAL) (Figure 6.2). In addition, as was the case Specific Aims I & II, there was no effect of GLP-1 on insulin or

# TABLE 5.1

Comparison of glucose utilization parameters in 18 h fasted animals and 42 h fasted animals from Specific Aim I.

	18 h fast						42 h fast					
	Sa	alin	ie	G	LP	-1	S	alir	ie	G	LP	-1
Experimental Period Arterial Plasma Insulin (µU/ml)	33	±	4	31	±	3	*24	±	2	*22	±	3
Last 2 hr Arterial Plasma Insulin (µU/ml)	35	±	5	29	±	3	*23	±	2	23	±	3
Last 2 hr Hepatic Sinusoidal Plasma Insulin (µU/ml)	81	±	10	67	±	12	68	±	5	60	±	8
Last 2 hr Glucose Infusion Rate (mg/kg/min)	10.6	±	1.3	9.7	±	1.5	*6.0	±	0.5	†8.5	±	0.7
Last 2 hr Glucose Infusion Rate/												
Arterial Plasma Insulin Ratio (mg/kg/min / µU/ml)	0.35	±	0.08	0.35	±	0.05	0.27	±	0.03	†0.43	±	0.06
Last 2 hr Non-HGU (mg/kg/min)	7.1	±	1.5	6.2	±	1.4	3.8	±	0.7	†5.5	±	0.8
Last 2 hr Non-HGU/	0.00		0.00	0.01		0.04	0.17		0.02	0.00		0.07
Arterial Plasma Insulin Ratio (mg/kg/min / µU/ml)	0.23	±	0.08	0.21	±	0.04	0.17	±	0.03	0.29	±	0.07
Last 2 hr Net Hepatic Glucose Uptake (mg/kg/min) Last 2 hr Net Hepatic Glucose Uptake/	3.6	±	0.5	3.6	±	0.5	*2.4	±	0.4	3.0	±	0.4
Hepatic Sinusoidal Plasma Insulin (mg/kg/min / µU/ml)	0.047	±	0.009	0.066	±	0.014	0.037	±	0.008	0.059	±	0.014

Mean ± SE; \*P<0.05 vs.18 h; †P<0.05 vs. saline.

glucagon levels in plasma (268; 280) (Figure 6.3). Thus intraportal GLP-1 infusion did not have a greater effect on nonhepatic glucose uptake in the 18 h fasted dog than it did in animals fasted for 42 h (268), in fact, it had no effect whatsoever.

The total glucose infusion rate required to maintain arterial plasma glucose at 160 mg/dl in the 18 h fasted animals that received saline infusion in the current study was significantly greater than the infusion rate required to maintain a similar clamp in 42 h fasted dogs in Specific Aim I ( $10.6 \pm 1.3$  vs.  $6.0 \pm 0.5$  mg/kg/min, average over the final 2 hours; 18 vs. 42 h fast, p<0.01) (268). This can mainly be attributed to significantly greater arterial plasma insulin levels during the experimental period  $(33 \pm 4 \text{ vs}, 24 \pm 2 \text{ ms})$  $\mu$ U/ml; 18 vs. 42-h fast, p=0.02) (268), which probably resulted from increased glucose sensitivity at the  $\beta$ -cell (283). Insulin action, when expressed as a ratio of glucose uptake to insulin level, tended to be greater in the 18 h fasted animals. Using these parameters, insulin sensitivity increased in both hepatic  $(0.047 \pm 0.009 \text{ vs}, 0.037 \pm 0.008 \text{ mg/kg/min})$  $\mu$ U/ml; 18 h saline vs. 42 h saline) and nonhepatic (0.23 ± 0.08 vs. 0.17 ± 0.03 mg/kg/min /  $\mu$ U/ml; 18-SAL vs. 42-SAL) (Table 6.1) tissues by approximately 30% after the shorter fast. It has previously been shown that when glucose was delivered intraduodenally, 42 h fasted dogs had significantly greater circulating plasma glucose levels than 18 h fasted animals given the same glucose load; nevertheless, the 18 h fasted dogs maintained the same rate of glucose uptake by the liver and hindlimb as 42 h fasted dogs, even though the glucose loads (levels) to both of these tissues was significantly reduced in the shorter fasted animals (285). This agrees with the increase in insulin sensitivity caused by a decrease in fast duration observed in the current study. In addition, despite the increased arterial glucose level in the 42 h fasted animals that received

intraduodenal glucose, the 18 h and 42 h fasted groups had statistically similar arterial plasma insulin levels (285), confirming increased  $\beta$ -cell glucose sensitivity in the shorter fasted dogs.

There was no significant difference in the glucose infusion rates required to clamp the arterial plasma glucose level at 160 mg/dl in response to the combination of increased GLP-1, glucose, and insulin  $(9.7 \pm 1.5 \text{ vs. } 8.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ mg/kg/min}, \text{ average over final 2}$ hours) in 18 vs. 42 h fasted dogs (268). This indicates that intraportal GLP-1 infusion ameliorated the impaired insulin sensitivity evident in a 42 h fasted dog, but was without effect when insulin sensitivity was normal.

The question thus arises as to how a physiological increase in the plasma GLP-1 level could restore glucose utilization in the 42 h fasted dog, in Specific Aim I, to a rate not significantly different from that observed in an 18 h fasted animals. The decreased insulin sensitivity associated with an extended fast or calorie restriction is thought to be due to impaired insulin signaling (286) which results from increased circulating FFA levels and increased fat oxidation (282; 287; 288). In addition, increased FFA levels have been shown to result in  $\beta$ -cell impairment (289). Since others have shown that GLP-1 infusion can decrease circulating FFA (86), one might postulate that the plasma FFA were decreased to a greater extent in the GLP-1 infused 42 h fasted dogs than in the saline infused animals. Indeed, this was the case. The dogs which received GLP-1 in Specific Aim I had a lower level of plasma FFA during the experimental period than the saline infused dogs (168 ± 14 vs. 362 ± 111µmol/l, 42 h GLP-1 vs. 42 h saline, respectively) (268). In fact, the arterial plasma FFA levels were decreased by GLP-1 in the 42 h fasted dogs to the levels observed during the experimental period in the 18 h

fasted dogs that received either GLP-1 ( $178 \pm 31 \mu mol/l$ ) or saline ( $147\pm 26 \mu mol/l$ ). Further analysis of the data, however, does not support this hypothesis. If one considers the four saline infused animals (of a total eight) from Specific Aim I (42 h fasted dogs) which had the lowest arterial plasma FFA levels, it becomes obvious that their arterial plasma FFA levels fell to the level observed in the 42 h fasted GLP-1 infused animals ( $168 \pm 14 \text{ vs.} 172 \pm 32 \mu \text{mol/l}$ ; 42 h GLP-1 vs. 42 h saline-low FFA) (268). The glucose infusion rate in this subgroup ( $6.6 \pm 0.6 \text{ mg/kg/min}$ , average over final 2 hours) was still very different from that in the GLP-1 group ( $8.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ mg/kg/min}$ , average over final 2 hours) (268). Thus although glucose infusion was greater by 1.2 mg/kg/min in the controls which had lower FFA level, than the four saline infused 42 h fasted dogs with higher FFA levels ( $5.4 \pm 0.9 \text{ vs.} 6.6 \pm 0.6 \text{ mg/kg/min}$ , average final 2 hr; 42 h saline-high FFA vs. 42 h saline-low FFA) (268), this does not provide an explanation for GLP-1's actions. It remains to be determined what aspect of fasting associated with insulin resistance was mitigated by the physiological increase in GLP-1.

Differences in the effects of GLP-1 due to difference in fasting are not unprecedented. While GLP-1 does inhibit neural signals that trigger small bowl motility in fed rats, the amount of GLP-1 required for the same effect is significantly decreased in the fasted state (213; 290). It has even been suggested that the effect of GLP-1 on gut motility in the fasted and fed states actually are the result of two separate mechanisms, either dependent or independent, respectively, of nitric oxide signaling (213). In addition, it appears as though leptin, the circulating level of which decreases with fasting, augments the effect of GLP-1 on food intake only in the fed state when leptin levels are increased (291). Absence of a change in pancreatic hormone levels in response to a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels in the dog is in agreement with Specific Aims I & II (268; 280) and that of others (237). This issue has been addressed in previous aims (268; 280); however, in brief, it appears as though in the dog a physiological increase of GLP-1 delivered via the hepatic portal vein does not have an incretin effect. Despite this finding, one cannot conclude that endogenously released GLP-1 does not have an incretin effect in the dog. Such an action could be initiated by a neural signal closer to the L cell, possibly via an interaction of GLP-1 at the local level with the afferent vagal nerve endings in the basolateral membrane of the entero-endocrine cells, much in the same manner as cholecystokinin (CCK) interacts at these nerve endings to initiate its gastric effects (292).

In the dog, glucose responsiveness of the  $\beta$ -cell is greater in 18 h than 42 h fasted animals, and there tends to be an increase in insulin sensitivity at liver and muscle. Together, these actions result in more efficient whole body glucose utilization. The results of the current study indicate that, in 18 h fasted dogs, a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels does not alter insulin secretion. Additionally, unlike the case with 42 h fasted dogs in Specific Aim I, GLP-1 did not increase nonhepatic glucose utilization in 18 h fasted dogs. This suggests that GLP-1 can improve nonhepatic glucose uptake without altering pancreatic hormone secretion, but only when the former is impaired, as in the long-fasted state.

# **CHAPTER VI**

# THE ROLE OF ENDONGENOUSLY RELEASED GLP-1 IN GLUCOSE REGULATION IN NORMAL AND INSULIN RESISTANT DOGS

# **Specific Aim IV-Introduction**

Approximately half of all secreted GLP-1 is degraded between the site of secretion and the portal vasculature (58). It is possible that, upon secretion, GLP-1 acts in a paracrine manner by activating receptors in the vasculature close to the site of secretion, upstream from the hepatic portal vein. In the gut, vagal afferents terminate in the region of the basolateral membrane of entero-endocrine cells, an established mechanism by which cholecystokinin (CCK) regulates gastric emptying and food intake (292). It is therefore possible that GLP-1 acts in a similar manner.

In the previous aims, GLP-1 was infused into the hepatic portal vein to create a physiological increase in the levels of the peptide, so that levels in the hepatic portal vein were approximately twice those observed in the periphery, mimicking levels observed after an OGTT (47); however, intraportal infusion does not elevate GLP-1 in the vasculature surrounding the L cell, as would occur in response to endogenous GLP-1 secretion. Although GLP-1 is best known for its action at the  $\beta$ -cell, intraportal GLP-1 infusion did not alter pancreatic hormone levels in any of the previous protocols. It is possible that the contribution of GLP-1 to the incretin effect is mediated through its elevation in direct proximity to its site of secretion. Endogenously secreted GLP-1 may also have other effects on postprandial glucose disposition which were not observed in the previous protocols.

It has been established in the human that one effect of a physiological rise in GLP-1 after a meal is slowed gastric emptying (293). In agreement with that, circulating postprandial GLP-1 levels are inversely correlated to the rate of gastric emptying (214). In humans, when GLP-1 is infused during a meal, postprandial glycemia is decreased, and insulin levels are below those seen in the absence of GLP-1 (210). This indicates that increased insulin is not the cause of the decreased blood glucose level. When GLP-1 action is blocked in humans after an OGTT, peripheral plasma glucose levels are elevated, and this is accompanied by an appropriately elevated insulin level (294). Combined, these results indicate that a primary role of endogenously secreted GLP-1 in glucose regulation may be to slow gastric emptying (210), which inturn would limit the elevation of glycemia.

Specific Aim I established that intraportal GLP-1 delivery increased nonhepatic glucose uptake (268). In Specific Aim II, it was determined that this action was dependent on intraportal glucose delivery (280), essentially recreating arterial-hepatoportal gradients of both GLP-1 and glucose observed after a meal. Results from Specific Aim I and II (268; 280), from previous work done in our lab (47), and from the work of others (98), indicate that GLP-1 can have a direct effect on hepatic glucose uptake. Therefore, glucose uptake could be another way in which endogenously secreted GLP-1 decreases postprandial glucose levels.

Specific Aim IV was to determine if endogenously released GLP-1 has any impact on postprandial glucose disposal in the dog through its effects on the pancreas, gastric emptying, and/or glucose utilization. To execute this aim we studied healthy dogs and an additional subset of insulin resistant dogs, twice each. The animals received either

a peripheral saline or exendin (9-39) (Ex-9) infusion in random order. Ex-9 is an antagonist of the GLP-1R. During both studies the dogs received an orally delivered liquid meal consisting of carbohydrate, fat, and protein, to induce endogenous GLP-1 secretion. The meal was spiked with acetaminophen to quantify gastric emptying. Effects of endogenous GLP-1 secretion on pancreatic hormone secretion, glucose utilization, and gastric emptying were assessed.

### **Results**

*Plasma GLP-1 Levels.* In the *normal dogs*, arterial plasma GLP-1 levels were at a minimum during the basal period  $(3.6 \pm 1.8 \text{ and } 5.6 \pm 2.9 \text{ pM}, \text{ saline and Ex-9},$  respectively) and during the infusion of saline or Ex-9  $(3.5 \pm 1.8 \text{ and } 5.0 \pm 2.8 \text{ pM}, \text{ t=30} \text{ min})$  prior to the meal (Table 6.1). GLP-1 levels increased in response to the meal to 9.7  $\pm 2.6 \text{ pM}$  (45 to 200 min) with saline infusion and  $16.7 \pm 4.4 \text{ pM}$  with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1). In the *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma GLP-1 levels were minimal during the basal period ( $0.3 \pm 0.3 \text{ and } 0.1 \pm 0.1 \text{ pM}$ , saline and Ex-9, respectively) and during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 ( $0.2 \pm 0.3 \text{ and } 0.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ pM}$ , t=30 min) prior to the meal (Table 6.1). After meal administration (45 to 200 min) levels reached 1.5  $\pm 1.5 \text{ pM}$  with saline infusion and  $2.3 \pm 2.0 \text{ pM}$  with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1).

*Plasma Acetaminophen Levels.* To assess gastric emptying circulating plasma acetaminophen levels were measured. After administration of the meal to *normal dogs*, arterial plasma acetaminophen levels were significantly lower (p=0.04) when saline was infused ( $6.7 \pm 1.1 \mu g/ml$  from 45 to 200 min) than when Ex-9 was infused ( $8.2 \pm 0.9 \mu g/ml$  (Figure 6.1A). The area under the curve for the increase from baseline ( $\Delta$  AUC)

#### TABLE 6.1

Levels observed during basal (-20 to 0 min) and experimental period, both prior (0 to 30 min) and after (30 to 320 min) meal administration. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. \*=P<0.05 compared to saline.

	Basal	Experimental Period									
	Period	30	45	60	80	110	140	200	260	320	
Plasma GLP-1 Levels (nl	<b>V</b> D										
Normal Dogs (n=8) - Arte	<u></u> erial Plasma GLP	-1									
Saline	3.6 + 1.8	-3.5 + 1.8	10.6 + 5.4	10.3 + 3.4	7.8 + 3.0	8.5 + 2.9	8.4 + 2.4	13.6 + 3.3	15.1 + 4.9	9.2 + 3.7	
Exendin (9-39)	$5.6 \pm 2.9$	$5.0 \pm 2.8$	8.3 + 3.6	15.6 + 8.5	14.1 + 3.6	15.1 + 4.5	16.6 + 4.9	24.8 + 8.1	25.1 + 12.4	$14.7 \pm 6.5$	
Insulin Resistant Dogs (n	=3) - Deen Venou	s Plasma GLP-1	0.0 - 0.0	1010 - 010	1 = 0.00		1010 - 115	2.00 2.000		1.00 = 0.0	
Saline	0.3 + 0.3	0.2 + 0.3	0.4 + 0.5	0.8 + 0.9	2.2 + 2.5	1.4 + 1.6	1.3 + 1.6	2.0 + 1.2	3.4 + 4.2	1.7 + 2.1	
Exendin (9-39)	$0.1 \pm 0.1$	$0.2 \pm 0.2$	$0.2 \pm 0.2$	$0.6 \pm 0.4$	$4.1 \pm 3.8$	$3.2 \pm 2.0$	$2.4 \pm 2.6$	$1.5 \pm 1.1$	$0.4 \pm 0.3$	$0.1 \pm 0.1$	
Plasma C-Peptide Levels	(ng/ml)										
Normal Dogs (n=8) - Arte	erial Plasma C-Pe	ptide									
Saline	$0.37 \pm 0.07$	$0.31 \pm 0.07$	$1.03 \pm 0.40$	$1.33 \pm 0.35$	$1.62 \pm 0.32$	$0.93 \pm 0.28$	$1.49 \pm 0.44$	$1.45 \pm 0.20$	$1.31 \pm 0.19$	$0.97 \pm 0.22$	
Exendin (9-39)	$0.33 \pm 0.10$	$0.36 \pm 0.07$	$1.67 \pm 0.63$	$1.88 \pm 0.34$	$1.83 \pm 0.26$	$1.66 \pm 0.21$	$1.62 \pm 0.19$	$1.45 \pm 0.14$	$0.94 \pm 0.26$	$0.83 \pm 0.25$	
Insulin Resistant Dogs (n	=3) - Deep Venou	s Plasma C-Pepti	ide								
Saline	$0.34 \pm 0.08$	$0.50 \pm 0.11$	$0.49 \pm 0.18$	$0.84 \pm 0.30$	$1.70 \pm 0.54$	$1.84 \pm 0.43$	$1.99 \pm 0.48$	$1.99 \pm 0.29$	$1.34 \pm 0.39$	$1.21 \pm 0.45$	
Exendin (9-39)	$0.40 \pm 0.08$	$0.39 \pm 0.12$	$0.58 \pm 0.09$	$0.87 \pm 0.51$	$1.90 \pm 0.84$	$*2.79 \pm 0.14$	$2.50 \pm 0.48$	$2.47 \pm 0.25$	$1.22 \pm 0.41$	$0.94 \pm 0.23$	
Plasma Glucagon Levels	<u>(pg/ml)</u>										
Normal Dogs (n=8) - Arte	erial Plasma Gluc	agon									
Saline	47 ± 5	$44 \pm 3$	$50 \pm 3$	$43 \pm 5$	$46 \pm 6$	$42 \pm 4$	44 ± 5	$44 \pm 6$	$45 \pm 9$	44 ± 7	
Exendin (9-39)	41 ± 7	$40 \pm 6$	$43 \pm 8$	$40 \pm 9$	45 ± 9	$42 \pm 8$	49 ± 9	$52 \pm 11$	$51 \pm 10$	49 ± 9	
Insulin Resistant Dogs (n	=3) - Deep Venou	s Plasma Glucag	on								
Saline	$43 \pm 6$	$43 \pm 10$	$60 \pm 16$	$60 \pm 9$	$61 \pm 9$	$51 \pm 6$	$51 \pm 6$	$48 \pm 3$	$44 \pm 3$	$44 \pm 6$	
Exendin (9-39)	$42 \pm 4$	41 ± 5	51 ± 9	54 ± 12	62 ± 19	$51 \pm 8$	$51 \pm 11$	47 ± 6	$36 \pm 9$	$46 \pm 8$	
Plasma Free-Fatty Acid I	Levels (µmol/l)										
Normal Dogs (n=8) - Arte	erial Plasma Free-	-Fatty Acids									
Saline	884 ± 143	912 ± 117	684 ± 153	$408 \pm 171$	$240 \pm 95$	$217 \pm 82$	$206 \pm 76$	$142 \pm 44$	$93 \pm 29$	$138 \pm 29$	
Exendin (9-39)	$773 \pm 106$	$770 \pm 105$	$712 \pm 143$	$422 \pm 188$	$225 \pm 89$	$146 \pm 52$	$120 \pm 36$	$158 \pm 97$	159 ± 74	$168 \pm 63$	
Insulin Resistant Dogs (n	=3) - Deep Venou	s Plasma Free-Fa	atty Acids								
Saline	$731 \pm 90$	$738 \pm 36$	$680 \pm 75$	577 ± 22	$356 \pm 132$	$180 \pm 122$	96 ± 58	$51 \pm 29$	77 ± 12	$199 \pm 105$	
Exendin (9-39)	$842 \pm 81$	758 ± 74	$935 \pm 193$	734 ± 156	441 ± 179	$176 \pm 62$	$100 \pm 51$	$70 \pm 32$	81 ± 33	$301 \pm 71$	



**Figure 6.1** Plasma acetaminophen levels and  $\Delta$  AUC. *A*: Arterial plasma acetaminophen levels for normal dogs after meal and  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min (inset). Data are mean ± SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *B*: Deep venous plasma acetaminophen levels for insulin resistant dogs after meal and  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min (inset). Data are mean ± SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *C*: Individual arterial plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for normal dogs. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *D*: Individual deep venous plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for normal dogs. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *D*: Individual deep venous plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for normal dogs. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *D*: Individual deep venous plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for normal dogs. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *D*: Individual deep venous plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for normal dogs. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *D*: Individual deep venous plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for normal dogs. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion. *D*: Individual deep venous plasma acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min for insulin resistant dogs.

from 45 to 200 min was also significantly lower (p=0.04) with saline infusion (1041 ± 177 µg/ml\*155 min) versus Ex-9 infusion (1268 ± 140 µg/ml\*155 min) (Figure 6.1A, inset, Figure 6.1C). This represents an 18 ± 10% decrease in the  $\Delta$  AUC when GLP-1 was able to interact with its receptor. After administration of the meal to *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma acetaminophen levels averaged 3.7 ± 1.1 µg/ml with saline infusion (45 to 200 min; Figure 6.1B). With Ex-9 infusion, deep venous plasma acetaminophen levels averaged 5.6 ± 1.4 µg/ml (45 to 200 min; Figure 6.3B).  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min was 574 ± 171 µg/ml\*155 min with saline infusion, which was 32 ± 20% lower than when Ex-9 was infused (866 ± 217\*155 min) (Figure 6.1B, inset, Figure 6.1D).

*Net Gut and Splanchnic Glucose Balance.* We next determined the effect of gastric emptying on net gut glucose absorption and net splanchnic glucose balance. Total hepatic blood flow was nearly identical between the two protocols in *normal dogs* prior to meal administration (Table 6.2). After administration of the meal, hepatic portal vein blood flow increased by ~ 30%, regardless of treatment (Table 6.2). Net gut glucose output after the meal (45 to 200 min) was 7.6 ± 1.1 mg/kg/min with saline infusion and 11.2 ± 2.2 mg/kg/min with Ex-9 infusion (Figure 6.2A). Net splanchnic glucose output after the meal (45 to 200 min) was 4.5 ± 1.0 mg/kg/min with saline infusion and 7.8 ± 2.0 mg/kg/min with Ex-9 infusion (Figure 6.2B). These parameters were not measured in the *insulin resistant dogs*.

*Plasma Glucose.* In the *normal dogs*, the basal arterial plasma glucose levels were  $119 \pm 2$  and  $118 \pm 2$  mg/dl prior to saline or Ex-9 infusion, respectively (Figure 6.3A). Saline or Ex-9 were started at t=0 min and arterial plasma levels did not change from basal (118)

## TABLE 6.2

Blood flow in normal dogs during basal (-20 to 0 min) and experimental period, both prior (0 to 30 min) and after (30 to 320 min) meal administration. Data are expressed as mean ± SE.

	Basal		Experimental Period								
	Period	30	45 60		80	110	140	200	260	320	
Hepatic Artery Blood Flo	ow (ml/kg/min, n=	8)									
Saline	$7.2 \pm 0.6$	$6.6 \pm 0.6$	$7.8 \pm 0.8$	$7.3 \pm 0.8$	$7.2 \pm 0.8$	$7.4 \pm 1.0$	$7.3 \pm 0.7$	$7.0 \pm 0.4$	$6.9 \pm 0.5$	$6.7 \pm 0.4$	
Exendin (9-39)	$6.1 \pm 0.6$	$5.8 \pm 0.6$	$7.1 \pm 0.9$	$6.2 \pm 0.9$	$6.3 \pm 0.7$	$5.8 \pm 0.5$	$6.1 \pm 0.7$	$5.5 \pm 0.4$	$5.5 \pm 0.4$	$5.5 \pm 0.4$	
Hepatic Portal Vein Bloo	d Flow (ml/kg/mi	n, n=8)									
Saline	$29.2 \pm 2.8$	$32.2 \pm 2.8$	$34.0 \pm 2.3$	$36.0 \pm 2.1$	$35.9 \pm 2.2$	$33.6 \pm 2.5$	$32.7 \pm 2.2$	$34.4 \pm 2.3$	$35.6 \pm 2.5$	$33.0 \pm 2.3$	
Exendin (9-39)	$28.2 \pm 2.1$	$28.9 \pm 2.0$	$36.3 \pm 1.7$	$38.2 \pm 2.1$	$38.6 \pm 2.4$	$37.1 \pm 3.3$	$38.7 \pm 2.7$	$37.8 \pm 2.5$	$37.0 \pm 1.8$	$34.0 \pm 2.1$	
Total Blood Flow (ml/kg/	/min, n=8)										
Saline	$36.4 \pm 3.2$	$38.8 \pm 3.0$	$41.8 \pm 2.6$	$43.3 \pm 2.0$	$43.1 \pm 1.9$	$41.0 \pm 2.5$	$40.0 \pm 1.9$	$41.5 \pm 2.3$	$42.4 \pm 2.5$	$39.7 \pm 2.4$	
Exendin (9-39)	$34.4 \pm 2.4$	$34.7 \pm 2.3$	$43.4 \pm 2.2$	$44.4 \pm 2.3$	$44.9 \pm 2.6$	$42.9 \pm 3.3$	$44.8 \pm 2.5$	$43.3 \pm 2.4$	$42.5 \pm 1.9$	$39.5 \pm 2.4$	
Hindlimb Blood Flow (m	l/min, n=3)										
Saline	$101 \pm 11$	$120 \pm 20$	$105 \pm 11$	$102 \pm 17$	$104 \pm 7$	$114 \pm 18$	$122 \pm 15$	$100 \pm 10$	$112 \pm 22$	$147 \pm 4$	
Exendin (9-39)	$119 \pm 6$	$132 \pm 8$	$114 \pm 12$	$138 \pm 10$	$146 \pm 16$	$128 \pm 15$	$110 \pm 8$	$169 \pm 38$	$152 \pm 24$	$202 \pm 29$	


**Figure 6.2** Net gut and splanchnic glucose balance during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). *A*: Net gut glucose balance in normal dogs. *B*: Net splanchnic glucose balance in normal dogs. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion.



**Figure 6.3** Plasma glucose levels during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). *A*: Arterial plasma glucose levels for normal dogs and  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min (inset). *B*: Deep venous plasma glucose levels for insulin resistant dogs and  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min (inset). Data are mean  $\pm$  SE.

 $\pm$  3 and 117  $\pm$  2 mg/dl, t=30 min). After administration of the meal, the arterial plasma glucose levels averaged 156  $\pm$  8 mg/dl during saline infusion, and 163  $\pm$  7 mg/dl during Ex-9 infusion (Figure 6.3A, 45 to 200 min).  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min was 5725  $\pm$  1347 mg/dl\*155 min and 7085  $\pm$  1176 mg/dl\*155 min, in the presence of saline and Ex-9, respectively (Figure 6.3A, inset). This represents a 19  $\pm$  12% decrease in the  $\Delta$  AUC when GLP-1 was able to interact with its receptor. In the *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma glucose levels during the basal period (-20 to 0 min) were 110  $\pm$  2 and 108  $\pm$  3 mg/dl prior to saline or Ex-9 infusion, respectively. Plasma glucose did not change in response to saline or Ex-9 infusion (112  $\pm$  1 and 107  $\pm$  3 mg/dl, t=30 min). After the meal was administered the deep venous plasma glucose levels averaged 173  $\pm$  33 mg/dl (45 to 200 min) during saline infusion and 203  $\pm$  39 mg/dl with Ex-9 infusion (Figure 6.3B).  $\Delta$  AUC from 45 to 200 min was 9741  $\pm$  4880 mg/dl\*155 min with saline and 14827  $\pm$  5654 mg/dl\*155 with Ex-9 infusion (p=0.06). This represents a 37  $\pm$  12% decrease when GLP-1 interacted with its receptor (Figure 6.1B, inset).

*Plasma Insulin Levels.* In the *normal dogs*, arterial plasma insulin levels during the basal period (9 ± 2 and 8 ± 2  $\mu$ U/ml, saline and Ex-9, respectively) were similar between the two groups, and did not change during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 (9 ± 1 and 8 ± 2  $\mu$ U/ml, t=30 min) prior to the meal (Figure 6.4A). After the meal was administered (45 to 200 min), the circulating insulin levels increased in response to hyperglycemia with both saline (49 ± 9  $\mu$ U/ml) and Ex-9 infusion (55 ± 7  $\mu$ U/ml) (Figure 6.4A). The ratio of arterial plasma insulin to arterial plasma glucose, prior to the meal, averaged 0.07 ± 0.01 and 0.07 ± 0.01  $\mu$ U/mg (Figure 6.4C). After the meal (45 to 200 min), the average ratio was 0.31 ± 0.07 and 0.34 ± 0.05  $\mu$ U/mg with saline and Ex-9 infusion, respectively



**Figure 6.4** Plasma insulin levels and ratio of insulin levels to plasma glucose levels during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). A: Arterial plasma insulin levels from normal dogs. B: Deep venous plasma insulin levels from insulin resistant dogs. C: Ratio of arterial plasma insulin to arterial plasma glucose levels from normal dogs. D: Ratio of deep venous insulin to deep venous plasma glucose levels from insulin resistant dogs. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion.

(Figure 6.4C). In the *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma insulin levels during the basal period ( $12 \pm 1$  and  $12 \pm 3 \mu$ U/ml, saline and Ex-9, respectively) were identical between the two studies, and the levels did not change significantly during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 ( $16 \pm 6$  and  $11 \pm 2 \mu$ U/ml, t=30 min) prior to the meal (Figure 6.4B). After the meal was administered (45 to 200 min) the circulating insulin levels increased in response to hyperglycemia during saline ( $69 \pm 14 \mu$ U/ml) and Ex-9 infusion ( $89 \pm 6 \mu$ U/ml, p=0.05) infusion (Figure 6.4B). The ratio of arterial plasma insulin to arterial plasma glucose prior to the meal averaged 0.11 ± 0.04 and 0.11 ± 0.01  $\mu$ U/mg, while the ratios after administration of the meal (45 to 200 min) were 0.39 ± 0.01 and 0.44 ± 0.06  $\mu$ U/mg with saline and Ex-9 infusion, respectively (Figure 6.4D).

*Plasma C-peptide Levels.* In the *normal dogs*, arterial plasma C-peptide levels were similar between treatments during the basal period  $(0.37 \pm 0.07 \text{ and } 0.33 \pm 0.10 \text{ ng/ml}$ , saline and Ex-9, respectively), with no change during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 (0.31  $\pm 0.07$  and  $0.36 \pm 0.07$  ng/ml, t=30 min) prior to the meal (Table 6.1). After the meal (45 to 200 min), C-peptide levels were  $1.35 \pm 0.26$  ng/ml with saline infusion and  $1.66 \pm 0.15$ ng/ml with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1). In the *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma C-peptide levels were similar between treatments during the basal period ( $0.34 \pm 0.08$ and  $0.40 \pm 0.08$  ng/ml, saline and Ex-9, respectively) and during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 ( $0.50 \pm 0.11$  and  $0.39 \pm 0.12$  ng/ml, t=30 min), prior to the meal (Table 6.1). Deep venous plasma C-peptide levels after administration of the meal (45 to 200 min) were  $1.71 \pm 0.31$  ng/ml with saline infusion but significantly greater with Ex-9 infusion (2.18  $\pm$ 0.36 ng/ml, p=0.01) (Table 6.1). *Plasma Glucagon Levels.* In the *normal dogs*, arterial plasma glucagon levels were similar between treatments during the basal period (47 ± 5 and 41 ± 7 pg/ml, saline and Ex-9, respectively), with no change during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 (44 ± 3 and 40 ± 6 pg/ml, t=30 min), prior to the meal (Table 6.1). After administration of the meal (45 to 200 min), glucagon levels were 44 ± 5 pg/ml with saline infusion and 46 ± 9 pg/ml with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1). In the *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma glucagon levels were similar between treatments during the basal period (-20 to 0 min) (43 ± 6 and  $42 \pm 4$  pg/ml, saline and Ex-9, respectively) and during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 (43 ± 14 and 41 ± 5 pg/ml, t=30 min) prior to the meal (Table 6.1). Deep venous plasma glucagon levels after administration of the meal (45 to 200 min) were 53 ± 6 pg/ml with saline infusion and 52 ± 10 pg/ml with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1).

*Plasma FFA Levels.* In the *normal dogs*, arterial plasma FFA levels were similar prior to both treatments during the basal period (884 ± 143 and 773 ± 106 µmol/l, saline and Ex-9, respectively), with no change during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 (912 ± 117 and 770 ± 105 µmol/l, t=30 min) prior to the meal (Table 6.1). After administration of the meal (45 to 200 min), FFA levels were 247 ± 82 µmol/l with saline infusion and 212 ± 76 µmol/l with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1). In the *insulin resistant dogs*, deep venous plasma FFA levels were similar between studies during the basal period (731 ± 90 and 842 ± 81 µmol/l, saline and Ex-9, respectively) and during the infusion of saline or Ex-9 (738 ± 36 and 758 ± 74 pg/ml, t=30 min) prior to the meal (Table 6.1). Deep venous plasma FFA levels after administration of the meal (45 to 200 min) were 228 ± 65 µmol/l with saline infusion and 276 ± 66 µmol/l with Ex-9 infusion (Table 6.1). *Net Hepatic Glucose Uptake.* In *normal dogs*, the hepatic glucose load was  $34.8 \pm 3.1$ and  $30.0 \pm 2.2$  mg/kg/min prior to the meal (-20 to 30 min) and  $56.9 \pm 4.7$  and  $66.1 \pm 4.3$ mg/kg/min after the meal (45 to 200 min) with saline and Ex-9 infusion, respectively (Figure 6.5A). NHGB was in a state of output prior to the meal  $(2.4 \pm 0.2 \text{ and } 1.6 \pm 0.3 \text{ m})$ mg/kg/min, average -20 to 30 min, saline and Ex-9, respectively), and switched to uptake after meal administration (-3.2  $\pm$  1.3 and -3.4  $\pm$  0.8 mg/kg/min, average 45 to 200 min, saline and Ex-9) (Figure 6.5B). Hepatic fractional extraction was similar with the two treatments prior to  $(-0.07 \pm 0.01 \text{ and } -0.06 \pm 0.01, \text{ average } -20 \text{ to } 30 \text{ min, saline and Ex-9},$ respectively) and after meal administration  $(0.05 \pm 0.02 \text{ and } 0.05 \pm 0.01)$ , average 45 to 200 min, saline and Ex-9, respectively) (Figure 6.5C). Hepatic fractional extraction as a ratio to sinusoidal insulin levels were assessed at limited time points, due to limited portal sampling of insulin. There was no difference in this ratio in prior (-0.0036  $\pm$  0.0004 and  $0.0043 \pm 0.0012$ , saline and Ex-9) or after the meal ( $0.0017 \pm 0.0009$  and  $0.0007 \pm$ 0.0005, saline and Ex-9) (Figure 6.5D). Net hepatic glucose uptake was not assessed in the insulin resistant dogs.

*Nonhepatic Glucose Uptake.* In *normal dogs*, nonhepatic glucose uptake (Non-HGU) was similar in both studies during the basal period  $(2.1 \pm 0.4 \text{ and } 1.2 \pm 0.4 \text{ mg/kg/min})$ , saline and Ex-9, respectively), with no change in response to either saline or Ex-9 infusion  $(2.1 \pm 0.3 \text{ and } 1.1 \pm 0.3 \text{ mg/kg/min})$ ; however, after the meal, Ex-9 infusion resulted in significantly greater Non-HGU  $(4.1 \pm 1.1 \text{ vs}. 7.5 \pm 2.0 \text{ mg/kg/min})$ , saline vs. Ex-9, average 45 to 200 min, p=0.049) (Figure 6.6A). Nonhepatic glucose clearance was similar between the two treatments prior to the meal  $(2.4 \pm 0.3 \text{ and } 1.5 \pm 0.3 \text{ ml/kg/min})$ , average -20 to 30 min, saline and Ex-9, respectively) (Figure 6.6B). After administration



**Figure 6.5** Hepatic glucose uptake in normal dogs during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). *A*: Hepatic glucose load. *B*: Net hepatic glucose balance. C: Hepatic fractional extraction. *D*: Ratio of hepatic fractional extraction to sinusoidal insulin. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion.



**Figure 6.6** Nonhepatic glucose uptake in normal dogs during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). A: Nonhepatic glucose uptake. *B*: Nonhepatic glucose clearance. *C*: Ratio of nonhepatic glucose clearance to arterial plasma insulin. Data are mean over time period  $\pm$  SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion.

of the meal (45 to 200 min), average nonhepatic glucose clearance was  $3.5 \pm 1.0$  ml/kg/min with saline infusion and  $6.4 \pm 1.8$  ml/kg/min with Ex-9 infusion (Figure 6.6B). The ratio of nonhepatic glucose clearance to arterial plasma insulin was not different in the two treatments prior to meal delivery ( $0.29 \pm 0.03$  and  $0.27 \pm 0.08$  ml/kg/min /  $\mu$ U/ml, -20 to 30 min, saline and Ex-9, respectively), but after meal delivery (45 to 200 min) the ratio with Ex-9 infusion was significantly greater than with saline infusion (0.14  $\pm 0.02$  vs.  $0.09 \pm 0.02$  ml/kg/min /  $\mu$ U/ml, Ex-9 vs. saline, p=0.03) (Figure 6.6C).

Nonhepatic glucose uptake was not assessed in the insulin resistant dogs.

*Hindlimb Blood Flow and Glucose Utilization.* Hindlimb glucose balance was assessed in a subset of 3 *normal dogs.* There was no difference in average hindlimb blood flow prior to or after meal administration (Table 6.2). There was no difference in hindlimb glucose uptake between treatments prior to the meal ( $2.4 \pm 0.6$  and  $3.9 \pm 1.7$  mg/min, -20 to 30 min, saline and Ex-9); however, after delivery of the meal (45 to 200 min), when animals received Ex-9 ( $17.2 \pm 1.8$  mg/min), they had significantly greater hindlimb glucose uptake than when they received saline ( $9.5 \pm 0.9$  mg/min, p=0.029) (Figure 6.7A). There was no difference in average hindlimb clearance between studies prior to the meal ( $2.8 \pm 0.7$  and  $4.5 \pm 2.0$  ml/min, -20 to 30 min, saline and Ex-9) (Figure 6.7B). After delivery of the meal (45 to 200 min), when animals received Ex-9 ( $14.0 \pm 2.1$ ml/min), they had significantly greater hindlimb clearance than when they received saline ( $8.2 \pm 1.5$  ml/min, p=0.015) (Figure 6.7B). The ratio of hindlimb glucose clearance to arterial plasma insulin was not different between treatments before ( $0.39 \pm 0.11$  and 0.50  $\pm 0.16$  ml/min /  $\mu$ U/ml, -20 to 30 min, saline and Ex-9) or after the meal ( $0.28 \pm 0.19$  and



**Figure 6.7** Hindlimb glucose utilization in a subset (n=3) of normal dogs during the basal period (-20 to 0 min), experimental period prior to meal (0 to 30 min), and experimental period post meal (30 to 320 min). *A*: Hindlimb glucose uptake. *B*: Hindlimb glucose clearance. *C*: Ratio of hindlimb glucose clearance to arterial plasma insulin. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. \*: P < 0.05 compared to saline infusion.

 $0.32 \pm 0.09$  ml/min /  $\mu$ U/ml, 45 to 200 min, saline and Ex-9) (Figure 6.7C). Hindlimb balance was not assessed in the *insulin resistant dogs*.

## **Discussion**

The purpose of Specific Aim IV was to determine if endogenously secreted GLP-1 has a role in postprandial glucose regulation in the dog. To induce endogenous GLP-1 secretion, a liquid mixed meal was administered orally to both normal and insulin resistant dogs. Each dog was given a meal twice, 30 min after the start of either saline or a GLP-1R antagonist, exendin (9-39) (Ex-9), infusion. The rate at which Ex-9 was infused (500 pmol/kg/min) has been shown in humans to fully block the insulin secretory effect of GLP-1 and does not have agonist effects (294).

The circulating GLP-1 levels were increased in response to the meal in both the normal and insulin resistant dogs; however, levels tended to be greater with Ex-9 infusion than with saline infusion (Table 6.1). This effect has also been observed with Ex-9 infusion in humans (295). Increased GLP-1 level in the presence of Ex-9 could be due to: 1) differences in nutrient load to the gut which would result in differences in nutrient contact with the L cell, 2) negative feedback with inhibition of GLP-1 signaling, 3) a decrease in endocytosis of the peptide with interaction at the GLP-1R, or 4) any combinations of these possibilities. Evaluation of postprandial GLP-1 levels also indicates that the deep venous plasma GLP-1 levels in the insulin resistant dogs are drastically decreased when compared to arterial plasma GLP-1 level in the normal dogs (Table 6.1). This may be directly due to differences in sampling site, or it could be a consequence of the induction of insulin resistance.

Each meal administered to the dogs was spiked with acetaminophen.

Acetaminophen is not absorbed by the stomach, but it is absorbed by the gut directly upon leaving the stomach; therefore, circulating acetaminophen levels can be used to quantify gastric emptying. When GLP-1 action was blocked, in both the normal and insulin resistant dogs, acetaminophen levels were higher for approximately 3-4 h after the meal was given (Figure 6.1A, B). In light of the acetaminophen data, we analyzed the response between t=45 min, the first sample taken after meal administration, and t=200, the last sample in which the acetaminophen levels were greater with Ex-9 than saline in both the normal and insulin resistant dogs. The acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC (45 to 200 min) was significantly greater in normal dogs and tended to be greater in insulin resistant dogs when Ex-9 was infused rather than saline (Figure 6.1C, D). Blocking GLP-1 action thus resulted in a decrease in acetaminophen  $\Delta$  AUC by 18 ± 10% in the normal dogs and 32 ± 20% in the insulin resistant dogs. This indicates that endogenous GLP-1 secretion slows gastric emptying for about 2 h and that this mechanism is intact in the insulin resistant dogs.

The question thus arises as to how the modest increase in GLP-1 levels seen in normal dogs, and the dramatically muted augmentation of circulating GLP-1 levels seen in the insulin resistant dogs (Table 6.1) could slow gastric emptying. It is possible that a physiological elevation of GLP-1 in a specific region near its site of release may initiate its postprandial effects and that dramatic elevations in circulating GLP-1 levels are not required. Consistent with the explanation that GLP-1 initiates its effects in a paracrine action close to its site of secretion is the belief that half of GLP-1 secreted is degraded prior to reaching the portal vasculature (58). CCK acts in such a manner to control

gastric emptying and feeding behavior. It interacts with its receptor at the vagal afferents which terminate in the region of the basolateral membrane in close proximity to enteroendocrine cells (292). It is known that the effects of GLP-1 on gastric motility and acid secretion in humans are dependent on vagal innervation (296), and it has been suggested that in pigs GLP-1 initiates this mechanism by decreasing afferent vagal firing from the gut (211), opposite of the effect observed in the hepatic portal vein in rats (96). It is likely that after a meal GLP-1 is secreted into the vasculature, interacts with its receptor at vagal nerve endings in a paracrine fashion, thereby inhibits parasympathetic flow, and results in slowed gastric emptying.

The effect of slowed gastric emptying on glycemia on two parameters related to glucose absorption were assessed in the normal dogs. Net gut glucose output (7.6  $\pm$  1.1 vs. 11.2  $\pm$  2.2 mg/kg/min, 45 to 200 min, saline vs. Ex-9) and net splanchnic glucose output (4.5  $\pm$  1.0 vs. 7.8  $\pm$  2.0 mg/kg/min, 45 to 200 min, saline vs. Ex-9), were both elevated as a result of an increased rate of gastric emptying when GLP-1 action was blocked (Figure 6.2). It is evident that accelerated gastric emptying contributed to increased glucose absorption as a result of increased glucose load to the gut, but at this point it is unclear if GLP-1 action had a direct effect on the transit of glucose from the gastrointestinal tract into the vasculature of the gut, per se. Increased glucose absorption, due to the accelerated rate of gastric emptying in the early post-meal period, resulted in increased peripheral glycemia. In both the normal and insulin resistant dogs, when GLP-1 action was blocked, average arterial plasma glucose levels and the  $\Delta$  AUC tended to be greater (Figure 6.3). This occurred over the same duration in which gastric emptying was increased (45 to 200 min). The  $\Delta$  AUC of plasma glucose levels were increased 19  $\pm$ 

12% in normal dogs and 37  $\pm$  12% in insulin resistant dogs, similar to the changes observed in  $\Delta$  AUC of acetaminophen levels over the same time period. This supports the concept that the effect of GLP-1 on gastric emptying contributes to its role in postprandial glucose regulation.

Although GLP-1 is highly touted for its ability to augment insulin secretion, the data shown in relation to our previous aims (268; 280), along with work done by others (49; 237), have failed to observe this effect in dogs. When GLP-1 action was blocked in normal dogs, elevated glucose levels were accompanied by slightly greater arterial plasma insulin levels (Figure 6.4A). The insulin levels correlated with the changes in the plasma C-peptide levels (Table 6.2). In the insulin resistant dogs, when the GLP-1R was blocked the increased glycemia resulted in significantly greater deep venous plasma insulin levels (Figure 6.4B). Again this tended to correlate with increased C-peptide levels (Table 6.1). Antagonism of the GLP-1R might have been expected to limit insulin secretion; however, differences in glycemia confound the data interpretation. In order to circumvent this problem, the ratio of the plasma insulin to plasma glucose level was calculated. This ratio was not different between saline and Ex-9 infusion within either the normal or insulin resistant cohorts (Figure 6.4C, D). Therefore, the small differences in insulin levels that were evident in both the normal and insulin resistant dogs were due to differences in plasma glucose levels and not to a consequence of the inhibition of the GLP-1R. In addition, there was no difference in glucagon levels between treatments in either the normal or insulin resistant dogs (Table 6.1) It can therefore be concluded that the primary role of endogenously secreted GLP-1 in postprandial glucose regulation in

the dog is not an incretin effect. This is consistent with our earlier data (268; 280), and the work of others (237), in which GLP-1 was elevated by a physiologic amount.

Next, we evaluated the direct effect of GLP-1 on glucose uptake. Increased glucose absorption in the presence of GLP-1R blockade resulted in an increase in hepatic glucose load and slightly greater net hepatic glucose uptake. When hepatic fractional extraction was calculated, however, there was no difference between treatments (Figure 6.5C), indicating that GLP-1 did not have a detectable effect at the liver, per se. Likewise, there was no difference in the hepatic fractional extraction to sinusoidal insulin ratio (Figure 6.5D). The increased circulating glucose levels which occurred in response to Ex-9 treatment resulted in greater nonhepatic glucose uptake and clearance (Figure 6.6A, B). The ratio of nonhepatic glucose clearance to the arterial plasma insulin level was not different upon evaluation of the time course (Figure 6.6C), but with Ex-9 treatment the average ratio was greater directly after the meal (45 to 200 min), probably an artifact of quickly changing insulin and glucose levels, which were both greater with the GLP-1R blocked. Further analysis of nonhepatic glucose utilization was conducted in a subset of the normal dogs with evaluation of hindlimb glucose uptake and clearance, both which were significantly greater with GLP-1 action blocked. However, there was no difference between treatments when the ratio of hindlimb glucose clearance to arterial plasma insulin was calculated (Figure 6.7). Therefore, as far as we can tell, increased glucose utilization at the hindlimb was the direct result of increased glycemia and the accompanying increase in insulin secretion.

The effect of GLP-1 on postprandial gastric emptying is in agreement with findings in humans (293; 294). In fact, some claim that this is the primary effect by

which GLP-1 regulates glycemia after a meal in humans (210; 294). When GLP-1 action during an OGTT is blocked using Ex-9 in humans, peripheral plasma glucose levels are elevated, and this is accompanied by proportionately elevated insulin secretion (294), much like the observations in the current study. However, OGTTs administered to GLP- $1R^{-/-}$  mice result in elevated glycemic levels due to a deficiency in insulin secretion (107; 297). In addition, when Ex-9 is administered to rats or *ob/ob* mice during an OGTT, the result is elevated glucose due to inadequate insulin levels (298; 299). This suggests that it is possible that the dog, as opposed to rodents, may be a more accurate model of endogenous GLP-1 action in the human.

Others have shown that when a dog is given a meal, circulating GLP-1 levels reach approximately 10 pM, and insulin secretion is significantly greater than when the glucose profile is matched with a peripheral glucose infusion; however, when GLP-1 was infused to match these levels in addition to the isoglycemic glucose infusion, there was no enhancement of insulin secretion (237). This suggests that an incretin effect does exist in the dog, but is unlikely the result of increased circulating GLP-1 levels. Our lab has shown that with intraportally infused exendin-4, a potent agonist for the GLP-1R, to create circulating levels of ~215 pM, insulin secretion was enhanced (300). In addition, isolated canine pancreata increase insulin secretion in the presence of 1 nM GLP-1 levels (93). Taken together, these results indicate that the canine  $\beta$ -cell does respond to GLP-1, but only at higher levels. It is interesting to note that isolated rat pancreas had increased insulin secretion with exposure to 0.1 nM GLP-1 (93).

The question thus arises as to what is causing the incretin effect in the dog. In addition to GLP-1, the canine pancreatic islet also increases insulin secretion in response

to the other recognized incretin hormone, GIP (301). It is also possible that GLP-1 and GIP are working in a synergistic manner, which is not replicated with a GLP-1 infusion, alone (237). Previous work from our lab shows that intraportal delivery of glucose alone may enhance the incretin effect in the dog (279); however, this has not been observed in the previous aim in this thesis. Therefore, the exact mechanism of the incretin effect in the dog is unclear.

In conclusion, endogenously secreted GLP-1 has a role in postprandial glucose regulation in both the normal and insulin resistant dog. GLP-1 released after a meal slows gastric emptying, more than likely mediated by afferent vagal signaling. In turn, slowed gastric emptying lowers the rate of glucose uptake by the gut and, ultimately, circulating glucose levels. Blocking of GLP-1 contact with its receptor did not result in decreased insulin secretion. Differences in glucose uptake were reflective of the co-existing glucose and insulin levels, not a direct effect of GLP-1, per se. GLP-1 sensing and its ability to slow gastric emptying is apparently intact in our insulin resistant dogs, since their data mirrored the results of the normal animals.

## **CHAPTER VII**

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

It is well-recognized that GLP-1 regulates glucose homeostasis with its contribution to the incretin effect. The aim of the research conducted in this thesis is to further the understanding of the physiological role of GLP-1 in glucose regulation.

The incretin effect is present in the dog (237), and GLP-1 infusion into canine pancreata results in increased insulin secretion (93); however, in the current studies, there was no effect of a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels on pancreatic hormone levels. Under various conditions, including both portal and peripheral glucose delivery, intraportal infusion of GLP-1 to create a physiological rise in its plasma levels did not alter either insulin or glucagon levels in plasma. This indicates that a rise in the peptide in the periphery similar to that observed after an OGTT (177) does not induce insulin secretion in the dog. Although it is consistent with what others have found in this species (49; 237), the question is still raised as to why an elevation of the peptide at the  $\beta$ -cell would not enhance insulin secretion. It is possible that variations exist at the  $\beta$ -cell itself which may result in species differences. Homology of the GLP-1R is not completely conserved among species (76; 77); so therefore, it is possible that disparity among species in specificity or number of the GLP-1R at the  $\beta$ -cell could result in alterations of effects of the peptide. Such differences may be reflected in the dose response curve of insulin secretion to GLP-1 level. For example, the minimum concentration for increased insulin secretion in the canine pancreata was ten-fold that required to observe increased insulin

secretion in the perfused rat pancreas (93). In addition, it takes a very high pharmacological dose of exendin-4 to induce a small increase in circulating insulin levels in the dog (300).

It is possible that a physiological elevation of GLP-1 at the  $\beta$ -cell is not the manner in which GLP-1 induces insulin secretion in the dog. In the rat, physiological elevation of GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein initiates a neural signal which could trigger an indirect effect at the pancreas (96). This indicates that elevation of the peptide closer to the site of its secretion might initiate a neural signal to alter pancreatic hormone secretion. However, as noted earlier, when we elevated intraportal GLP-1 levels under various conditions in the dog, we did not observe an effect of GLP-1 on pancreatic hormone secretion. Once again, this is consistent with what others have found (49; 237). In a further attempt to define the role of GLP-1 on the insulin secretory effect, we induced endogenous GLP-1 secretion with a meal. This increases levels of the peptide in the gut and could possibly initiate an insulin secretory effect of GLP-1 via afferent signals from the gut; however, when the GLP-1R was blocked, there was no difference in insulin secretion, once corrected for the level of glycemia. Therefore, it appears as though a physiological increase in GLP-1 levels is not sufficient to induce the incretin effect in the dog through either direct or indirect mechanisms.

In the current studies, elevations of GLP-1 in the hepatic portal vein (due to intraportal GLP-1 infusion) resulted in significantly greater nonhepatic glucose uptake under conditions of increased insulin, glucose, and the portal signal, when compared to that of a systemic rise in the peptide (due to a hepatic artery infusion). However, net hepatic glucose uptake was significantly greater when GLP-1 was infused into the hepatic

artery rather than into the hepatic portal vein. It is likely that the GLP-1 delivered by either route had a direct effect to enhance net hepatic glucose uptake, which would be in agreement with earlier studies (47). However, it is likely that the direct effect at the liver with intraportal GLP-1 infusion was muted by a preferential enhancement of increased nonhepatic glucose uptake.

To observe the effect of GLP-1 on nonhepatic glucose uptake, intraportal glucose must be present. It is well established that this route of glucose delivery increases net hepatic glucose uptake and decreases nonhepatic glucose uptake (271; 275). It is possible that increased intraportal GLP-1 levels inhibit the signal that is activated by glucose at the brain to induce these effects, and therefore the opposite effects occur. This is consistent with the observation that intraportal GLP-1 infusion did not significantly stimulate net hepatic glucose uptake as it did with hepatic artery GLP-1 infusion, and intraportal GLP-1 delivery increased nonhepatic glucose uptake when compared to intraportal glucose administration alone (saline infusion). In the absence of intraportal glucose infusion, there is no signal to the brain to inhibit, and therefore, no effect. In addition, intraportal GLP-1 and glucose alter afferent vagal firing in opposite directions, either increasing or decreasing impulses, respectively (96; 277), which may account for the opposing effects that the intraportally delivered GLP-1 and glucose appear to have on nonhepatic glucose utilization (271; 272).

There are several explanations for the absence of an effect in the shorter fasted animals. It is possible that glucose uptake is increased (due to increased insulin secretion and increased insulin sensitivity) to a degree in the shorter fasted animals that such a low level of GLP-1 cannot enhance this effect any further. Another possibility is that the

neural signal that is sent by intraportal GLP-1 is not active in the shorter fast, because it has been shown that differences in fasting can deactivate GLP-1 activity in the brain, specifically in regard to its ability to synergize with leptin to have an effect on food intake (291).

The GLP-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mouse has enhanced glycemia during an OGTT, not due to quickened gastric emptying, but due to lower insulin levels. In contrast, in the dog, as in the human, the effect of GLP-1 on gastric emptying appears to be more important than its effect on insulin secretion (210; 302). We observed the effect of GLP-1 on the rate of gastric emptying in both the normal and insulin resistant dogs. Low circulating levels of GLP-1 in the insulin resistant dogs suggest that GLP-1 may be slowing gastric emptying by a mechanism initiated in the vasculature in close proximity to the L cell. It is possible that GLP-1 is interacting with its receptor in the vagal innervation of the gut, possibly in a manner similar to CCK. In humans, when the GLP-1R is blocked after an oral glucose load, the rate of gastric emptying is quickened, and the effect is great enough to bring about a significant difference in peripheral plasma glucose levels (294). In the dog, we observed a difference in peripheral acetaminophen levels, but not a significant difference in circulating glucose levels. Although not as profound in the dog as in the human, the predominant effect of endogenously secreted GLP-1 on gastric emptying is maintained between these species. This once again indicates that even though GLP-1 homology is maintained among all mammals, the predominant physiological actions may vary between species. Although the species differences do exist, it is impressive that the overall effect of enhancing gluco-regulation is maintained.

## REFERENCES

1. Moore B: On the treatment of Diabetus mellitus by acid extract of Duodenal Mucous Membrane. *Biochem J* 1:28-38, 1906

2. Perley MJ, Kipnis DM: Plasma insulin responses to oral and intravenous glucose: studies in normal and diabetic sujbjects. *J Clin Invest* 46:1954-1962, 1967

3. Bayliss WM, Starling EH: The mechanism of pancreatic secretion. *J Physiol* 28:325-353, 1902

4. Creutzfeldt W: The [pre-] history of the incretin concept. Regul Pept 128:87-91, 2005

5. La Barre J, Still E: Studies on the physiolgy of secretin. *Am J Physiol* 91:649-653, 1930

6. Creutzfeldt W: The incretin concept today. Diabetologia 16:75-85, 1979

7. Morgan CR, Lazarow A: Immunoassay of insulin using a two-antibody system. *Proc* Soc Exp Biol Med 110:29-32, 1962

8. McIntyre N, Holdsworth CD, Turner DS: New Interpretation of Oral Glucose Tolerance. *Lancet* 2:20-21, 1964

9. Unger RH, Eisentraut AM: Entero-insular axis. Arch Intern Med 123:261-266, 1969

10. Tarasov A, Dusonchet J, Ashcroft F: Metabolic regulation of the pancreatic beta-cell ATP-sensitive K+ channel: a pas de deux. *Diabetes* 53 Suppl 3:S113-122, 2004

11. Newsholme P, Brennan L, Rubi B, Maechler P: New insights into amino acid metabolism, beta-cell function and diabetes. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 108:185-194, 2005

12. Nolan CJ, Madiraju MS, Delghingaro-Augusto V, Peyot ML, Prentki M: Fatty acid signaling in the beta-cell and insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 55 Suppl 2:S16-23, 2006

13. Love JA, Yi E, Smith TG: Autonomic pathways regulating pancreatic exocrine secretion. *Auton Neurosci* 133:19-34, 2007

14. Woods SC, Porte D, Jr.: Neural control of the endocrine pancreas. *Physiol Rev* 54:596-619, 1974

15. Konturek SJ, Zabielski R, Konturek JW, Czarnecki J: Neuroendocrinology of the pancreas; role of brain-gut axis in pancreatic secretion. *Eur J Pharmacol* 481:1-14, 2003

16. Hansotia T, Drucker DJ: GIP and GLP-1 as incretin hormones: lessons from single and double incretin receptor knockout mice. *Regul Pept* 128:125-134, 2005

17. Meier JJ, Nauck MA: Clinical endocrinology and metabolism. Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide/gastric inhibitory polypeptide. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* 18:587-606, 2004

18. Drucker DJ: The biology of incretin hormones. Cell Metab 3:153-165, 2006

19. Buffa R, Polak JM, Pearse AG, Solcia E, Grimelius L, Capella C: Identification of the intestinal cell storing gastric inhibitory peptide. *Histochemistry* 43:249-255, 1975

20. Buchan AM, Polak JM, Capella C, Solcia E, Pearse AG: Electronimmunocytochemical evidence for the K cell localization of gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) in man. *Histochemistry* 56:37-44, 1978

21. Vahl T, D'Alessio D: Enteroinsular signaling: perspectives on the role of the gastrointestinal hormones glucagon-like peptide 1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide in normal and abnormal glucose metabolism. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 6:461-468, 2003

22. Yamada Y, Seino Y: Physiology of GIP--a lesson from GIP receptor knockout mice. *Horm Metab Res* 36:771-774, 2004

23. Miyawaki K, Yamada Y, Yano H, Niwa H, Ban N, Ihara Y, Kubota A, Fujimoto S, Kajikawa M, Kuroe A, Tsuda K, Hashimoto H, Yamashita T, Jomori T, Tashiro F, Miyazaki J, Seino Y: Glucose intolerance caused by a defect in the entero-insular axis: a study in gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:14843-14847, 1999

24. Hui H, Zhao X, Perfetti R: Structure and function studies of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1): the designing of a novel pharmacological agent for the treatment of diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 21:313-331, 2005

25. Rouille Y, Bianchi M, Irminger JC, Halban PA: Role of the prohormone convertase PC2 in the processing of proglucagon to glucagon. *FEBS Lett* 413:119-123, 1997

26. Holst JJ: Enteroglucagon. Annu Rev Physiol 59:257-271, 1997

27. Rouille Y, Kantengwa S, Irminger JC, Halban PA: Role of the prohormone convertase PC3 in the processing of proglucagon to glucagon-like peptide 1. *J Biol Chem* 272:32810-32816, 1997

28. Drucker DJ: Biologic actions and therapeutic potential of the proglucagon-derived peptides. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* 1:22-31, 2005

29. Holst JJ: Glucagon-like peptide-1: from extract to agent. The Claude Bernard Lecture, 2005. *Diabetologia* 49:253-260, 2006

30. Kieffer TJ, Habener JF: The glucagon-like peptides. Endocr Rev 20:876-913, 1999

31. Skovgaard M, Kodra JT, Gram DX, Knudsen SM, Madsen D, Liberles DA: Using evolutionary information and ancestral sequences to understand the sequence-function relationship in GLP-1 agonists. *J Mol Biol* 363:977-988, 2006

32. Orskov C, Wettergren A, Holst JJ: Biological effects and metabolic rates of glucagonlike peptide-1 7-36 amide and glucagonlike peptide-1 7-37 in healthy subjects are indistinguishable. *Diabetes* 42:658-661, 1993

33. Sugiyama K, Manaka H, Kato T, Yamatani K, Tominaga M, Sasaki H: Stimulation of truncated glucagon-like peptide-1 release from the isolated perfused canine ileum by glucose absorption. *Digestion* 55:24-28, 1994

34. Rask E, Olsson T, Soderberg S, Johnson O, Seckl J, Holst JJ, Ahren B: Impaired incretin response after a mixed meal is associated with insulin resistance in nondiabetic men. *Diabetes Care* 24:1640-1645, 2001

35. Sahin M, Tanaci N, Yucel M, Tutuncu NB, Guvener N: The effect of single-dose orlistat on postprandial serum glucose, insulin and glucagon-like peptide-1 levels in nondiabetic obese patients. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 2007

36. Kim GE, Brubaker PL: Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Secretion by the L-Cell: The View From Within. *Diabetes* 55:S70-77, 2006

37. Roberge JN, Brubaker PL: Regulation of intestinal proglucagon-derived peptide secretion by glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide in a novel enteroendocrine loop. *Endocrinology* 133:233-240, 1993

38. Eissele R, Goke R, Willemer S, Harthus HP, Vermeer H, Arnold R, Goke B: Glucagon-like peptide-1 cells in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas of rat, pig and man. *Eur J Clin Invest* 22:283-291, 1992

39. Lim GE, Brubaker PL: Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Secretion by the L-Cell: The View From Within. *Diabetes* 55:S70-77, 2006

40. Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W: Preserved incretin activity of glucagon-like peptide 1 [7-36 amide] but not of synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest* 91:301-307, 1993

41. Anini Y, Hansotia T, Brubaker PL: Muscarinic receptors control postprandial release of glucagon-like peptide-1: in vivo and in vitro studies in rats. *Endocrinology* 143:2420-2426, 2002

42. Roberge JN, Gronau KA, Brubaker PL: Gastrin-releasing peptide is a novel mediator of proximal nutrient-induced proglucagon-derived peptide secretion from the distal gut. *Endocrinology* 137:2383-2388, 1996

43. Theodorakis MJ, Carlson O, Michopoulos S, Doyle ME, Juhaszova M, Petraki K, Egan JM: Human duodenal enteroendocrine cells: source of both incretin peptides, GLP-1 and GIP. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 290:E550-559, 2006

44. Reimer RA, Darimont C, Gremlich S, Nicolas-Metral V, Ruegg UT, Mace K: A human cellular model for studying the regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *Endocrinology* 142:4522-4528, 2001

45. Rocca AS, Brubaker PL: Stereospecific effects of fatty acids on proglucagon-derived peptide secretion in fetal rat intestinal cultures. *Endocrinology* 136:5593-5599, 1995

46. Reimann F, Gribble FM: Glucose-sensing in glucagon-like peptide-1-secreting cells. *Diabetes* 51:2757-2763, 2002

47. Dardevet D, Moore MC, DiCostanzo CA, Farmer B, Neal DW, Snead W, Lautz M, Cherrington AD: Insulin secretion-independent effects of GLP-1 on canine liver glucose metabolism do not involve portal vein GLP-1 receptors. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 289:G806-814, 2005

48. Nishizawa M, Moore MC, Shiota M, Gustavson SM, Snead WL, Neal DW, Cherrington AD: Effect of intraportal glucagon-like peptide-1 on glucose metabolism in conscious dogs. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 284:E1027-1036, 2003

49. Ionut V, Hucking K, Liberty IF, Bergman RN: Synergistic effect of portal glucose and glucagon-like peptide-1 to lower systemic glucose and stimulate counter-regulatory hormones. *Diabetologia* 48:967-975, 2005

50. Reimann F, Maziarz M, Flock G, Habib AM, Drucker DJ, Gribble FM: Characterization and functional role of voltage gated cation conductances in the glucagon-like peptide-1 secreting GLUTag cell line. *J Physiol* 563:161-175, 2005

51. Hirasawa A, Tsumaya K, Awaji T, Katsuma S, Adachi T, Yamada M, Sugimoto Y, Miyazaki S, Tsujimoto G: Free fatty acids regulate gut incretin glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion through GPR120. *Nat Med* 11:90-94, 2005

52. D'Alessio D, Lu WJ, Sun W, Zheng S, Yang Q, Seeley R, Woods SC, Tso P: Fasting and postprandial concentrations of glucagon-like peptide 1 in intestinal lymph and portal

plasma: Evidence for selective release of GLP-1 into the lymph system. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 2007

53. Hansen L, Hartmann B, Bisgaard T, Mineo H, Jorgensen PN, Holst JJ: Somatostatin restrains the secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 and -2 from isolated perfused porcine ileum. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 278:E1010-1018, 2000

54. Chisholm C, Greenberg GR: Somatostatin-28 regulates GLP-1 secretion via somatostatin receptor subtype 5 in rat intestinal cultures. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 283:E311-317, 2002

55. Martin PA, Faulkner A: Effects of somatostatin-28 on circulating concentrations of insulin and gut hormones in sheep. *J Endocrinol* 151:107-112, 1996

56. Mentlein R, Gallwitz B, Schmidt WE: Dipeptidyl-peptidase IV hydrolyses gastric inhibitory polypeptide, glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36)amide, peptide histidine methionine and is responsible for their degradation in human serum. *Eur J Biochem* 214:829-835, 1993

57. Deacon CF: What do we know about the secretion and degradation of incretin hormones? *Regul Pept* 128:117-124, 2005

58. Hansen L, Deacon CF, Orskov C, Holst JJ: Glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36)amide is transformed to glucagon-like peptide-1-(9-36)amide by dipeptidyl peptidase IV in the capillaries supplying the L cells of the porcine intestine. *Endocrinology* 140:5356-5363, 1999

59. Vilsboll T, Agerso H, Krarup T, Holst JJ: Similar elimination rates of glucagon-like peptide-1 in obese type 2 diabetic patients and healthy subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88:220-224, 2003

60. Vilsboll T, Agerso H, Lauritsen T, Deacon CF, Aaboe K, Madsbad S, Krarup T, Holst JJ: The elimination rates of intact GIP as well as its primary metabolite, GIP 3-42, are similar in type 2 diabetic patients and healthy subjects. *Regul Pept* 137:168-172, 2006

61. Jornvall H, Carlquist M, Kwauk S, Otte SC, McIntosh CH, Brown JC, Mutt V: Amino acid sequence and heterogeneity of gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP). *FEBS Lett* 123:205-210, 1981

62. Adelhorst K, Hedegaard BB, Knudsen LB, Kirk O: Structure-activity studies of glucagon-like peptide-1. *J Biol Chem* 269:6275-6278, 1994

63. Deacon CF, Plamboeck A, Rosenkilde MM, de Heer J, Holst JJ: GIP-(3-42) does not antagonize insulinotropic effects of GIP at physiological concentrations. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 291:E468-475, 2006

64. Deacon CF, Plamboeck A, Moller S, Holst JJ: GLP-1-(9-36) amide reduces blood glucose in anesthetized pigs by a mechanism that does not involve insulin secretion. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 282:E873-879, 2002

65. Meier JJ, Gethmann A, Nauck MA, Gotze O, Schmitz F, Deacon CF, Gallwitz B, Schmidt WE, Holst JJ: The glucagon-like peptide-1 metabolite GLP-1-(9-36) amide reduces postprandial glycemia independently of gastric emptying and insulin secretion in humans. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 290:E1118-1123, 2006

66. Nagell CF, Pedersen JF, Holst JJ: The antagonistic metabolite of GLP-1, GLP-1 (9-36)amide, does not influence gastric emptying and hunger sensations in man. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 42:28-33, 2007

67. Parker JC, Lavery KS, Irwin N, Green BD, Greer B, Harriott P, O'Harte FP, Gault VA, Flatt PR: Effects of sub-chronic exposure to naturally occurring N-terminally truncated metabolites of glucose-dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide (GIP) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), GIP(3-42) and GLP-1(9-36)amide, on insulin secretion and glucose homeostasis in ob/ob mice. *J Endocrinol* 191:93-100, 2006

68. Zander M, Madsbad S, Deacon CF, Holst JJ: The metabolite generated by dipeptidylpeptidase 4 metabolism of glucagon-like peptide-1 has no influence on plasma glucose levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 49:369-374, 2006

69. Meier JJ, Nauck MA, Kranz D, Holst JJ, Deacon CF, Gaeckler D, Schmidt WE, Gallwitz B: Secretion, degradation, and elimination of glucagon-like peptide 1 and gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with chronic renal insufficiency and healthy control subjects. *Diabetes* 53:654-662, 2004

70. Toft-Nielsen MB, Damholt MB, Madsbad S, Hilsted LM, Hughes TE, Michelsen BK, Holst JJ: Determinants of the impaired secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 in type 2 diabetic patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86:3717-3723, 2001

71. Vilsboll T, Krarup T, Sonne J, Madsbad S, Volund A, Juul AG, Holst JJ: Incretin secretion in relation to meal size and body weight in healthy subjects and people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88:2706-2713, 2003

72. McKillop AM, Duffy NA, Lindsay JR, O'Harte F P, Bell PM, Flatt PR: Decreased dipeptidyl peptidase-IV activity and glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36)amide degradation in type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 2007

73. Kjems LL, Holst JJ, Volund A, Madsbad S: The influence of GLP-1 on glucosestimulated insulin secretion: effects on beta-cell sensitivity in type 2 and nondiabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 52:380-386, 2003 74. Wideman RD, Yu IL, Webber TD, Verchere CB, Johnson JD, Cheung AT, Kieffer TJ: Improving function and survival of pancreatic islets by endogenous production of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103:13468-13473, 2006

75. Parsons GB, Souza DW, Wu H, Yu D, Wadsworth SG, Gregory RJ, Armentano D: Ectopic expression of glucagon-like peptide 1 for gene therapy of type II diabetes. *Gene Ther* 14:38-48, 2007

76. Mayo KE, Miller LJ, Bataille D, Dalle S, Goke B, Thorens B, Drucker DJ: International Union of Pharmacology. XXXV. The glucagon receptor family. *Pharmacol Rev* 55:167-194, 2003

77. van Eyll B, Lankat-Buttgereit B, Bode HP, Goke R, Goke B: Signal transduction of the GLP-1-receptor cloned from a human insulinoma. *FEBS Lett* 348:7-13, 1994

78. Goke R, Fehmann HC, Linn T, Schmidt H, Krause M, Eng J, Goke B: Exendin-4 is a high potency agonist and truncated exendin-(9-39)-amide an antagonist at the glucagon-like peptide 1-(7-36)-amide receptor of insulin-secreting beta-cells. *J Biol Chem* 268:19650-19655, 1993

79. Xiao Q, Jeng W, Wheeler MB: Characterization of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptorbinding determinants. *J Mol Endocrinol* 25:321-335, 2000

80. Bavec A, Hallbrink M, Langel U, Zorko M: Different role of intracellular loops of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor in G-protein coupling. *Regul Pept* 111:137-144, 2003

81. Goke R, Conlon JM: Receptors for glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36) amide on rat insulinoma-derived cells. *J Endocrinol* 116:357-362, 1988

82. Goke R, Cole T, Conlon JM: Characterization of the receptor for glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36)amide on plasma membranes from rat insulinoma-derived cells by covalent cross-linking. *J Mol Endocrinol* 2:93-98, 1989

83. Thorens B: Expression cloning of the pancreatic beta cell receptor for the glucoincretin hormone glucagon-like peptide 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89:8641-8645, 1992

84. Orskov C, Poulsen SS: Glucagonlike peptide-I-(7-36)-amide receptors only in islets of Langerhans. Autoradiographic survey of extracerebral tissues in rats. *Diabetes* 40:1292-1296, 1991

85. Moens K, Heimberg H, Flamez D, Huypens P, Quartier E, Ling Z, Pipeleers D, Gremlich S, Thorens B, Schuit F: Expression and functional activity of glucagon, glucagon-like peptide I, and glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide receptors in rat pancreatic islet cells. *Diabetes* 45:257-261, 1996

86. Sandhu H, Wiesenthal SR, MacDonald PE, McCall RH, Tchipashvili V, Rashid S, Satkunarajah M, Irwin DM, Shi ZQ, Brubaker PL, Wheeler MB, Vranic M, Efendic S, Giacca A: Glucagon-like peptide 1 increases insulin sensitivity in depancreatized dogs. *Diabetes* 48:1045-1053, 1999

87. Vahl TP, Tauchi M, Durler TS, Elfers EE, Fernandes TM, Bitner RD, Ellis KS, Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Herman JP, D'Alessio DA: Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) Receptors Expressed on Nerve Terminals in the Portal Vein Mediate the Effects of Endogenous GLP-1 on Glucose Tolerance in Rats. *Endocrinology* 148:4965-4973, 2007

88. Egan JM, Montrose-Rafizadeh C, Wang Y, Bernier M, Roth J: Glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36) amide (GLP-1) enhances insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism in 3T3-L1 adipocytes: one of several potential extrapancreatic sites of GLP-1 action. *Endocrinology* 135:2070-2075, 1994

89. Wei Y, Mojsov S: Tissue-specific expression of the human receptor for glucagon-like peptide-I: brain, heart and pancreatic forms have the same deduced amino acid sequences. *FEBS Lett* 358:219-224, 1995

90. Bullock BP, Heller RS, Habener JF: Tissue distribution of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding the rat glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor. *Endocrinology* 137:2968-2978, 1996

91. Wheeler MB, Lu M, Dillon JS, Leng XH, Chen C, Boyd AE, 3rd: Functional expression of the rat glucagon-like peptide-I receptor, evidence for coupling to both adenylyl cyclase and phospholipase-C. *Endocrinology* 133:57-62, 1993

92. Dillon JS, Tanizawa Y, Wheeler MB, Leng XH, Ligon BB, Rabin DU, Yoo-Warren H, Permutt MA, Boyd AE, 3rd: Cloning and functional expression of the human glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor. *Endocrinology* 133:1907-1910, 1993

93. Kawai K, Suzuki S, Ohashi S, Mukai H, Ohmori H, Murayama Y, Yamashita K: Comparison of the effects of glucagon-like peptide-1-(1-37) and -(7-37) and glucagon on islet hormone release from isolated perfused canine and rat pancreases. *Endocrinology* 124:1768-1773, 1989

94. Shimizu I, Hirota M, Ohboshi C, Shima K: Identification and localization of glucagon-like peptide-1 and its receptor in rat brain. *Endocrinology* 121:1076-1082, 1987

95. Merchenthaler I, Lane M, Shughrue P: Distribution of pre-pro-glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor messenger RNAs in the rat central nervous system. *J Comp Neurol* 403:261-280, 1999

96. Nakabayashi H, Nishizawa M, Nakagawa A, Takeda R, Niijima A: Vagal hepatopancreatic reflex effect evoked by intraportal appearance of tGLP-1. *Am J Physiol* 271:E808-813, 1996

97. Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML, Delgado E, Trapote MA, Alcantara A, Clemente F, Luque MA, Perea A, Valverde I: Glucagon-like peptide-1 binding to rat hepatic membranes. *J Endocrinol* 146:183-189, 1995

98. Prigeon RL, Quddusi S, Paty B, D'Alessio DA: Suppression of glucose production by GLP-1 independent of islet hormones: a novel extrapancreatic effect. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 285:E701-707, 2003

99. Valverde I, Morales M, Clemente F, Lopez-Delgado MI, Delgado E, Perea A, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Glucagon-like peptide 1: a potent glycogenic hormone. *FEBS Lett* 349:313-316, 1994

100. Merida E, Delgado E, Molina LM, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML, Valverde I: Presence of glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36)amide receptors in solubilized membranes of human adipose tissue. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 77:1654-1657, 1993

101. Delgado E, Luque MA, Alcantara A, Trapote MA, Clemente F, Galera C, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Glucagon-like peptide-1 binding to rat skeletal muscle. *Peptides* 16:225-229, 1995

102. Nishizawa M, Nakabayashi H, Kawai K, Ito T, Kawakami S, Nakagawa A, Niijima A, Uchida K: The hepatic vagal reception of intraportal GLP-1 is via receptor different from the pancreatic GLP-1 receptor. *J Auton Nerv Syst* 80:14-21, 2000

103. Doyle ME, Egan JM: Mechanisms of action of glucagon-like peptide 1 in the pancreas. *Pharmacol Ther* 113:546-593, 2007

104. Drucker DJ, Philippe J, Mojsov S, Chick WL, Habener JF: Glucagon-like peptide I stimulates insulin gene expression and increases cyclic AMP levels in a rat islet cell line. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 84:3434-3438, 1987

105. Flamez D, Gilon P, Moens K, Van Breusegem A, Delmeire D, Scrocchi LA, Henquin JC, Drucker DJ, Schuit F: Altered cAMP and Ca2+ signaling in mouse pancreatic islets with glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor null phenotype. *Diabetes* 48:1979-1986, 1999

106. Harndahl L, Jing XJ, Ivarsson R, Degerman E, Ahren B, Manganiello VC, Renstrom E, Holst LS: Important role of phosphodiesterase 3B for the stimulatory action of cAMP on pancreatic beta-cell exocytosis and release of insulin. *J Biol Chem* 277:37446-37455, 2002

107. Scrocchi LA, Brown TJ, MaClusky N, Brubaker PL, Auerbach AB, Joyner AL, Drucker DJ: Glucose intolerance but normal satiety in mice with a null mutation in the glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor gene. *Nat Med* 2:1254-1258, 1996

108. Pederson RA, Satkunarajah M, McIntosh CH, Scrocchi LA, Flamez D, Schuit F, Drucker DJ, Wheeler MB: Enhanced glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide secretion and insulinotropic action in glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor -/- mice. *Diabetes* 47:1046-1052, 1998

109. Hansotia T, Baggio LL, Delmeire D, Hinke SA, Yamada Y, Tsukiyama K, Seino Y, Holst JJ, Schuit F, Drucker DJ: Double incretin receptor knockout (DIRKO) mice reveal an essential role for the enteroinsular axis in transducing the glucoregulatory actions of DPP-IV inhibitors. *Diabetes* 53:1326-1335, 2004

110. Pamir N, Lynn FC, Buchan AM, Ehses J, Hinke SA, Pospisilik JA, Miyawaki K, Yamada Y, Seino Y, McIntosh CH, Pederson RA: Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor null mice exhibit compensatory changes in the enteroinsular axis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 284:E931-939, 2003

111. Schirra J, Sturm K, Leicht P, Arnold R, Goke B, Katschinski M: Exendin(9-39)amide is an antagonist of glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36)amide in humans. *J Clin Invest* 101:1421-1430, 1998

112. Tanizawa Y, Riggs AC, Elbein SC, Whelan A, Donis-Keller H, Permutt MA: Human glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor gene in NIDDM. Identification and use of simple sequence repeat polymorphisms in genetic analysis. *Diabetes* 43:752-757, 1994

113. Tokuyama Y, Matsui K, Egashira T, Nozaki O, Ishizuka T, Kanatsuka A: Five missense mutations in glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor gene in Japanese population. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 66:63-69, 2004

114. Beinborn M, Worrall CI, McBride EW, Kopin AS: A human glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor polymorphism results in reduced agonist responsiveness. *Regul Pept* 130:1-6, 2005

115. Xu G, Kaneto H, Laybutt DR, Duvivier-Kali VF, Trivedi N, Suzuma K, King GL, Weir GC, Bonner-Weir S: Downregulation of GLP-1 and GIP receptor expression by hyperglycemia: possible contribution to impaired incretin effects in diabetes. *Diabetes* 56:1551-1558, 2007

116. Bogacka I, Roane DS, Xi X, Zhou J, Li B, Ryan DH, Martin RJ: Expression levels of genes likely involved in glucose-sensing in the obese Zucker rat brain. *Nutr Neurosci* 7:67-74, 2004

117. D'Alessio D, Vahl T, Prigeon R: Effects of glucagon-like peptide 1 on the hepatic glucose metabolism. *Horm Metab Res* 36:837-841, 2004

118. D'Alessio DA, Vahl TP: Glucagon-like peptide 1: evolution of an incretin into a treatment for diabetes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 286:E882-890, 2004

119. Kashima Y, Miki T, Shibasaki T, Ozaki N, Miyazaki M, Yano H, Seino S: Critical role of cAMP-GEFII--Rim2 complex in incretin-potentiated insulin secretion. *J Biol Chem* 276:46046-46053, 2001

120. Lester LB, Langeberg LK, Scott JD: Anchoring of protein kinase A facilitates hormone-mediated insulin secretion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94:14942-14947, 1997

121. Holz GG: Epac: A new cAMP-binding protein in support of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor-mediated signal transduction in the pancreatic beta-cell. *Diabetes* 53:5-13, 2004

122. Guillam MT, Dupraz P, Thorens B: Glucose uptake, utilization, and signaling in GLUT2-null islets. *Diabetes* 49:1485-1491, 2000

123. Yamada K, Nakata M, Horimoto N, Saito M, Matsuoka H, Inagaki N: Measurement of glucose uptake and intracellular calcium concentration in single, living pancreatic beta-cells. *J Biol Chem* 275:22278-22283, 2000

124. Corkey BE, Deeney JT, Glennon MC, Matschinsky FM, Prentki M: Regulation of steady-state free Ca2+ levels by the ATP/ADP ratio and orthophosphate in permeabilized RINm5F insulinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* 263:4247-4253, 1988

125. Tsuboi T, da Silva Xavier G, Holz GG, Jouaville LS, Thomas AP, Rutter GA: Glucagon-like peptide-1 mobilizes intracellular Ca2+ and stimulates mitochondrial ATP synthesis in pancreatic MIN6 beta-cells. *Biochem J* 369:287-299, 2003

126. Findlay I, Dunne MJ, Petersen OH: ATP-sensitive inward rectifier and voltage- and calcium-activated K+ channels in cultured pancreatic islet cells. *J Membr Biol* 88:165-172, 1985

127. Light PE, Manning Fox JE, Riedel MJ, Wheeler MB: Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits pancreatic ATP-sensitive potassium channels via a protein kinase A- and ADP-dependent mechanism. *Mol Endocrinol* 16:2135-2144, 2002

128. Kang G, Chepurny OG, Malester B, Rindler MJ, Rehmann H, Bos JL, Schwede F, Coetzee WA, Holz GG: cAMP sensor Epac as a determinant of ATP-sensitive potassium channel activity in human pancreatic beta cells and rat INS-1 cells. *J Physiol* 573:595-609, 2006

129. Dunne MJ, Findlay I, Petersen OH, Wollheim CB: ATP-sensitive K+ channels in an insulin-secreting cell line are inhibited by D-glyceraldehyde and activated by membrane permeabilization. *J Membr Biol* 93:271-279, 1986

130. Gromada J, Holst JJ, Rorsman P: Cellular regulation of islet hormone secretion by the incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide 1. *Pflugers Arch* 435:583-594, 1998

131. Bode HP, Moormann B, Dabew R, Goke B: Glucagon-like peptide 1 elevates cytosolic calcium in pancreatic beta-cells independently of protein kinase A. *Endocrinology* 140:3919-3927, 1999

132. Eliasson L, Ma X, Renstrom E, Barg S, Berggren PO, Galvanovskis J, Gromada J, Jing X, Lundquist I, Salehi A, Sewing S, Rorsman P: SUR1 regulates PKA-independent cAMP-induced granule priming in mouse pancreatic B-cells. *J Gen Physiol* 121:181-197, 2003

133. MacDonald PE, Salapatek AM, Wheeler MB: Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation antagonizes voltage-dependent repolarizing K(+) currents in beta-cells: a possible glucose-dependent insulinotropic mechanism. *Diabetes* 51 Suppl 3:S443-447, 2002

134. MacDonald PE, Wang X, Xia F, El-kholy W, Targonsky ED, Tsushima RG, Wheeler MB: Antagonism of rat beta-cell voltage-dependent K+ currents by exendin 4 requires dual activation of the cAMP/protein kinase A and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem* 278:52446-52453, 2003

135. Wang Y, Egan JM, Raygada M, Nadiv O, Roth J, Montrose-Rafizadeh C: Glucagonlike peptide-1 affects gene transcription and messenger ribonucleic acid stability of components of the insulin secretory system in RIN 1046-38 cells. *Endocrinology* 136:4910-4917, 1995

136. Wang X, Zhou J, Doyle ME, Egan JM: Glucagon-like peptide-1 causes pancreatic duodenal homeobox-1 protein translocation from the cytoplasm to the nucleus of pancreatic beta-cells by a cyclic adenosine monophosphate/protein kinase A-dependent mechanism. *Endocrinology* 142:1820-1827, 2001

137. Buteau J, Roduit R, Susini S, Prentki M: Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes DNA synthesis, activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and increases transcription factor pancreatic and duodenal homeobox gene 1 (PDX-1) DNA binding activity in beta (INS-1)-cells. *Diabetologia* 42:856-864, 1999

138. Wang X, Cahill CM, Pineyro MA, Zhou J, Doyle ME, Egan JM: Glucagon-like peptide-1 regulates the beta cell transcription factor, PDX-1, in insulinoma cells. *Endocrinology* 140:4904-4907, 1999

139. Petersen HV, Serup P, Leonard J, Michelsen BK, Madsen OD: Transcriptional regulation of the human insulin gene is dependent on the homeodomain protein STF1/IPF1 acting through the CT boxes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:10465-10469, 1994

140. Kitamura T, Nakae J, Kitamura Y, Kido Y, Biggs WH, 3rd, Wright CV, White MF, Arden KC, Accili D: The forkhead transcription factor Foxo1 links insulin signaling to Pdx1 regulation of pancreatic beta cell growth. *J Clin Invest* 110:1839-1847, 2002

141. Knoch KP, Meisterfeld R, Kersting S, Bergert H, Altkruger A, Wegbrod C, Jager M, Saeger HD, Solimena M: cAMP-dependent phosphorylation of PTB1 promotes the expression of insulin secretory granule proteins in beta cells. *Cell Metab* 3:123-134, 2006

142. Hisatomi M, Hidaka H, Niki I: Ca2+/calmodulin and cyclic 3,5' adenosine monophosphate control movement of secretory granules through protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation in the pancreatic beta-cell. *Endocrinology* 137:4644-4649, 1996

143. Knauf C, Cani PD, Perrin C, Iglesias MA, Maury JF, Bernard E, Benhamed F, Gremeaux T, Drucker DJ, Kahn CR, Girard J, Tanti JF, Delzenne NM, Postic C, Burcelin R: Brain glucagon-like peptide-1 increases insulin secretion and muscle insulin resistance to favor hepatic glycogen storage. *J Clin Invest* 115:3554-3563, 2005

144. Stoffers DA, Kieffer TJ, Hussain MA, Drucker DJ, Bonner-Weir S, Habener JF, Egan JM: Insulinotropic glucagon-like peptide 1 agonists stimulate expression of homeodomain protein IDX-1 and increase islet size in mouse pancreas. *Diabetes* 49:741-748, 2000

145. Farilla L, Bulotta A, Hirshberg B, Li Calzi S, Khoury N, Noushmehr H, Bertolotto C, Di Mario U, Harlan DM, Perfetti R: Glucagon-like peptide 1 inhibits cell apoptosis and improves glucose responsiveness of freshly isolated human islets. *Endocrinology* 144:5149-5158, 2003

146. Perfetti R, Zhou J, Doyle ME, Egan JM: Glucagon-like peptide-1 induces cell proliferation and pancreatic-duodenum homeobox-1 expression and increases endocrine cell mass in the pancreas of old, glucose-intolerant rats. *Endocrinology* 141:4600-4605, 2000

147. Xu G, Stoffers DA, Habener JF, Bonner-Weir S: Exendin-4 stimulates both beta-cell replication and neogenesis, resulting in increased beta-cell mass and improved glucose tolerance in diabetic rats. *Diabetes* 48:2270-2276, 1999

148. Perfetti R, Hui H: The role of GLP-1 in the life and death of pancreatic beta cells. *Horm Metab Res* 36:804-810, 2004

149. Stoffers DA: The development of beta-cell mass: recent progress and potential role of GLP-1. *Horm Metab Res* 36:811-821, 2004

150. Brubaker PL, Drucker DJ: Minireview: Glucagon-like peptides regulate cell proliferation and apoptosis in the pancreas, gut, and central nervous system. *Endocrinology* 145:2653-2659, 2004

151. Li Y, Cao X, Li LX, Brubaker PL, Edlund H, Drucker DJ: beta-Cell Pdx1 expression is essential for the glucoregulatory, proliferative, and cytoprotective actions of glucagon-like peptide-1. *Diabetes* 54:482-491, 2005

152. Melloul D, Marshak S, Cerasi E: Regulation of pdx-1 gene expression. *Diabetes* 51 Suppl 3:S320-325, 2002

153. Johnson JD, Ahmed NT, Luciani DS, Han Z, Tran H, Fujita J, Misler S, Edlund H, Polonsky KS: Increased islet apoptosis in Pdx1+/- mice. *J Clin Invest* 111:1147-1160, 2003

154. Ackermann AM, Gannon M: Molecular regulation of pancreatic beta-cell mass development, maintenance, and expansion. *J Mol Endocrinol* 38:193-206, 2007

155. Teitelman G, Lee JK: Cell lineage analysis of pancreatic islet development: glucagon and insulin cells arise from catecholaminergic precursors present in the pancreatic duct. *Dev Biol* 121:454-466, 1987

156. Pictet RL, Clark WR, Williams RH, Rutter WJ: An ultrastructural analysis of the developing embryonic pancreas. *Dev Biol* 29:436-467, 1972

157. Abraham EJ, Leech CA, Lin JC, Zulewski H, Habener JF: Insulinotropic hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 differentiation of human pancreatic islet-derived progenitor cells into insulin-producing cells. *Endocrinology* 143:3152-3161, 2002

158. Hui H, Wright C, Perfetti R: Glucagon-like peptide 1 induces differentiation of islet duodenal homeobox-1-positive pancreatic ductal cells into insulin-secreting cells. *Diabetes* 50:785-796, 2001

159. Yue F, Cui L, Johkura K, Ogiwara N, Sasaki K: Glucagon-like peptide-1 differentiation of primate embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing cells. *Tissue Eng* 12:2105-2116, 2006

160. Bai L, Meredith G, Tuch BE: Glucagon-like peptide-1 enhances production of insulin-producing cells derived from mouse embryonic stem cells. *J Endocrinol* 186:343-352, 2005

161. Wang Q, Li L, Xu E, Wong V, Rhodes C, Brubaker PL: Glucagon-like peptide-1 regulates proliferation and apoptosis via activation of protein kinase B in pancreatic INS-1 beta cells. *Diabetologia* 47:478-487, 2004

162. Buteau J, Spatz ML, Accili D: Transcription factor FoxO1 mediates glucagon-like peptide-1 effects on pancreatic beta-cell mass. *Diabetes* 55:1190-1196, 2006

163. Hui H, Nourparvar A, Zhao X, Perfetti R: Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits apoptosis of insulin-secreting cells via a cyclic 5'-adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein
kinase A- and a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent pathway. *Endocrinology* 144:1444-1455, 2003

164. Pick A, Clark J, Kubstrup C, Levisetti M, Pugh W, Bonner-Weir S, Polonsky KS: Role of apoptosis in failure of beta-cell mass compensation for insulin resistance and beta-cell defects in the male Zucker diabetic fatty rat. *Diabetes* 47:358-364, 1998

165. Farilla L, Hui H, Bertolotto C, Kang E, Bulotta A, Di Mario U, Perfetti R: Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes islet cell growth and inhibits apoptosis in Zucker diabetic rats. *Endocrinology* 143:4397-4408, 2002

166. Schirra J, Goke B: The physiological role of GLP-1 in human: incretin, ileal brake or more? *Regul Pept* 128:109-115, 2005

167. Dunning BE, Foley JE, Ahren B: Alpha cell function in health and disease: influence of glucagon-like peptide-1. *Diabetologia* 48:1700-1713, 2005

168. Vilsboll T, Krarup T, Madsbad S, Holst JJ: Both GLP-1 and GIP are insulinotropic at basal and postprandial glucose levels and contribute nearly equally to the incretin effect of a meal in healthy subjects. *Regul Pept* 114:115-121, 2003

169. Turton MD, O'Shea D, Gunn I, Beak SA, Edwards CM, Meeran K, Choi SJ, Taylor GM, Heath MM, Lambert PD, Wilding JP, Smith DM, Ghatei MA, Herbert J, Bloom SR: A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. *Nature* 379:69-72, 1996

170. Franklin I, Gromada J, Gjinovci A, Theander S, Wollheim CB: Beta-cell secretory products activate alpha-cell ATP-dependent potassium channels to inhibit glucagon release. *Diabetes* 54:1808-1815, 2005

171. Munoz A, Hu M, Hussain K, Bryan J, Aguilar-Bryan L, Rajan AS: Regulation of glucagon secretion at low glucose concentrations: evidence for adenosine triphosphate-sensitive potassium channel involvement. *Endocrinology* 146:5514-5521, 2005

172. Gromada J, Franklin I, Wollheim CB: Alpha-cells of the endocrine pancreas: 35 years of research but the enigma remains. *Endocr Rev* 28:84-116, 2007

173. Schmid R, Schusdziarra V, Aulehner R, Weigert N, Classen M: Comparison of GLP-1 (7-36amide) and GIP on release of somatostatin-like immunoreactivity and insulin from the isolated rat pancreas. *Z Gastroenterol* 28:280-284, 1990

174. Fehmann HC, Hering BJ, Wolf MJ, Brandhorst H, Brandhorst D, Bretzel RG, Federlin K, Goke B: The effects of glucagon-like peptide-I (GLP-I) on hormone secretion from isolated human pancreatic islets. *Pancreas* 11:196-200, 1995 175. Meier JJ, Gallwitz B, Siepmann N, Holst JJ, Deacon CF, Schmidt WE, Nauck MA: Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) dose-dependently stimulates glucagon secretion in healthy human subjects at euglycaemia. *Diabetologia* 46:798-801, 2003

176. Cherrington AD: Banting Lecture 1997. Control of glucose uptake and release by the liver in vivo. *Diabetes* 48:1198-1214, 1999

177. Dardevet D, Moore MC, Neal D, DiCostanzo CA, Snead W, Cherrington AD: Insulin-independent effects of GLP-1 on canine liver glucose metabolism: duration of infusion and involvement of hepatoportal region. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 287:E75-81, 2004

178. Alcantara AI, Morales M, Delgado E, Lopez-Delgado MI, Clemente F, Luque MA, Malaisse WJ, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Exendin-4 agonist and exendin(9-39)amide antagonist of the GLP-1(7-36)amide effects in liver and muscle. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 341:1-7, 1997

179. Redondo A, Trigo MV, Acitores A, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Cell signalling of the GLP-1 action in rat liver. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 204:43-50, 2003

180. Ikezawa Y, Yamatani K, Ohnuma H, Daimon M, Manaka H, Sasaki H: Glucagonlike peptide-1 inhibits glucagon-induced glycogenolysis in perivenous hepatocytes specifically. *Regul Pept* 111:207-210, 2003

181. Valverde I, Merida E, Delgado E, Trapote MA, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Presence and characterization of glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36) amide receptors in solubilized membranes of rat adipose tissue. *Endocrinology* 132:75-79, 1993

182. Ruiz-Grande C, Alarcon C, Merida E, Valverde I: Lipolytic action of glucagon-like peptides in isolated rat adipocytes. *Peptides* 13:13-16, 1992

183. Oben J, Morgan L, Fletcher J, Marks V: Effect of the entero-pancreatic hormones, gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like polypeptide-1(7-36) amide, on fatty acid synthesis in explants of rat adipose tissue. *J Endocrinol* 130:267-272, 1991

184. Perea A, Vinambres C, Clemente F, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML, Valverde I: GLP-1 (7-36) amide: effects on glucose transport and metabolism in rat adipose tissue. *Horm Metab Res* 29:417-421, 1997

185. Sancho V, Nuche B, Arnes L, Cancelas J, Gonzalez N, Diaz-Miguel M, Martin-Duce A, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: The action of GLP-1 and exendins upon glucose transport in normal human adipocytes, and on kinase activity as compared to morbidly obese patients. *Int J Mol Med* 19:961-966, 2007 186. Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML, Alcantara AI, Clemente F, Delgado E, Valverde I: Potent glycogenic effect of GLP-1(7-36)amide in rat skeletal muscle. *Diabetologia* 37:1163-1166, 1994

187. Yang H, Egan JM, Wang Y, Moyes CD, Roth J, Montrose MH, Montrose-Rafizadeh C: GLP-1 action in L6 myotubes is via a receptor different from the pancreatic GLP-1 receptor. *Am J Physiol* 275:C675-683, 1998

188. Acitores A, Gonzalez N, Sancho V, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Cell signalling of glucagon-like peptide-1 action in rat skeletal muscle. *J Endocrinol* 180:389-398, 2004

189. Gonzalez N, Acitores A, Sancho V, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Effect of GLP-1 on glucose transport and its cell signalling in human myocytes. *Regul Pept* 126:203-211, 2005

190. Acitores A, Gonzalez N, Sancho V, Arnes L, Valverde I, Malaisse WJ, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Participation of protein kinases in the stimulant action of GLP-1 on 2deoxy-D-glucose uptake by normal rat skeletal muscle. *Horm Metab Res* 37:275-280, 2005

191. Idris I, Patiag D, Gray S, Donnelly R: Exendin-4 increases insulin sensitivity via a PI-3-kinase-dependent mechanism: contrasting effects of GLP-1. *Biochem Pharmacol* 63:993-996, 2002

192. O'Harte FP, Gray AM, Abdel-Wahab YH, Flatt PR: Effects of non-glycated and glycated glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36) amide on glucose metabolism in isolated mouse abdominal muscle. *Peptides* 18:1327-1333, 1997

193. Luque MA, Gonzalez N, Marquez L, Acitores A, Redondo A, Morales M, Valverde I, Villanueva-Penacarrillo ML: Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and glucose metabolism in human myocytes. *J Endocrinol* 173:465-473, 2002

194. D'Alessio DA, Kahn SE, Leusner CR, Ensinck JW: Glucagon-like peptide 1 enhances glucose tolerance both by stimulation of insulin release and by increasing insulin-independent glucose disposal. *J Clin Invest* 93:2263-2266, 1994

195. Vahl TP, Paty BW, Fuller BD, Prigeon RL, D'Alessio DA: Effects of GLP-1-(7-36)NH2, GLP-1-(7-37), and GLP-1- (9-36)NH2 on intravenous glucose tolerance and glucose-induced insulin secretion in healthy humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88:1772-1779, 2003

196. Barragan JM, Rodriguez RE, Eng J, Blazquez E: Interactions of exendin-(9-39) with the effects of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide and of exendin-4 on arterial blood pressure and heart rate in rats. *Regul Pept* 67:63-68, 1996

197. Bojanowska E, Stempniak B: Effects of centrally or systemically injected glucagonlike peptide-1 (7-36) amide on release of neurohypophysial hormones and blood pressure in the rat. *Regul Pept* 91:75-81, 2000

198. Vila Petroff MG, Egan JM, Wang X, Sollott SJ: Glucagon-like peptide-1 increases cAMP but fails to augment contraction in adult rat cardiac myocytes. *Circ Res* 89:445-452, 2001

199. Golpon HA, Puechner A, Welte T, Wichert PV, Feddersen CO: Vasorelaxant effect of glucagon-like peptide-(7-36)amide and amylin on the pulmonary circulation of the rat. *Regul Pept* 102:81-86, 2001

200. Barragan JM, Eng J, Rodriguez R, Blazquez E: Neural contribution to the effect of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide on arterial blood pressure in rats. *Am J Physiol* 277:E784-791, 1999

201. Uttenthal LO, Toledano A, Blazquez E: Autoradiographic localization of receptors for glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide in rat brain. *Neuropeptides* 21:143-146, 1992

202. Nikolaidis LA, Elahi D, Hentosz T, Doverspike A, Huerbin R, Zourelias L, Stolarski C, Shen YT, Shannon RP: Recombinant glucagon-like peptide-1 increases myocardial glucose uptake and improves left ventricular performance in conscious dogs with pacing-induced dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 110:955-961, 2004

203. Taegtmeyer H: Cardiac metabolism as a target for the treatment of heart failure. *Circulation* 110:894-896, 2004

204. Sokos GG, Nikolaidis LA, Mankad S, Elahi D, Shannon RP: Glucagon-like peptide-1 infusion improves left ventricular ejection fraction and functional status in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Card Fail* 12:694-699, 2006

205. Nikolaidis LA, Elahi D, Shen YT, Shannon RP: Active metabolite of GLP-1 mediates myocardial glucose uptake and improves left ventricular performance in conscious dogs with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 289:H2401-2408, 2005

206. Willms B, Werner J, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Creutzfeldt W, Nauck MA: Gastric emptying, glucose responses, and insulin secretion after a liquid test meal: effects of exogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)-(7-36) amide in type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetic patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 81:327-332, 1996

207. Schirra J, Kuwert P, Wank U, Leicht P, Arnold R, Goke B, Katschinski M: Differential effects of subcutaneous GLP-1 on gastric emptying, antroduodenal motility, and pancreatic function in men. *Proc Assoc Am Physicians* 109:84-97, 1997

208. Naslund E, Bogefors J, Skogar S, Gryback P, Jacobsson H, Holst JJ, Hellstrom PM: GLP-1 slows solid gastric emptying and inhibits insulin, glucagon, and PYY release in humans. *Am J Physiol* 277:R910-916, 1999

209. Meier JJ, Gallwitz B, Salmen S, Goetze O, Holst JJ, Schmidt WE, Nauck MA: Normalization of glucose concentrations and deceleration of gastric emptying after solid meals during intravenous glucagon-like peptide 1 in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88:2719-2725, 2003

210. Nauck MA, Niedereichholz U, Ettler R, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Ritzel R, Schmiegel WH: Glucagon-like peptide 1 inhibition of gastric emptying outweighs its insulinotropic effects in healthy humans. *Am J Physiol* 273:E981-988, 1997

211. Wettergren A, Wojdemann M, Holst JJ: Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits gastropancreatic function by inhibiting central parasympathetic outflow. *Am J Physiol* 275:G984-992, 1998

212. Schirra J, Houck P, Wank U, Arnold R, Goke B, Katschinski M: Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36)amide on antro-pyloro-duodenal motility in the interdigestive state and with duodenal lipid perfusion in humans. *Gut* 46:622-631, 2000

213. Tolessa T, Gutniak M, Holst JJ, Efendic S, Hellstrom PM: Glucagon-like peptide-1 retards gastric emptying and small bowel transit in the rat: effect mediated through central or enteric nervous mechanisms. *Dig Dis Sci* 43:2284-2290, 1998

214. Wishart JM, Horowitz M, Morris HA, Jones KL, Nauck MA: Relation between gastric emptying of glucose and plasma concentrations of glucagon-like peptide-1. *Peptides* 19:1049-1053, 1998

215. Naslund E, Gutniak M, Skogar S, Rossner S, Hellstrom PM: Glucagon-like peptide 1 increases the period of postprandial satiety and slows gastric emptying in obese men. *Am J Clin Nutr* 68:525-530, 1998

216. Hellstrom PM, Naslund E: Interactions between gastric emptying and satiety, with special reference to glucagon-like peptide-1. *Physiol Behav* 74:735-741, 2001

217. Naslund E, King N, Mansten S, Adner N, Holst JJ, Gutniak M, Hellstrom PM: Prandial subcutaneous injections of glucagon-like peptide-1 cause weight loss in obese human subjects. *Br J Nutr* 91:439-446, 2004

218. Verdich C, Flint A, Gutzwiller JP, Naslund E, Beglinger C, Hellstrom PM, Long SJ, Morgan LM, Holst JJ, Astrup A: A meta-analysis of the effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide on ad libitum energy intake in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86:4382-4389, 2001

219. Navarro M, Rodriquez de Fonseca F, Alvarez E, Chowen JA, Zueco JA, Gomez R, Eng J, Blazquez E: Colocalization of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptors, glucose transporter GLUT-2, and glucokinase mRNAs in rat hypothalamic cells: evidence for a role of GLP-1 receptor agonists as an inhibitory signal for food and water intake. *J Neurochem* 67:1982-1991, 1996

220. Tang-Christensen M, Larsen PJ, Goke R, Fink-Jensen A, Jessop DS, Moller M, Sheikh SP: Central administration of GLP-1-(7-36) amide inhibits food and water intake in rats. *Am J Physiol* 271:R848-856, 1996

221. Asarian L, Corp ES, Hrupka B, Geary N: Intracerebroventricular glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide inhibits sham feeding in rats without eliciting satiety. *Physiol Behav* 64:367-372, 1998

222. Owji AA, Khoshdel Z, Sanea F, Panjehshahin MR, Shojaee Fard M, Smith DM, Coppock HA, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR: Effects of intracerebroventricular injection of glucagon like peptide-1 and its related peptides on serotonin metabolism and on levels of amino acids in the rat hypothalamus. *Brain Res* 929:70-75, 2002

223. Shughrue PJ, Lane MV, Merchenthaler I: Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP1-R) mRNA in the rat hypothalamus. *Endocrinology* 137:5159-5162, 1996

224. Niswender KD, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW: Insulin and its evolving partnership with leptin in the hypothalamic control of energy homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 15:362-369, 2004

225. Ma X, Bruning J, Ashcroft FM: Glucagon-like peptide 1 stimulates hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin neurons. *J Neurosci* 27:7125-7129, 2007

226. Fan W, Boston BA, Kesterson RA, Hruby VJ, Cone RD: Role of melanocortinergic neurons in feeding and the agouti obesity syndrome. *Nature* 385:165-168, 1997

227. Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Jr., Seeley RJ, Baskin DG: Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* 404:661-671, 2000

228. Alvarez E, Martinez MD, Roncero I, Chowen JA, Garcia-Cuartero B, Gispert JD, Sanz C, Vazquez P, Maldonado A, de Caceres J, Desco M, Pozo MA, Blazquez E: The expression of GLP-1 receptor mRNA and protein allows the effect of GLP-1 on glucose metabolism in the human hypothalamus and brainstem. *J Neurochem* 92:798-806, 2005

229. Osaka T, Endo M, Yamakawa M, Inoue S: Energy expenditure by intravenous administration of glucagon-like peptide-1 mediated by the lower brainstem and sympathoadrenal system. *Peptides* 26:1623-1631, 2005

230. Conarello SL, Li Z, Ronan J, Roy RS, Zhu L, Jiang G, Liu F, Woods J, Zycband E, Moller DE, Thornberry NA, Zhang BB: Mice lacking dipeptidyl peptidase IV are

protected against obesity and insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:6825-6830, 2003

231. Blonde L, Klein EJ, Han J, Zhang B, Mac SM, Poon TH, Taylor KL, Trautmann ME, Kim DD, Kendall DM: Interim analysis of the effects of exenatide treatment on A1C, weight and cardiovascular risk factors over 82 weeks in 314 overweight patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 8:436-447, 2006

232. Yamamoto H, Kishi T, Lee CE, Choi BJ, Fang H, Hollenberg AN, Drucker DJ, Elmquist JK: Glucagon-like peptide-1-responsive catecholamine neurons in the area postrema link peripheral glucagon-like peptide-1 with central autonomic control sites. *J Neurosci* 23:2939-2946, 2003

233. Larsen PJ, Tang-Christensen M, Holst JJ, Orskov C: Distribution of glucagon-like peptide-1 and other preproglucagon-derived peptides in the rat hypothalamus and brainstem. *Neuroscience* 77:257-270, 1997

234. Nishizawa M, Nakabayashi H, Uchida K, Nakagawa A, Niijima A: The hepatic vagal nerve is receptive to incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide-1, but not to glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, in the portal vein. *J Auton Nerv Syst* 61:149-154, 1996

235. Balkan B, Li X: Portal GLP-1 administration in rats augments the insulin response to glucose via neuronal mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 279:R1449-1454, 2000

236. Burcelin R, Da Costa A, Drucker D, Thorens B: Glucose competence of the hepatoportal vein sensor requires the presence of an activated glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor. *Diabetes* 50:1720-1728, 2001

237. Ionut V, Liberty IF, Hucking K, Lottati M, Stefanovski D, Zheng D, Bergman RN: Exogenously imposed postprandial-like rises in systemic glucose and GLP-1 do not produce an incretin effect, suggesting an indirect mechanism of GLP-1 action. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 291:E779-785, 2006

238. Moore MC, Cherrington AD, Cline G, Pagliassotti MJ, Jones EM, Neal DW, Badet C, Shulman GI: Sources of carbon for hepatic glycogen synthesis in the conscious dog. *J Clin Invest* 88:578-587, 1991

239. Myers SR, McGuinness OP, Neal DW, Cherrington AD: Intraportal glucose delivery alters the relationship between net hepatic glucose uptake and the insulin concentration. *J Clin Invest* 87:930-939, 1991

240. Kadish AH, Hall DA: A new method for the continuous monitoring of blood glucose by measurement of dissolved oxygen. *Clin Chem* 11:869-875, 1965

241. McGuinness OP, Fugiwara T, Murrell S, Bracy D, Neal D, O'Connor D, Cherrington AD: Impact of chronic stress hormone infusion on hepatic carbohydrate metabolism in the conscious dog. *Am J Physiol* 265:E314-322, 1993

242. Smogyi M: Notes on sugar determination. J Biol Chem 195:19-23, 1952

243. Somogyi M: Determination of blood sugar. J Biol Chem 160:69-73, 1945

244. Nelson N: A photometric adaptation of the Somogyi method for determination of glucose. *J Biol Chem* 153:375-380, 1944

245. Lloyd B, Burrin J, Smythe P, Alberti KG: Enzymic fluorometric continuous-flow assays for blood glucose, lactate, pyruvate, alanine, glycerol, and 3-hydroxybutyrate. *Clin Chem* 24:1724-1729, 1978

246. Wide L, Porath J: Radioimmunoassay of proteins with the use of Sephadex-coupled antibodies. *Biochim Biphys Acta* 130:257-260, 1966

247. Ensinck JW: Immunoassays for glucagon.:203-221, 1983

248. Faber OK, Binder C, Markussen J, Heding LG, Naithani VK, Kuzuya H, Blix P, Horwitz DL, Rubenstein AH: Characterization of seven C-peptide antisera. *Diabetes* 27 Suppl 1:170-177, 1978

249. O'Connell SE, Zurzola FJ: A rapid quantitative determination of acetaminophen in plasma. *J Pharm Sci* 71:1291-1294, 1982

250. Ameer B, Greenblatt DJ, Divoll M, Abernethy DR, Shargel L: High-performance liquid chromatographic determination of acetaminophen in plasma: single-dose pharmacokinetic studies. *J Chromatogr* 226:224-230, 1981

251. Leevy CM, Mendenhall CL, Lesko W, Howard MM: Estimation of hepatic blood flow with indocyanine green. *J Clin Invest* 41:1169-1179, 1962

252. Wall JS, Steele R, De Bodo RC, Altszuler N: Effect of insulin on utilization and production of circulating glucose. *Am J Physiol* 189:43-50, 1957

253. Debodo RC, Steele R, Altszuler N, Dunn A, Bishop JS: On the Hormonal Regulation of Carbohydrate Metabolism; Studies with C14 Glucose. *Recent Prog Horm Res* 19:445-488, 1963

254. Mari A: Estimation of the rate of appearance in the non-steady state with a twocompartment model. *Am J Physiol* 263:E400-415, 1992 255. Dobbins RL, Davis SN, Neal DW, Cobelli C, Cherrington AD: Pulsatility does not alter the response to a physiological increment in glucagon in the conscious dog. *Am J Physiol* 266:E467-478, 1994

256. McGuinness OP, Burgin K, Moran C, Bracy D, Cherrington AD: Role of glucagon in the metabolic response to stress hormone infusion in the conscious dog. *Am J Physiol* 266:E438-447, 1994

257. Steele R, Wall JS, De Bodo RC, Altszuler N: Measurement of size and turnover rate of body glucose pool by the isotope dilution method. *Am J Physiol* 187:15-24, 1956

258. Radziuk J, Norwich KH, Vranic M: Experimental validation of measurements of glucose turnover in nonsteady state. *Am J Physiol* 234:E84-93, 1978

259. Cowan JS, Hetenyi G, Jr.: Glucoregulatory responses in normal and diabetic dogs recorded by a new tracer method. *Metabolism* 20:360-372, 1971

260. Cobelli C, Mari A, Ferrannini E: Non-steady state: error analysis of Steele's model and developments for glucose kinetics. *Am J Physiol* 252:E679-689, 1987

261. Wolfe R: Radioactive and Stable Isotope Tracers in Biomedicine. Wiley-Liss, 1992

262. Ekberg K, Landau BR, Wajngot A, Chandramouli V, Efendic S, Brunengraber H, Wahren J: Contributions by kidney and liver to glucose production in the postabsorptive state and after 60 h of fasting. *Diabetes* 48:292-298, 1999

263. Kieffer TJ, McIntosh CH, Pederson RA: Degradation of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide and truncated glucagon-like peptide 1 in vitro and in vivo by dipeptidyl peptidase IV. *Endocrinology* 136:3585-3596, 1995

264. Burcelin R, Dolci W, Thorens B: Portal glucose infusion in the mouse induces hypoglycemia: evidence that the hepatoportal glucose sensor stimulates glucose utilization. *Diabetes* 49:1635-1642, 2000

265. Niijima A: The effect of D-glucose on the firing rate of glucose-sensitive vagal afferents in the liver in comparison with the effect of 2-deoxy-D-glucose. *J Auton Nerv Syst* 10:255-260, 1984

266. Nauck MA, Bartels E, Orskov C, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W: Additive insulinotropic effects of exogenous synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide infused at near-physiological insulinotropic hormone and glucose concentrations. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 76:912-917, 1993

267. Holst JJ, Deacon CF: Glucagon-like peptide-1 mediates the therapeutic actions of DPP-IV inhibitors. *Diabetologia* 48:612-615, 2005

268. Johnson KM, Edgerton DS, Rodewald T, Scott M, Farmer B, Neal D, Cherrington AD: Intraportal GLP-1 infusion increases nonhepatic glucose utilization without changing pancreatic hormone levels. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 293:E1085-1091, 2007

269. Adkins BA, Myers SR, Hendrick GK, Stevenson RW, Williams PE, Cherrington AD: Importance of the route of intravenous glucose delivery to hepatic glucose balance in the conscious dog. *J Clin Invest* 79:557-565, 1987

270. Pagliassotti MJ, Holste LC, Moore MC, Neal DW, Cherrington AD: Comparison of the time courses of insulin and the portal signal on hepatic glucose and glycogen metabolism in the conscious dog. *J Clin Invest* 97:81-91, 1996

271. Moore MC, Hsieh PS, Neal DW, Cherrington AD: Nonhepatic response to portal glucose delivery in conscious dogs. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 279:E1271-1277, 2000

272. Galassetti P, Shiota M, Zinker BA, Wasserman DH, Cherrington AD: A negative arterial-portal venous glucose gradient decreases skeletal muscle glucose uptake. *Am J Physiol* 275:E101-111, 1998

273. Ogihara N, Ebihara S, Kawamura W, Okamoto M, Sakai T, Takiguchi K, Morita T, Uchida R, Matsuyama Y, Hayashi Y, Arakawa Y, Kikuchi M: Characterization of the portal signal in a nonsteady hyperglycemic state in conscious dogs. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 284:E148-155, 2003

274. DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E, Hendler R, Wahren J, Felig P: Influence of hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia, and the route of glucose administration on splanchnic glucose exchange. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 75:5173-5177, 1978

275. Adkins-Marshall BA, Myers SR, Hendrick GK, Williams PE, Triebwasser K, Floyd B, Cherrington AD: Interaction between insulin and glucose-delivery route in regulation of net hepatic glucose uptake in conscious dogs. *Diabetes* 39:87-95, 1990

276. Matsuhisa M, Yamasaki Y, Shiba Y, Nakahara I, Kuroda A, Tomita T, Iida M, Ikeda M, Kajimoto Y, Kubota M, Hori M: Important role of the hepatic vagus nerve in glucose uptake and production by the liver. *Metabolism* 49:11-16, 2000

277. Nagase H, Inoue S, Tanaka K, Takamura Y, Niijima A: Hepatic glucose-sensitive unit regulation of glucose-induced insulin secretion in rats. *Physiol Behav* 53:139-143, 1993

278. Vella A, Rizza RA: Extrapancreatic effects of GIP and GLP-1. *Horm Metab Res* 36:830-836, 2004

279. Dunning BE, Moore MC, Ikeda T, Neal DW, Scott MF, Cherrington AD: Portal glucose infusion exerts an incretin effect associated with changes in pancreatic neural activity in conscious dogs. *Metabolism* 51:1324-1330, 2002

280. Johnson KM, Edgerton DS, Rodewald T, Scott M, Farmer B, Neal D, Cherrington AD: Intraportally delivered GLP-1, in the presence of hyperglycemia induced via peripheral glucose infusion, does not change whole body glucose utilization. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 294:E380-384, 2008

281. Newman WP, Brodows RG: Insulin action during acute starvation: evidence for selective insulin resistance in normal man. *Metabolism* 32:590-596, 1983

282. Unger RH, Eisentraut AM, Madison LL: The effects of total starvation upon the levels of circulating glucagon and insulin in man. *J Clin Invest* 42:1031-1039, 1963

283. Bjorkman O, Eriksson LS: Influence of a 60-hour fast on insulin-mediated splanchnic and peripheral glucose metabolism in humans. *J Clin Invest* 76:87-92, 1985

284. Conget I, Zhang TM, Eizirik DL, Malaisse WJ: SAM prevents impairment of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion caused by hexose deprivation or starvation. *Am J Physiol* 268:E580-587, 1995

285. Galassetti P, Hamilton KS, Gibbons FK, Bracy DP, Lacy DB, Cherrington AD, Wasserman DH: Effect of fast duration on disposition of an intraduodenal glucose load in the conscious dog. *Am J Physiol* 276:E543-552, 1999

286. Shulman GI: Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 106:171-176, 2000

287. Fery F, d'Attellis NP, Balasse EO: Mechanisms of starvation diabetes: a study with double tracer and indirect calorimetry. *Am J Physiol* 259:E770-777, 1990

288. Svanfeldt M, Thorell A, Brismar K, Nygren J, Ljungqvist O: Effects of 3 days of "postoperative" low caloric feeding with or without bed rest on insulin sensitivity in healthy subjects. *Clin Nutr* 22:31-38, 2003

289. Manco M, Calvani M, Mingrone G: Effects of dietary fatty acids on insulin sensitivity and secretion. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 6:402-413, 2004

290. Bozkurt A, Naslund E, Holst JJ, Hellstrom PM: GLP-1 and GLP-2 act in concert to inhibit fasted, but not fed, small bowel motility in the rat. *Regul Pept* 107:129-135, 2002

291. Williams DL, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW: Leptin regulation of the anorexic response to glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor stimulation. *Diabetes* 55:3387-3393, 2006

292. Raybould HE: Mechanisms of CCK signaling from gut to brain. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 7:570-574, 2007

293. Delgado-Aros S, Kim DY, Burton DD, Thomforde GM, Stephens D, Brinkmann BH, Vella A, Camilleri M: Effect of GLP-1 on gastric volume, emptying, maximum volume ingested, and postprandial symptoms in humans. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 282:G424-431, 2002

294. Edwards CM, Todd JF, Mahmoudi M, Wang Z, Wang RM, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR: Glucagon-like peptide 1 has a physiological role in the control of postprandial glucose in humans: studies with the antagonist exendin 9-39. *Diabetes* 48:86-93, 1999

295. Schirra J, Nicolaus M, Roggel R, Katschinski M, Storr M, Woerle HJ, Goke B: Endogenous glucagon-like peptide 1 controls endocrine pancreatic secretion and antropyloro-duodenal motility in humans. *Gut* 55:243-251, 2006

296. Wettergren A, Wojdemann M, Meisner S, Stadil F, Holst JJ: The inhibitory effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) 7-36 amide on gastric acid secretion in humans depends on an intact vagal innervation. *Gut* 40:597-601, 1997

297. Scrocchi LA, Marshall BA, Cook SM, Brubaker PL, Drucker DJ: Identification of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) actions essential for glucose homeostasis in mice with disruption of GLP-1 receptor signaling. *Diabetes* 47:632-639, 1998

298. Gault VA, O'Harte FP, Harriott P, Mooney MH, Green BD, Flatt PR: Effects of the novel (Pro3)GIP antagonist and exendin(9-39)amide on GIP- and GLP-1-induced cyclic AMP generation, insulin secretion and postprandial insulin release in obese diabetic (ob/ob) mice: evidence that GIP is the major physiological incretin. *Diabetologia* 46:222-230, 2003

299. Tseng CC, Zhang XY, Wolfe MM: Effect of GIP and GLP-1 antagonists on insulin release in the rat. *Am J Physiol* 276:E1049-1054, 1999

300. Edgerton DS, Stettler KM, Rodewald T, Farmer B, Lautz M, Hastings J, Snead W, Scott M, Cherrington AD: Intraportal Exendin delivery increases liver and muscle glucose utilization. *Diabetes* 55:406, 2006

301. van der Burg MP, Guicherit OR, Frolich M, Gooszen HG: Insulinotropic effects of cholecystokinin, gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1 during perifusion of short-term cultured canine isolated islets. *Regul Pept* 60:61-67, 1995

302. Meier JJ, Kemmeries G, Holst JJ, Nauck MA: Erythromycin antagonizes the deceleration of gastric emptying by glucagon-like peptide 1 and unmasks its insulinotropic effect in healthy subjects. *Diabetes* 54:2212-2218, 2005